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Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. YANG Eric Qing (Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. NG Kwok Leung Frank (Co-Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors
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Mr. HUA Guanfa*
Mr. FAN Tai

Mr. CHEN Xian

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. GE Xuan
Mr. LU Zhong
Mr. CHEUNG Chung Yan David
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Mr. GE Xuan
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Mr. YANG Eric Qing [Chairman]
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Mr. CHEN Xian

Mr. LU Zhong

Mr. GE Xuan
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Mr. NG Kwok Leung Frank (Chairman)
Mr. GE Xuan

Mr. LU Zhong

Mr. HUA Guanfa**

Mr. CHEUNG Chung Yan David**

* Mr. HUA Guanfa was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 5

February 2016.

o Mr. HUA Guanfa and Mr. CHEUNG Chung Yan David were appointed as
additional members of the Risk Management Committee with effect from 5

February 2016.
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Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLFE

2015 2014 Changes
—E-EF ik 2%
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARMT T ARBFT
(Audited) (Audited)
(R&&ES) (rEE)
Revenue A 769,625 475,769 +61.8%
Profit attributable to equity holders AATEEEFEEA
of the Company FEAE A 114,351 97,641 +17.1%
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit* IE B B B 75 3R 5 22 B
1538 B F R M 159,974 144,481 +10.7%
Attributable to equity holders RABIERFTE ARG
of the Company 162,266 144,479 +12.3%
Attributable to non-controlling interests  JE 12 i% # 2= J& (2,292) 2 -114,700.0%

* Non-IFRS adjusted net profit was derived from the audited profit for the year
excluding (i) share-based compensation expense; and [ii] expenses relating to
the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange in 2014.

P LT EIFISE

o=
b R

BERZRARDE

* FREHBERELEAEHEFZFEREFR
MEESTE TREINARNAERNME
Ax: REEAARBAR T —MFERR
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PC games revenue PC % & Wt A
Self-developed PC games B = [ %% PC %2 &

— Texas Hold'em — B

— Mahjong — i #%

— Fight the Landlord —

— Other self-developed games —H B F BB
Self-developed games total BEREER AR
Licensed games R 2 &

Third-party operated games E=FLENER
Total PC games revenue PCHER WK A R
Mobile games revenue BE R A

— Texas Hold'em — IR

— Mahjong — i 1%

— Fight the Landlord —F e E

— Other games — i 1% &K
Total mobile games revenue BEERKRALRE
Total games revenue BEEWABR
Others" Hpp"

Total revenue LN
(1] Others mainly represent miscellaneous revenue derived from game

tournaments organized by the Group, which include sponsorship income

received.
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Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLFE

2015 2014 Changes

e L 28
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T T ARBTT
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
(RBEF) (CRE&&ERD)

117,066 +47.6%

90,738 -0.1%

39,657 +1.7%

27,886 -20.8%

275,347 +18.3%

18,125 -30.7%

12,288 -38.2%

305,760 +13.1%

38 +100,647.4%

40,310 +65.3%

104,044 +119.6%

9,001 +79.4%

153,393 +127.9%

459,153 +51.5%

16,616 +346.2%

475,769 +61.8%

(1) H b= B IRk B A5 B A A0 2 8 te T AR

WA BIEKREWEBIA -



Five Years Financial Summary
IFHHEREE

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
—E-—F ZEB-—ZF ZB-= —E-mFE Z—2-Ihf
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000
ARBETT ARETI ARBTT ARBTT AR%TrR

Revenue A 153,948 205,810 236,300 475,769 769,625
Gross profit E F 107,402 150,527 156,497 294,500 459,436
Profit before income tax % BT 15 %4 B F1) B 31,045 37,163 L4767 111,599 139,145
Profit for the year FEFHE 26,546 30,965 40,461 97,643 112,059
Attributable to equity holders RAFIEREAA 20,988 29,291 35,052 97,641 114,351
of the Company ek
Attributable to non-controlling  FE¥5 J% # 2= FE 1 5,558 1,674 5,409 2 (2,292)
interests
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit* 3B B Bt 7 #R 5 £ 81 26,546 32,014 42,734 144,481 159,974
Bl S EE S Ny
Attributable to equity holders RARERFEA 20,988 30,204 37,261 144,479 162,266
of the Company FEAE
Attributable to non-controlling  FE#% I 4 2= FE 1 5,558 1,810 5,473 2 (2,292)
interests
Assets and liabilities BEERBE
Total assets BEE 111,866 155,813 207,996 965,306 1,191,945
Total liabilities FEN =R 49,316 47,609 58,780 75,390 164,678
Total equity Pk 62,550 108,204 149,216 889,916 1,027,267

* Non-IFRS adjusted net profit was derived from the audited profit for the year — * FERUMBRELENLCHABFZFNEREFER

excluding (i) share-based compensation expense; and (i) expenses relating to WEEFFBETEENARN SEROBH S
the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange in 2014. X kBB T —HFRD TR
AR -

GREBREZERERAE —T-AFFR
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Operational Highlights
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MAUSs (in thousands): BRAERAF (UTAITR)
Self-developed PC games B EPCHER

— Texas Hold'em —fEINER

— Mahjong — i 1

— Fight the Landlord —[ 3 =

— Other self-developed games —H b B F &R
Mobile games % B 5L

— Texas Hold'em —fEINER

— Mahjong — it 1

— Fight the Landlord —F i %

— Other games —H ftb 5 8%
Total #at
MPUs (in thousands): BANERAFE (ULTAITR) :
Self-developed PC games B ¥ F B PCERL
Mobile games"” B ah "
Total Bt
ARPPU (in RMB): NEAFABHKA

(MARMTHIR) :

Self-developed PC games B EPCEE
Mobile games"” EXokudoa
(1) The calculation of MPUs and ARPPU of mobile games does not include mobile

games on non-smart devices and third-party operated mobile games, for which

data are not available.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=+—-HLFE

2015 2014 Changes
—E-AF —E—MmEF 2F)
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)

(RS (REEEEH
111 +94.6%
2,018 +5.6%
3,578 -1.3%
4,691 -11.0%
24 +1,441.7%
2,541 +10.7%
12,705 +12.5%
145 +913.8%
25,813 +12.3%
324 +14.8%
615 +130.9%
939 +90.8%
70.8 +3.1%
19.6 +4.6%

N PBHEENEANERPRNERP AHK
ARGHITBEFTERENBIEMR
F=NEENBBER (ZFHBERERMD) -



Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board of Ourgame International Holdings Limited, | am
pleased to present to you the results of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015.

2015 has been a year of breakthrough achievements for the Company. While
maintaining rapid growth on our online games portfolio, we secured major
control points and building blocks of our mind-sports eco-system and made
significant progress in becoming a global mind-sports industry leader. We
have entered into a long-term cooperation contract with the Board and Card
Games Administrative Center of the General Administration of Sports,
pursuant to which we were granted all commercial development rights in
respect of all internet-related aspects (including PC, WEB, mobile-internet
and any future internet-related business models and media based on digital
technology) for the term of the contract, thus becoming the partner of
choice for the Board and Card Games Administrative Center for their
Internet Plus transformation. As the Company’s first major step of oversea
expansion, we have acquired 100% of the world-renowned World Poker Tour
(or "WPT"), thus owning one of the crown jewels of global poker
entertainment, together with its television production, brand licensing,
online service and tour management services and capabilities. We
continued to build out the network of “Go-to Places for the Internet
Generation” by creating and launching the first Wangyu E-Sports Arena and
again led on the leading edge of e-sports which is an important part of
mind-sports.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, we achieved substantial growth on
almost all major financial and operational metrics compared with the same
period in 2014. The revenue of the Company increased by 61.8% from
RMB475.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to RMB769.6
million for the year ended 31 December 2015. The non-IFRS adjusted net
profit increased by 10.7% from RMB144.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2014 to RMB160.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2015.
In the meantime, the overall MAUs increased by 12.3% from 25.8 million for
the year ended 31 December 2014 to 29.0 million for the year ended 31
December 2015. The overall MPUs increased by 90.8% from 0.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2014 to 1.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2015. The PC ARPPU increased by 3.1% from RMB70.8 for the
year ended 31 December 2014 to RMB73.0 for the year ended 31 December
2015.

HERR:

AARKRBZBEBEZERERADNEETEMA
M ETREASEEEEZE_ZT-—HEF+_H
=T BLEFEMEE-

—E-RAERARREREAREN —F
EE—58 RATERSTREBEER
MEEER EXETRARENEHLEER
SOERRENEL ERMKASZIREN
EPREEMNERLEHTEREN K-
BMEEREFERERESERRO(H
BROBFZETRHEGIEHTE BRESTHEE
REXTRBLCERNARMAERE(BHEPC
WEB - BB EHH  ARKRKRATGEHEHER
BACRMELENEREBLA) KA THE
RIEHE+  BENEESERH - ERAA
BIBREZNE—F RMAZ2ERE T
RAG mEME R E R KOAE](TWPT]) - W
BETEE2MEREHZ2E EHHRKINAR
HEGAARRE M  REXRBMELE
EERBMEES - bI BAFE —RERED
FEHRARE D TRMANEBEHTER
TERIMR ERMEENEDZRERN
—IREBES T E TR A LA

HE-_Z-—AF+-_A=+—RBIEE %
MEFEHBEUREEREEZIF AR -2 — N
FREHMETEENER - RARHKRA
HEBEE-_Z-—NEF+-_A=+—HIFEHN
ARBLISSEB TN SHEHEZE-"ZT—Hh
F+ZA=ZT—HLEFENARKIOEBEE
T BB REELLCAEFNBHE
E-_E--NE+-_A=1+—BILFEHAR
IS A BB M0/ EHE —E—RF+
A+ BLFENARKEIOIEETT
BRI BRMOBRETSRAIRAPHEE
TE-NOFF+ A=+ —HALEFERNDHEE
ZEMN2I%NEHE-_T—RAF+_A=1+—
HEFEMNVIEEL BEESANERF,H
HE-_Z—NF+_A=+—BLFENL9
BERERINSWEHE_ZT—AF+_A=
+—HILEFEMNISEER -PCNERFAY
WAREBEE-_Z—NF+-_A=+—HLF
EMARKIOSTTIENIINEHREZE T —1HF
TZA=ZT—BLEFEMARKTIZ0T -

GREBREZERERAE —T-AFFR

09



Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FERE (E)

10

Due to continued enhancement of user experiences, the solid execution of
our integrated online/offline strategy, the escalating penetration and reach
of our content broadcasting, the revenue of our PC games increased by
13.1% from RMB305.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to
RMB346.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2015. The MPUs
increased by 14.8% from 324,000 for the year ended 31 December 2014 to
372,000 for the year ended 31 December 2015. The ARPPU increased by 3.1%
from RMB70.8 for the year ended 31 December 2014 to RMB73.0 for the
year ended 31 December 2015. Among which, the revenue and MAUs of
Texas Hold’em achieved significant growth, with an amount of RMB172.7
million and 216,000, respectively, representing an increase of 47.6% and
94.6% compared with the same period of 2014. The strong growth of Texas
Hold'em was indicative of the effectiveness of our whole eco-system
strategy whereby continuous product enhancement, highly targeted and
effective online/offline user acquisition through our world-class
tournaments including WPT National Korea and the WPT National China
Sanya, and the effective integration of WPT, all come together to contribute
to the growth.

The mobile game business grew strongly on all financial and operational
metrics. The revenue of our mobile games increased by 127.9% from
RMB153.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to RMB349.5
million for the year ended 31 December 2015. The MAUs increased by 22.9%
from 15.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2014 to 18.9 million for
the year ended 31 December 2015. The MPUs increased by 130.9% from
615,000 for the year ended 31 December 2014 to 1,420,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2015. The ARPPU for the year ended 31 December 2015
reached RMB20.5, while paying ratio for the year ended 31 December 2015
reached 7.5%, representing an increase of 4.6% and 3.5% respectively over
the same period in 2014. The outstanding performance was mainly driven by
the precise execution of our online/offline strategy, continued upgrading of
our games and closer cooperation with mobile carriers and channel
partners. In 2015, we started for the first time to design online/offline events
specifically for our mobile portfolio and achieved very good results. For
example, we held the Fight the Landlord Golden League semi-finals
tournaments in Beijing, Nanjing and Guangzhou, and with the final in Tianjin
that integrated mobile online and offline tournaments. The tournament final
was broadcasted on TV live, achieved record breaking viewer rating and

attracted large number and high quality users to our mobile products.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
FERE ()

In June 2015, Ourgame announced the 100% acquisition of WPT and
completed the transaction in the same month. Integration of WPT into the
Ourgame family has been smooth and swift. Ourgame’s technical and
product know-hows were transplanted to WPT while WPT's media,
production and other capabilities were infused into the Ourgame system. On
this basis, WPT events proved especially successful in 2015, having held 69
WPT-related tournaments which garnered a 17% increase in total number
of entrants compared with 2014. With more than 5,000 players, WPT 500 Las
Vegas set a record for most entrants in a single WPT event. Drawing 888
participants coming from all over the world, the WPT National China Sanya
Tournament achieved another record by attracting approximately 2 million
streaming viewers online per day during the competition. WPT's television
episodes continued to have stellar ratings and were distributed in more
than 20 countries while its global digital footprint continued to expand
through You Tube, Twitch, Pluto, Hulu, Roku, and Sky Sports.

In the fourth quarter of 2015, we sponsored and co-hosted with Mahjong
International League the 2015 World Mahjong Sports Games in Sanya. The
2015 World Mahjong Sports Games attended by 16 national and regional
teams with more than 300 participants was the largest mahjong
international competition in history. With Mahjong International League on
its path of becoming an official member of IMSA (International Mind Sports
Association], Ourgame once again proved itself not only a global leader in
mind sports but also a promoter of Chinese culture to the world.

In November 2015, we had the grand opening of the first Wangyu E-Sports
Arena in Beijing. The Wangyu E-Sports Arena with its central location in the
entertainment district in Beijing and world-class recording and
broadcasting capability will capture and feed everything live in 4K high
resolution to TV and Internet streaming, and with the upscale equipment
and facility, it will serve as the best venue for e-sports tournaments, product
launch venues for various companies, venue for online mind-sports
education and certification examinations, and a chic place to hang out for
youth in general. This is a brand new format and the embodiment of our
goal of creating the "Go-to Places for the Internet Generation” — we believe
that it will become a very important component of our eco-system.

RZE—RFAA BRAMGT2ERBWPT
WER AR T R H - WPT B Bt 32 K 5K B &
BEFIBARITH o B R AR A R 92 & A
ATWPT RIE - WPTHEEER  E 5 MU
REMEROEBRETT = LU ER
EWPTRINEBER - FHEEBTEH
Ry LERT 2RO HBESE 268%
BAER T —HF L II17% o WPT 500 %7 Hr
4 AN HT Uk 2 B & B 3B5,0004% 0 Al B IRWPTL
BE2HABCHET S WPTHBRE(=Z3)
BERS TR B REMAETF - L EH
MEBAMELEREASBNE2EE TS —
e -WPTHEREN B IMAKEZENL - H20% @
Bl K #E P30 8% 15 A A9 URAR K o R B - WPT 3
i YouTube ~ Twitch » Pluto * Hulu ~ Roku % Sky
SportsiF EIEE H 2 IR E4E -

RZZE-RFENFE RMEHLERE
fRAGE RN =& T —F - DFtt RS

BEFHe  _ET-AEHAMBEHERL L
2BEANERZNEREREMESEHE B
#3004 R B 1618 B R & i & & i 8 & 4f &
NBRMbEAEEMAKBERLE - EEHKE
MRS ARBRE NEBEEAKEMNEE
FHMBPEMBAZHACTERE HED
BAEHAMEREEE  DEFPRHEHEE
TR EMHESE -

RZFE-—RF+—A ARARLERWEX
HRERERERS HAEHREEBLR
ERREPLHENEBLE AR 2 —
TR B B R R P DAAKE B AT E AR
REWZERRBREHHE WEBESMAR
WRRE BRASEANEFHRRLLBENERE
RAERBEMMNEHERE NHEMARE
Ao REE-RRERER KES K - HAAHE
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Chairman’s Statement (Continued)
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Future Prospects

Building on the momentum of 2015, we expect continued growth and
strengthening of our eco-system in 2016 and more synergy and benefits
from various eco-system components will be realized.

We expect to have more innovative products and business models to be
released in 2016. Our PC and mobile portfolio will continue to be upgraded
with new products and features. WPT will be releasing a series of brand
new games products globally, including mobile, in 2016. The cooperation
with the Board and Card Games Administrative Center will also see its first
series of products and platforms released. The release of new products will

continue to drive the overall growth of the Company.

We expect our overseas expansion to continue. WPT will lead our way for
global expansion and continue to expand our overseas product portfolio and

geographic reach.

We will accelerate our pace of securing strategic assets and partnerships.
We will be seeking for and forming strategic partners and alliances to build
Wangyu E-sports Arena into a leading global network of premier locations
for e-sports tournaments. Effective from 5 February 2016, Irena Group Co.,
Ltd. (a company listed on the National Equities Exchange and Quotations
System in the PRC. stock code: 834358) became the largest shareholder of
Ourgame. Irena Group Co., Ltd., would bring in unmatched expertise and
capability in sports tournament management, sports leisure services, and
sports marketing in more than 40 cities throughout the PRC. The expertise
will provide significant synergy and help accelerate Ourgame’s
transformation as a global sports and entertainment company, and further

strengthen its competitive position.

We will continue to innovate and leverage our core expertise and eco-
system to create new business models and opportunities.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEN W&k DM

Financial Review

Bt %5 O R

Overview

In 2015, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company increased
significantly and amounted to RMB114.4 million, representing an
increase of RMB16.7 million from 2014. Non-IFRS adjusted net profit*
attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted to RMB162.3
million, representing a significant increase of RMB17.8 million as
compared with RMB144.5 million in 2014.

* Non-IFRS adjusted net profit was derived from the audited profit for the
year excluding (i) share-based compensation expense; and [ii] expenses
relating to the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange in 2014.

Revenue

In 2015, revenue of the Group amounted to RMB769.6 million,
representing an increase of RMB293.9 million or 61.8% as compared
with RMB475.8 million in 2014. The increase was due to a significant

increase in revenue from self-developed mobile games.

In 2015, the revenue from self-developed PC games amounted to
RMB325.8 million, representing an increase of RMB50.5 million or
18.3% as compared with RMB275.3 million in 2014. Revenue from
mobile games amounted to RMB349.5 million for the year ended 31
December 2015, representing a significant increase of RMB196.1
million or 127.9% as compared with RMB153.4 million in 2014. The
increase in self-developed PC games and mobile games was primarily
driven by steady growth in MAUs and strong growth in their
corresponding MPUs and ARPPU. For the year ended 31 December
2015, MPUs for self-developed PC games and mobile games were
approximately 372,000 and 1,420,000, respectively, as compared with
324,000 and 615,000 in 2014. For the year ended 31 December 2015,
ARPPU for self-developed PC games and mobile games were
RMB73.0 and RMB20.5, respectively, as compared with RMB70.8 and
RMB19.6 in 2014.
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Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit Margin

In 2015, cost of revenue of the Group amounted to RMB310.2 million,
representing an increase of RMB128.9 million or 71.1% as compared
with RMB181.3 million in 2014. The resulting gross profit ratios
remained relatively stable at 59.7% and 61.9% for 2015 and 2014,
respectively.

Other Income

In 2015, other income of the Group amounted to RMB25.0 million,
representing an increase of RMB1.6 million or 6.8% as compared with
RMB23.4 million in 2014. This was primarily due to an increase of
RMB10.8 million in interest income offset by a decrease of RMB7.3
million in exchange gains as the Company changed its functional
currency from United States dollars to Renminbi starting from 1
January 2015 and therefore was no longer subject to foreign exchange
differences on its Renminbi bank deposits held in Hong Kong during
the year ended 31 December 2015.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

In 2015, selling and marketing expenses of the Group amounted to
RMB141.3 million, representing an increase of RMB70.8 million or
100.6% from RMB70.4 million in 2014. The increase in selling and
marketing expenses for the year was mainly due to consolidation of
the operating results of Peerless Media Limited and its subsidiaries (the
“Peerless Group’] commencing from the Groups’ acquisition of it at
the end of June 2015 and due to additional costs incurred for the
increase in marketing activities and personnel expenses.

Administrative Expenses

In 2015, administrative expenses of the Group amounted to RMB103.6
million, representing an increase of RMB32.6 million or 46.0%
compared with RMB71.0 million in 2014. The increase in
administrative expenses for the year was mainly due to consolidation
of the operating results of the Peerless Group since its acquisition by
the Group and due to the increase in office rental for expansion of
office space, professional fees and personnel expenses.

Research and Development Expenses

In 2015, research and development expenses of the Group amounted
to RMB50.6 million, representing an increase of RMB14.8 million or
41.5% compared with RMB35.8 million in 2014. The increase in
research and development expenses for the year was mainly due to
the preparation for overseas expansion and new mobile games and
due to additional costs incurred in research and development
activities and related personnel expenses.
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Profit Attributable to Equity Holders of the
Company

In 2015, profit attributable to equity holders of the Company amounted
to RMB114.4 million, representing an increase of RMB16.7 million or
17.1% compared with RMB97.6 million in 2014. The increase was
primarily due to a significant increase in revenue offset by an increase
in selling and marketing expenses and administrative expenses for

our business expansion.

Non-IFRS Measure — Adjusted Net Profit*

To supplement this annual report which is presented in accordance
with the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS"), we also
use unaudited non-IFRS adjusted net profit* attributable to equity
holders of the Company as an additional financial measure to evaluate
our financial performance by eliminating the impact of items that we

do not consider indicative of the performance of our business.

In 2015, unaudited non-IFRS adjusted net profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company amounted to RMB162.3 million, representing
an increase of RMB17.8 million or 12.3% as compared with RMB144.5
million in 2014. This was primarily due to the significant increase in
revenue offset by an increase in selling and marketing expenses and
administrative expenses for our business expansion. Our unaudited
non-IFRS adjusted net profit attributable to equity holders of the
Company for 2015 and 2014 were derived from profit attributable to
equity holders of the Company for the year excluding their share of (i)
share-based compensation expense of RMB47.9 million (2014:
RMB29.1 million]; and no expenses relating to the listing of the
Company on the Stock Exchange (2014: RMB17.7 million].

*

Non-IFRS adjusted net profit was derived from the audited profit for the
year excluding (i) share-based compensation expense; and [ii] expenses
relating to the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange in 2014.

Income Tax Expense

In 2015, income tax expense of the Group amounted to RMB27.1
million, representing an increase of RMB13.1 million or 94.1% as
compared with RMB14.0 million in 2014. The increase was mainly due
to the increase in profit before income tax.
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1.

12.

13.

Liquidity and Source of Funding and Borrowing

As at 31 December 2015, the Group's total bank balances and cash
decreased by 51.5% from RMB719.0 million as at 31 December 2014
to RMB348.7 million. The decrease of total bank balances and cash
during the year primarily resulted from the cash payment for the
acquisition of the Peerless Group and investment activities during the
year, and the payment of 2014 final dividend for approximately
RMB50.3 million.

As at 31 December 2015, the current assets of the Group amounted to
RMB652.7 million, including RMB368.7 million in bank balances and
cash and available-for-sale financial assets, and other current assets
of RMB284.0 million. Current liabilities of the Group amounted to
RMB124.1 million, of which RMB52.3 million were trade payables and
deferred revenue, and other current liabilities of RMB71.8 million. As
at 31 December 2015, the current ratio (the current assets to current
liabilities ratio) of the Group was 5.3 as compared with 11.6 as at 31
December 2014.

Gearing ratio is calculated on the basis of total borrowings [net of
cash and cash equivalents) over the Group's total equity. The Group
does not have any bank borrowings and other debt financing
obligations as at 31 December 2015 and the resulting gearing ratio is
nil (2014: nil). The Group currently intends to finance its expansion,
investments and business operations primarily with internal

resources.

Material Investments

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group completed the
acquisition of the remaining 5.7143% equity interest in each of
Shanghai Wangyu Information Technology Company Limited and
Shanghai Wangyu Network Development Company Limited for an
aggregate consideration of RMB20.0 million. The completion of the
acquisition took place in January 2015.

Material Acquisitions

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group entered into an
agreement for the acquisition of the Peerless Group for an aggregate
cash consideration of approximately RMB222.5 million. The
acquisition was completed at the end of June 2015. For details of the
acquisition, please refer to the Company’'s announcement dated 22
June 2015 or Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015
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15.

16.

17.

18.

Material Disposals

The Group did not have any material disposals of subsidiaries or
associated companies during the year ended 31 December 2015.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 December 2015, none of the Group's assets were pledged (2014:
nil).

Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December
2015 (2014: nil).

Foreign Exchange Exposure

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group mainly operated
in China and the majority of its transactions were settled in RMB, the
functional currency of the Company and its primary subsidiaries. As
at 31 December 2015, the Group did not have significant foreign
currency exposure from its operations.

Employee’s Remuneration and Policy

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 795 employees (including
WPT Staff], 359 of which were responsible for game development and
maintenance, 222 for game operation and offline events organization,
55 for TV shows and content production, 102 for general
administration and corporate management and 57 for WPT
production. The total remuneration expenses, excluding share-based
compensation expenses, for the year ended 31 December 2015 were
RMB128.5 million, representing an increase of 55.4% as compared to
the previous year.

We provide external and internal training programs to our employees.
As required by PRC law, we participate in various employee benefit
plans, including housing pension, medical, basic pension and
unemployment benefit plans, occupational injury and maternity leave
insurance. Pursuant to the 2014 Share Option Scheme, 70,560,000
share options were granted to directors, senior management and key
employees of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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18.

19.

20.

Employee’s Remuneration and Policy (Continued)

Accordingly, the Group’s share-based compensation expense for the
December 2015 amounted to RMB47.9 million,
representing an increase of RMB18.8 million as compared with
RMB29.1 million in 2014,

year ended 31

Change in Functional Currency

In prior years, the Directors regarded USD as the functional currency
of the Company. Following the completion of the group reorganization
and the listing of the Company on the Stock Exchange in 2014, the
Company has deposited substantially all of its net proceeds from the
listing into bank deposits denominated in RMB for continual
expansion in both the PRC and abroad. Since then, the Company's
primary sources of revenues are interest income derived from bank
deposits primarily denominated in RMB and dividend income in RMB
to be derived from the operation of its major subsidiaries operating in
the PRC, whose functional currency is RMB. Accordingly, the
Directors had determined the change of the functional currency of the
Company from USD to RMB starting from 1 January 2015. As in prior
years, the Company will continue to present its financial statements
in RMB. The change in functional currency of the Company has no
material effect on the consolidated financial statements, and has

been accounted for prospectively since 1 January 2015.

Events Occurred since the end of the year ended
31 December 2015

On 8 January 2016, 7,840,000 options were granted to the Directors
under the 2014 Share Option Scheme. The exercise price of the share
options is HK$5.506 per Share.
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Directors’ Report
EEEWE

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited

consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2015.

1.

Principal Activities

The principal activities of the Group are online card and board game
development and operation, organizing and broadcasting online to
offline mind-sports events, tournaments, TV shows and contents. The
activities of our principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 14 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The analysis of the Group’s revenues and segment information are
set out in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2015 (including particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred during the year ended 31 December
2015, an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using
financial key performance indicators and a discussion on the Group's
future business development) is provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 9 to 12 of this annual report. A description of the
principal risks and uncertainties that the Group may be facing and
compliance with relevant laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group can be found in this Directors’ Report
on pages 56 to 58. In addition, the financial risk management
objectives and policies of the Group are available in Note 32 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Considering the principal activities of the Group, less destruction has
been made directly to the environment, but protecting the
environment has always been essential to us and has guided our
actions to minimize our impact. As a committed corporate citizen with
social awareness, the Group has been participating in charitable
activities with a strong emphasis on children’s development of sports
and encouraging staff of all levels to save paper. As at the date of this
Directors’ Report, we have donated sports equipment to around 110
primary schools across the PRC through our Red Ribbon Sports Fund.
In the future, continuous efforts will be made by the Group and our
employees in promoting sustainability in environment, social and

corporate governance.
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3. Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page
78 of this annual report.

4. Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend to
the Shareholders for the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014
RMBO0.064 per share).

5. Reserves

Changes to the reserves of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2015 are set out in the consolidated statement of changes
in equity. Changes to the reserves of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2015 are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements. As at 31 December 2015, the Company had
reserves available for distribution of approximately RMB517.5 million
(2014: RMB595.1 million].

6. Property, Plant and Equipment and
Intangible Assets

Changes to the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
of the Group during the year are set out in Notes 11 and 12,

respectively, to the consolidated financial statements.

7. Share Capital and Share Incentive
Schemes

Details of the Company’s share capital and share incentive schemes
are set out in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements and
the paragraph headed “Summary of the Share Option Schemes” on
pages 23 to 28 below, respectively.
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8.

10.

11

12.

Subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015
are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

Financial Summary

A summary of the consolidated results and of the financial position of
the Group is set out on page 7 of this annual report.

Use of Proceeds from the Global Offering

The total net proceeds from the listing on the Main Board of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 30 June 2014 (the “Listing”)
which involved the issue of 196,000,000 ordinary Shares of US$0.00005
each amounted to approximately RMB600.3 million. During the year
ended 31 December 2015, the net proceeds from the Listing were
utilized in accordance with the proposed applications set out in the
in the

Prospectus. The balance of fund will be utilized according to the

section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds”
manner as disclosed in the Prospectus. The Group held the unutilized
net proceeds in short-term deposits with licensed institutions in Hong
Kong.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the
Company'’s Listed Securities

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Apart from the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share
Option Scheme as set out in section 13 of this Directors” Report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or existed
during the year ended 31 December 2015.
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13. Share Option Schemes

The Company has adopted three share option schemes, namely, (i)
the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme, (i) the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme and (iii) the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

As at 31 December 2015, a total of 65,222,128 share options were
granted to the following Directors pursuant to the Management Pre-
IPO Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme:

Outstanding

13.

Outstanding

BRES

RRABDHEM =R RETE - AR
BEERARBEEMBRESS  (1ERE
BERAMEENBRESE LG —F
— BB

RZB—FRAF+_A=+—H UTE
ECRBEEEEALAHESHBR
BEER T -MFEREREER
65,222,12817 BE IR #E -

as at Granted as at Exercise
1 January during 31 December price per
Name of Directors  Date of Grant 2015 the year 2015 Exercisable Period Share
» »
ZE-5fF —E-AF
—A—-H REA +=A=+-—H
EEpnE BB i8] R AT 6 B HARITE TEH BRITEE
Mr. Yang Eric Qing 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - 20,851,064 20 February 2015 to US$0.16714303
("Mr. Yang”) 19 February 2024
BEEE —Z-MFZA=+H —T-HF-A=+AHZE 016714303 T
(IBEE]D) —Z-NF=-A+ANA
5 January 2015 — 11,760,000 11,760,000 5 January 2016 to 4 January 2025 HK$2.67
e s =] A s Tl = I 2.67% 7T
—T_hF—-HAWMA
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung 20 February 2014 20,851,064 - 20,851,064 20 February 2015 to US$0.16714303
Frank ("Mr. Ng") 19 February 2024
HEREE —T-mFE-A=+H “E-hAE-A-+HE 0.16714303% 7T
(ME%E]D —Z_NF=-A+AIA
5 January 2015 — 11,760,000 11,760,000 5 January 2016 to 4 January 2025 HK$2.67
—ET-hE¥—HAAB —E-R"¥—-AhABZE 2.67% 7T
—T-_hF—-HAWMA
Total
wat 41,702,128 23,520,000 65,222,128

On 8 January 2016, each of Mr. Yang and Mr. Ng was granted
additional 3,920,000 options respectively under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme.

On 29 March 2016, the Board decided that all options granted to Mr.
Yang and Mr. Ng shall not be exercised until 1 July 2017. The
modification of vesting periods is subject to the approval by the
Shareholders.
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Summary of the Share Option Schemes

Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to give
the participants an opportunity to acquire a personal stake in the
Company and help motivate such participants to optimize their
performance and efficiency, and to retain the participants whose
contributions are important to the long term growth and profitability
of our Group. The options entitle participants to obtain existing issued
Shares in the Company from Blink Milestones Limited and will not

involve the Company issuing any new Shares.

Exercise Price

The exercise price under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is RMBO0.1276 per Share (adjusted for capitalisation issue as set out in
Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements).

Exercise of Option

The Shares subject to the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
shall be vested in four equal annual instalments, with the first
instalment representing twenty five percent (25%) of the Shares
subject to the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme vesting on the
first anniversary of the Listing Date, and an additional instalment
vesting on each anniversary thereafter, subject to the fulfilment of the
grantee’s performance target for the full calendar year before the
vesting determined by the Company being fulfilled and the grantee’s
continuing to be an employee of the Company and being in compliance
with the terms and conditions of the option award agreement dated
20 February 2014 through each such date.

Maximum Numbers of Shares

The maximum numbers of Shares under the Employee Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme which was granted is 25,009,600 Shares. On 7 March
2014, 25,009,600 share options (adjusted for capitalization issue) were
granted to 29 key employees of the Company by Blink Milestones
Limited, after that no further options were granted. The particulars of
the options granted under the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme are set out in “Appendix IV — Statutory and General

Information” of the Prospectus.
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Life of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Unless the option is forfeited, terminated or cancelled earlier, the
option shall expire and terminate 10 years after vesting (the
“Termination Date”). If the grantee ceases to be an employee as a
result of the termination by our Company for cause, the grantee’s
options will be forfeited on the Termination Date, whether or not the
option is then vested or exercisable. If the grantee ceases to be an
employee as a result of grantee’s death or disability, the options, to
the extent not vested on the Termination Date, shall be forfeited on
the Termination Date and the grantee’s estate has 12 months
following the Termination Date to exercise the grantee’s options. If
the grantee ceases to be an employee for any other reason, the
options shall be forfeited on the Termination Date the grantee has 90
days to exercise his or her options.

Outstanding Share Options

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, 25,009,600 share options
(adjusted for capitalization issue) were granted under the Employee
Pre-IPO share Options Scheme, 5,213,600 options have been
exercised and 4,508,003 options have been forfeited, with 15,287,997
options outstanding, representing 1.94% of the issued Shares. Save
for the above, none of the options so far granted have been exercised,

forfeited and/or lapsed.

Further details of the Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are set
out in Note 27(a) to the consolidated financial statements and the

Prospectus.

Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The purpose of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme is to
give the participants an opportunity to acquire a personal stake in our
Company and help motivate such participants to optimize their
performance and efficiency, and also to help retain the participants
whose contributions are important to the long-term growth and
profitability of our Group.

The principal terms of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme, effective as of 20 February 2014 and approved by the Board
on 7 March 2014, are substantially the same as the terms of the
Employee Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme except that:

(a)  the exercise price under the Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme is US$0.16714303 per Share (adjusted for capitalisation
issuel;
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(b)  twenty five percent (25%) of the Shares subject to the
Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall be vested on
the first anniversary of the grant date and the remaining Shares
subject to the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme shall
be vested in 36 equal monthly instalments with the first
instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary of the
grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting on
each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date thereafter. The options may be exercised upon
the Listing.

Maximum Numbers of Shares Available for Issue

The maximum numbers of Shares which may be issued upon exercise
of all options under the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
is 50,042,553 Shares. On 20 February 2014, 50,042,553 share options
(adjusted for capitalization issue] were granted to certain members of
our senior management and Directors. No further options will be
granted under the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.

Outstanding Share Options

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, 50,042,553 share options were
granted by the Company under the Management Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme, and 3,822,624 share options were exercised, leaving
an outstanding balance of 46,219,929 options, representing
approximately 5.87% of the issued Shares. Save for the above, none of
the options so far granted have been exercised, forfeited and/or

lapsed.

Further details of the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme are
set out in Note 27(b) to the consolidated financial statements and the

Prospectus.

2014 Share Option Scheme

Purpose

The Company adopted the 2014 Share Option Scheme on 19
November 2014. The 2014 Share Option Scheme is valid for a period
of 10 years from the grant date of each options. The purpose of the
2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide key employees, directors or
officers of the Group (“Eligible Persons”) with the opportunity to
acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage them
to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its Shares
for the benefit of the Company and Shareholders as a whole. The 2014
Share Option Scheme provides the Company with a flexible means of
retaining, incentivizing, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/
or providing benefits to Eligible Persons.
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Any individual, being an employee, director or officer of any member
of the Group whom the Board or its delegate(s) considers, in their
sole discretion, to have contributed or will contribute to the Group is
entitled to be offered and granted options.

Number of Shares Available for Issue Under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme

Under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the total number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted is
78,400,000 Shares, representing approximately 10% of the Company’s
issued shares as at the date of adopting the 2014 Share Option
Scheme. As of the date of this Directors’ Report, the Company has
granted 78,400,000 options. As approved by the Board, a refreshment
of the scheme mandate limit (representing 10% of the issued Shares)
is proposed to be passed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

Maximum Entitlement to Participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted and to be granted under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) of the Company to
each Eligible Person [including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue (the “Individual Limit"). Any further grant
of options to a Eligible Person which would result in the aggregate
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to such Eligible Person in the 12-month
period up to and including the date of such further grant exceeding
the Individual Limit shall be subject to separate approval of the
Shareholders.

Determination of the Exercise Price

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an
option in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined
by the Board but shall be not less than the greater of: (a) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the grant date; (b) the average closing price of
the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the grant
date; and (c) the nominal value of a Share on the grant date.

The option period is to be determined and notified by the Board to
each grantee at the time of making an offer, and shall not expire later
than ten years from the grant date of the 2014 Share Option Scheme.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised in general. However, at the time of granting any
option, the Board may, on a case by case basis, make such grant
subject to such conditions, restrictions or limitations including (without
limitation) those in relation to the minimum period of the options to
be held and/or the performance targets to be achieved as the Board
may determine in its absolute discretion.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

EEeRARRUEBENERIAC
HRERAEEFELEEBRZ AL (AR
SEEMKERRNER EEHSR
BE)ARERHNERTHERE-

—E - FEREEET T HET
ZRBEE

BE_ZT—MNFERETS EREZ
2EEREETERS TRTZRMNA
578,400,000 - HER T —NEFE
PRAE B R A B HE TR A Z10% -
RAEZEFEREEH ARAERHE
78,400,000f7 BERHE - KEF G HE -
RERERREBF KNS LIREMEEH
B EREE -

SHEZRAEF
RE-_ZF-NFERBREFSRAQAE
MEMBREFICETERER TR
BETEEBALZBERE(REZDT
B REARITEZERE) BITERST
BT ZBRMAR REFT Z@EART
SEBDHETROAR Z1%(T EAAL
R -mMERMEERALTE-FRTE
BESEHBEZE - IREBH(E
BEZB) LT -—EABHRERTESE
TREEBRALTZMABRBET R
EETRETETZRMDAEBBEAA
LR RIBEBRRSITHAE

BETRE

RITEBRER REBRESTRE
MERBRNEN 2 EBRHEFTEEE -
BAGERTAERSE @R EEBEH
Bt 28 B MERARBO 2 W
mE: DREERLAHARELXA
BRXMoftzBARERARRNZF
BWTE : RIIBHREL B ZEE -

BEREBRAEETENREZNNET
RBHMEERA AR -2 -—NEE
B HASET TFERER - —
BRI EEBBRAETENLARTEN
REHRZAE-AM EFSFARE
HEMBRERZENSERELEBE
Pt - tEZRB TR RGN REISAER
(BERETRREFSTHRIERNBE
EAREBEREZEREHR LXK T
EHZRBEBR) -



Directors’ Report (Continued]
EEEREE)

Exercise of Option

The options may be exercised up to 25% of the Shares for each year
after the first anniversary of the grant date of the share option for four

consecutive years.

Payment on Acceptance of Share Option

An amount of RMB1.00 must be paid as consideration for the grant of
the share options and such payment must be made within 20 business
days from the date the share option grant offer is made to the Eligible

Person.

Outstanding Share Options

As at the date of this Directors” Report, the following share options

have been granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme:

Subscription
price per share

Share Options upon exercise

TR E
BRETATRNABERERL B HEFTS
—EFEREBENFNSFETRESE
P& A7) 2 25% e

EWEFAT 3R

BERALTAXNAREIOTIERM
EEhEZRE ZHRBERBAEBRA
TRE BRI B B4 B I ET 2018

BEARNZA -
AT IR
REAEFGRE D THIEBED

iR = F — M R B i

Grant Date Granted of Share Options  Persons to be offered Share Options
TRBRE

RHBEH R R BRABE ERAUBREAL

5 January 2015 47,040,000 HK$2.67  Key employees of the Company (including two
executive Directors)

—E-HF—AEHA 26787T ARRFTERE (BEMBHRITES)

9 July 2015 23,520,000 HK$4.402  Senior management team in WPT Group (including
WPT Enterprises, Inc. and Club Services, Inc.) and
key staff newly joining the Company

—E-AFE+ANA 44027570 WPTS B A B 12 B B (8 $EWPT Enterprises, Inc.
N Club Services, Inc) A RFTIMAAR AR ZEE
8T

8 January 2016 7,840,000 HK$5.506  Mr. Yang and Mr. Ng

—E-R"E—-ANHRH 55067 HBEAERMEE

Total 78,400,000

a&t

As at the date of this Directors” Report, 78,400,000 options have been
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, and 482,900 options
have been forfeited, 42,500 options have lapsed and 265,250 options
have been exercised, leaving an outstanding balance of 77,609,350
options, representing approximately 9.86% of the issued Share. Save

for the above, none of the options so far granted have been exercised,

forfeited and/or lapsed.
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Life of the 2014 Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme is effective for a period of 10 years from 19
November 2014 and the remaining life of the scheme is 8 years and 8
months.

Movements in the Share Options
Details of the movements in the share options during the year are set
out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Valuation of Share Options

Details of the valuation of share options granted during the year are
set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

Directors and Senior Management

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this Directors’
Report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Eric Qing (Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank (Co-Chief Executive Officer)

Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jiang

Mr. Zhang Rongming*
Mr. Fan Tai

Mr. Chen Xian

Mr. Hua Guanfa**

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Ge Xuan
Mr. Lu Zhong
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan, David

Mr. Zhang Rongming ceased to be a non-executive Director with effect
from 5 February 2016.
x Mr. Hua Guanfa was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect
from 5 February 2016.
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Biographical Details of Directors

Executive Directors

Yang Eric Qing, aged 44, has been an executive Director, chairman of
the Board and co-chief executive officer since the incorporation of our
Company in 2013. Mr. Yang joined our Group in December 2010 and is
responsible for general operation, strategy and information
technology of the Company. Mr. Yang also holds directorship in

Beijing Lianzhong International Company Limited, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Beijing Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. ("Beijing Lianzhong").
Mr. Yang held various positions at International Business Machines
Corporation (IBM] (including a director of global business services
and a director of SMB, MBPS Asia Pacific), a company listed on the
New York Stock Exchange (stock code: IBM], including Director and
Sector Leader of MBPS Asia Pacific from 2006 to 2007, Director and
Sector Leader of Industrial and Distribution Sector, MBPS, Global
Emerging Markets in 2009 and Director of GCG Managed Business
Process Services in Global Resources Department in 2010. Mr. Yang
received his Bachelor of Science degree from the University of

California, Berkeley, U.S. in 1994.

Ng Kwok Leung Frank, aged 47, is an executive Director and co-chief
executive officer of our Company. Mr. Ng joined our Group in June
2004 and is responsible for business development and PC operations
and finance of the Company. He also serves as the chairman of the
board of directors of Beijing Lianzhong's subsidiary, Shanghai
Yaozhong Culture Broadcast Co., Ltd.. He holds directorship in Beijing
Linghegu Online Technology Co., Ltd., a company in which Beijing
Lianzhong holds 14.21% interest, and Lianzhong International
Company Limited and Tianjin Lianzhong Enjoyment Technology
Development Limited. He has joined the Group since 2004 and served
as vice president and joint chief executive officer of the Group. Before
joining our Group, Mr. Ng served as the senior associate of Grant
Thornton LLP in the United States for approximately four years and
the vice president of PCC Skyhorse Limited, an associated company
of PCCW, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0008,
for three years. Mr. Ng received his Bachelor of Science degree from
the University of California, Berkeley, U.S. in 1992.
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Non-Executive Directors

Liu Jiang, aged 48, has been an executive Director since the
incorporation of our Company and became a non-executive Director
from 27 March 2015. Mr. Liu joined our Group in December 2010 and
holds directorship in Blink Milestones Limited and Sonic Force
Limited which are Controlling Shareholders of the Company. He also
serve as chairman of the board of directors of Hehong Holdings
Group. Mr. Liu received his Bachelor of Economics from the East

China Jiaotong University, China in 1991.

Zhang Rongming, aged 53, has been an executive Director of our
Company and was re-designated as a non-executive Director from 27
March 2015. Mr. Zhang has resigned from the Company with effect
from 5 February 2016. Mr. Zhang joined our Group in December 2010
and holds directorship in Elite Vessels Limited which is a Controlling
Shareholder of the Company. Mr. Zhang was an independent director
on the board of Lancy Co., Ltd., a PRC company listed on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002612) and resigned in December 2012.
He also serves as chairman of the board of directors and general
manager of Beijing Aimer Lingerie Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhang received his
Master of Applied Chemistry from Central South University, China in
1987 and his Bachelor of Metallurgical Physical Chemistry from the
Beijing Institute of Iron and Steel Engineering, China in 1984,

respectively.

Hua Guanfa, aged 32, has been a non-executive Director since 5
February 2016. Mr. Hua worked for the Nanfeng Media Group from
July 2005 to June 2010. From July 2010 to April 2015, he held various
positions (including deputy director, director of general management,
and secretary to the board of directors) at Weichai Heavy Machinery
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange [stock
code: 000880.5Z]. In April 2015, Mr. Hua joined Beijing Irena Group
Co., Ltd., a company listed on the National Equities Exchange and
Quotations System in the PRC (stock code: 834358), and has served as
a director, deputy general manager and secretary to the board of
directors since June 2015. Mr. Hua received his Bachelor of
Journalism degree from Lanzhou University in 2005 and Master of
Business Administration degree from Chinese Academy of Science in
2013.
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Fan Tai, aged 44, joined the Company as a non-executive Director on
7 March 2014. Mr. Fan serves as Chief Investment Officer in
KongZhong Corporation, a company listed on NASDAQ (stock code:
KZ) since 2009, and as the executive director for KongZhong
Corporation since 18 December 2014. Mr. Fan served as vice
president of finance from 2002 to 2009 and executive director from
2003 to 2009 at TOM Online, a web portal. Mr. Fan obtained his EMBA
degree from State University of New Jersey, U.S. in 2003 and Bachelor
of Economics degree from Beijing Institute of Economics, China in
1994.

Chen Xian, aged 34, has been a non-executive Director since 7 March
2014. Mr. Chen also serves as managing director of CMC Capital
Partners since May 2013. From July 2009 to March 2013, he worked at
Providence Equity Asia Limited and served as a director by the time
he left. Prior to that, Mr. Chen served at Morgan Stanley Private
Equity Asia Division from 2004 to June 2009. Mr. Chen obtained his
Bachelor of Engineering degree in Electronics Engineering from
Tsinghua University, China in 2003.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Ge Xuan, aged 45, has been an independent non-executive Director
since Listing. Mr. Ge serves as director of Minsheng Life Insurance
Co., Ltd. and director general manager of Minsheng Tonghui Asset
management Co., Ltd. Mr. Ge served as vice general manager,
investment management manager and assistant to general manager
in Guosen Securities Co., Ltd. from September 1997 to September
1998. He also served as manager of trade investment and assistant to
general manager of Boshi Fund Management Co., Ltd. from January
1999 to June 2000. He was a member of the Investment and Risk
Management Committee, assistant to the president of Penghua Fund
Management Co., Ltd. from July 2000 to March 2002, chief investment
officer of Jin Yuan Securities Co., Ltd. from August 2002 to December
2003, and vice president of Huaxi Securities Co., Ltd. From December
2003 to October 2010. He has been a director of Wangxiang Trust Co.,
Ltd since 18 August 2012. Mr. Ge obtained his Bachelor’s degree in
economics from Shenzhen University in 1993.
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Lu Zhong, aged 53, has been an independent non-executive Director
since Listing. Mr. Lu worked at the General Planning Bureau under
the Ministry of Machine & Electric Industry of China as civil servant
from August 1984 to August 1990; as chief executive officer of 8848.
net from May 2000 to May 2002; as general sales manager of China
and Hong Kong region of Advanced Micro Devices, Inc., a company
listed on New York Stock Exchange (stock code: AMD) from July 2003
to October 2004. Mr. Lu then served as the chairman of the board of
HiChina.com and the chief strategy officer from then to September
2009 as well as the president from 2010 until December 2012 at
HiChina.com. Mr. Lu served as a vice president of the Alibaba Group
from December 2012 until July 2014. Mr. Lu became the founding
partner of Beijing Zhonghai Investment Ltd since August 2014. Mr. Lu
obtained his Bachelor’'s degree in computer and application from
Harbin Institute of Electrical Engineering in 1984, and obtained his
Master degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong

Graduate School of Business in 2010.

Cheung Chung Yan, David, aged 40, has been an independent non-
executive Director since Listing. Prior to joining our Company, Mr.
Cheung has been the financial controller and the company secretary
of Geely Automobile Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0175) since 17 May 2005. Mr. Cheung served as
a director of DSI Holdings Pty Limited from June 2009 until August
2014. Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Business
Administration in Accounting from the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Directors. Mr. Cheung has over 18 years of experience in

auditing, accounting and financial management.
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Biographical Details of Senior Management

Senior Management

Zhang Peng, aged 39, joined our Group as president in February 2014.
Mr. Zhang is responsible for mobile games operation of the Company.
He also served as assistant to general manager of Zhuowang
Information Technology Co., Ltd. from April 2011 to November 2013.
He founded and was the executive vice president of Yisanjiu Mobile
Internet Company from November 2008 to April 2011. He served as
deputy head of business centre, deputy head of product development,
deputy head of cooperation and management centre of the monternet
division of China Mobile Communications Corporation, a company
listed on both the New York Stock Exchange (stock code: CHL] and
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0941] from September 1998 to
October 2008. Mr. Zhang received his Bachelor Degree in electronics
and information systems from Shandong University, China in 1998.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service contract
with the Company under which they agreed to act as executive
Directors for an initial term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date of the Company, which may be terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either the executive

Director or the Company.

Mr. Hua Guanfa has signed an appointment letter with the Company
for a term of three years commencing from 5 February 2016, and
each of the other non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors has signed an appointment letter with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date. The appointments of Directors are subject to the provisions of

retirement and rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting ("AGM”) has an unexpired service contract
which is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries
within one year without payment of compensation, other than

statutory compensation.
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16. Directors’ Interests in Transactions,

17

18

Arrangements or Contracts of
Significance

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the Group's
business to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year ended 31 December
201%.

Directors’ Emoluments

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and those of the five
highest paid individuals are set out in Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements. The remuneration of the Directors are
determined based on the market price and contribution made by such
Directors to the Company. There has been no arrangement under

which any Director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director or other officer
of the Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of
the Company against all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by
him as a Director or other officer of the Company in defending any
proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which judgment is given in

his favor, or in which he is acquitted.

The Company has maintained Directors’ liability insurance during the
year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this annual report
which provides appropriate cover for the Directors.
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19. Directors’ and Chief Executives’ Interests
and Short Positions in the Shares,
Underlying Shares and Debentures of
the Company

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, the interests and short
positions of the Directors and the chief executives of the Company in
the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the Company or its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which (a) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they have taken, or are deemed to
have taken, under such provisions of the SFOJ; or (b] were required,
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company; or (c] were required, pursuant to
the Model Code, to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:

RAEEEREEH ARAEERT
ZITBAERARAAISEBBEER(E
ERBSFRHAEERMEXVE) Z B - 18
Bk REFTERQEEESFREE
RBIEXVEE 7 R8D FBEMERRE K
BImHER AR (BRREZESF X
HEGIABGEXEEREEXRRS
BAENEZEIKR)  HREBEES B
GBI FE3B2GRBLHENRNRAIREZ
GOITFE ZZLM : SklcBREFESA
RGN A KRR s KOR A W
T

Approximate
percentage of

Number of interest in the
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held Company
EARQE)ERH
EEnE 51 HEmttE FRERGHE BHBESH
Shares
igvi)
Mr. Liu Jiang ["Mr. Liu") Interest of a party to an agreement regarding interest 175,343,364 (L) 22.27%"%
in the Company"
FTEE(TBIEE]D —IERADNREFABANBEOTH T ER"
Mr. Zhang Rongming* Interest of a party to an agreement regarding interest 175,343,364% (L) 22.27%?
("Mr. Zhang") in the Company'”
RECBAEE([REED —IHAADREFEEBOBROTH S ER"
Share Options
B AR
Mr. Yang Beneficial interest®” 36,531,064 (L) 4.64%
B A EamEm"
Mr. Ng Beneficial Interest® 36,531,064 (L) 4.64%
(il EamiEmn”
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Notes:

(2)

(3)

(4)

Pursuant to the Concert Party Agreement entered into among Mr.
Zhang, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen Dongri ("Mr. Shen”], Mr. Li Jianhua, Ms. Long
Qi ("Ms. Long”] and Beijing Tongshengcheng Investment Management
Center (LLP) on 22 February 2014, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen and Ms.
Long undertook to vote unanimously for any resolution proposed at
board and shareholders meetings of the Company and Beijing
Lianzhong. Mr. Liu's wife, who is deemed to be Mr. Liu's concert party,
holds 2,182,000 Shares.

Pursuant to the share purchase agreement dated 24 November 2015 (the
“Share Purchase Agreement’] and the supplementary agreement (the
"Supplementary Agreement”) dated 14 December 2015 entered into
among Elite Vessels Limited, Sonic Force Limited, Blink Milestones
Limited, Prosper Macrocosm Limited, Golden Liberator Limited
(collectively, the "Seller Group’]), Mr. Zhang, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen, Ms.
Long, Irena Group Co., Ltd. (formerly known as Beijing Irena Culture
Co., Ltd. ) and Glassy Mind Holdings Limited, the Seller Group sold an
aggregate of 186,800,000 Shares to Glassy Mind Holdings Limited. Upon
the completion of the aforesaid share transfer on 5 February 2016, the
Seller Group holds 175,343,364 Shares, representing approximately
22.27% of all Shares in issue as at that date. Further details of the
transactions are set out in the announcements of the Company dated 26
November 2015, 14 December 2015 and 5 February 2016.

The interest relates to the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme
and 2014 Share Option Scheme granted by the Company to the Directors
on 20 February 2014 and 5 January 2015 respectively. On 8 January
2016, each of Mr. Yang and Mg. Ng were granted 3,920,000 options
respectively under the 2014 Share Option Scheme.

The letter "L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

Mr. Zhang ceased to be a Director on 5 February 2016.
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Save as disclosed above, as at the date of Directors’ Report, none of
the Directors and chief executives of the Company and their
respective associates had or is deemed to have any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which the Directors and
chief executives of the Company are taken or deemed to have under
such provisions of the SFQ), or were required to be recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 352
of the SFO, or which will
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

be required, pursuant to the Model Code, to

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company

As at the date of this Directors’ Report, the following persons (other
than the Directors or the chief executives of the Company) had
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying shares or
debentures as recorded in the register required to be kept by the

Company under section 336 of the SFO:

BREXEEEN REAEZEHRER
H REERARAETETHRAERK
SEANBEATIMERAABHEM
MEX(ERRFSF RPEKRIIEXVED)
BB - RO RESF P EA PR
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MEMERIORR (BRERIER S I
EGROIEBIGEXARBEERTEZTH
ABBENERIRR)  RIEES LB
5 {6 0] 55 352 16 78 R0 8k 10 % {6 AT 4R AL 9
B EAERzsofs  REEE
BLUE = NNCIDYY: R ok S DR £ ye

PN
KB o

RAEEREAH THAL(RRAE
ERTETHABRIN) RARE RN
HEEBROKELFTHRBEERBEES R
HI 8 16 ) S8 336 15 AC 8 A AR 1 B R 4B 7%
GOFENETMANESIOXE

Approximate
percentage of

Number of interest in the
Name of Shareholders Capacity/Nature of Interest Shares held Company
HAEABERHN
RREH B0 EatE FEROHE BMABEDL
Irena Group Co., Ltd. Interest of controlled corporation 226,000,000 (L) 28.71%""
BEZEXERNERRAR RIEEENER
Glassy Mind Holdings Limited ~ Beneficial owner 226,000,000 (L) 28.71%"
SERERERAF BHEAA
Mr. Liu Interest of a party to an agreement regarding interest 175,343,364 (L) 22.27%"
in the Company?
P —HEARREEEBOBENTO T ER"
Prosper Macrocosm Limited Interest of a party to an agreement regarding interest 175,343,364 (L) 22.27%"
in the Company"
—THEARAERABENHENTO I ER
GRBIRZERER D —E-LEFR
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Name of Shareholders

REREM

Capacity/Nature of Interest

56 REEtE

Number of
Shares held

FRERGEE

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Company

EA DR

BMABED

Ms. Long

Rt

Golden Liberator Limited

Elite Vessels Limited

Sonic Force Limited

Blink Milestone Limited

CMC Ace Holdings Limited

CMC Capital Partners, GP, L.P.

CMC Capital Partners, GP, Ltd.

CMC Capital Partners, L.P.

La Confiance Investments Ltd.

Le Bonheur Holdings Ltd.

Interest of a party to an agreement regarding interest
in the Company"

— B B R R R B RO 1 3 T 40 2

Interest of a party to an agreement regarding interest

in the Company"”

—HEARRAEEERNBEOTO T ER"

Interest of a party to an agreement regarding interest

in the Company?

—HEARRAEEEBOBENTOER"

Interest of a party to an agreement regarding interest
in the Company?

— B B 2 R 2 B RO 15 3 0 T 40 2

Interest of a party to an agreement regarding interest

in the Company?

—HEARARRERNBEOTO T ER"

Beneficial Owner

BB A

Interest of controlled corporation

T2 0K B ) 4 2

Interest of controlled corporation

REZEHEENER

Interest of controlled corporation

TS24 0K B ) 4 2

Interest of controlled corporation

REZEHEENER

Interest of controlled corporation

TS 22 0K B ) 2
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175,343,364 (L)
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117,600,000 (L)

117,600,000 (L)

117,600,000 (L)

117,600,000 (L)

117,600,000 (L)

117,600,000 (L)

22.27%"

22.27%"

22.27%"

22.27%"

22.27%"

14.94%

14.94%

14.94%

14.94%

14.94%

14.94%



Directors’ Report (Continued]
EEEREE)

Notes:

(2)

(3)

(4)

Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated 24 November 2015
and the Supplementary Agreement dated 14 December 2015 entered
into among the Seller Group, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen, Ms. Long,
Irena Group Co., Ltd. and Glassy Mind Holdings Limited, the Seller
Group sold an aggregate of 186,800,000 Shares to Glassy Mind Holdings
Limited. Upon the completion of the aforesaid share transfer on 5
February 2016, the Seller Group holds 175,343,364 Shares in the
Company, representing approximately 22.27% of all Shares in issue as
at that date. Pursuant to the Share Purchase Agreement dated 24
November 2015 and the Supplementary Agreement dated 14 December
2015 entered into among KongZhong Corporation, Irena Group Co., Ltd.
and Glassy Mind Holdings Limited, 39,200,000 Shares in the Company
held by KongZhong Corporation were transferred to Glassy Mind
Holdings Limited. Upon the completion of the aforesaid share transfer
on 5 February 2016, KongZhong Corporation holds 20,737,000 Shares in
the Company. Further details of the transactions are set out in the
announcements of the Company dated 26 November 2015, 14 December
2015 and 5 February 2016.

Pursuant to the Concert Party Agreement entered into among Mr.
Zhang, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen, Mr. Li Jianhua, Ms. Long and Beijing
Tongshengcheng Investment Management Center (LLP) on 22 February
2014, Mr. Zhang, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen and Ms. Long undertook to vote
unanimously for any resolution proposed at board and shareholders
meetings of the Company and Beijing Lianzhong. Mr. Liu’s wife, who is
deemed to be Mr. Liu’s concert party, holds 2,182,000 Shares.

Please refer to the above said Note (1] for the explanation related to the
number of shares held.

The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in such Shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this Director’s Report, the

Directors and the chief executives of the Company were not aware of

any other person (other than the Directors or chief executives of the

Company) who had an interest or short position in the Shares or

underlying Shares as recorded in the register required to be kept by

the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.

(2)

(3)

(4)
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20. Connected Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2015, no related party
transactions disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements constitutes a connected transaction or continuing
connected transaction which should be disclosed pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. All the connected transactions and
continuing connected transactions with disclosure requirements
under the Listing Rules during the year were listed below. The
Directors confirm they have complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Group conducts its online game business through the PRC
Operating Entity, Beijing Lianzhong. Because of certain foreign
investment restrictions, it was not viable for the Company to hold
Beijing Lianzhong directly through equity ownership as a foreign
investor. In line with common practice in industries which is subject
to foreign investment restrictions in the PRC, the Company would
gain effective control over, and receive all the economic benefits
generated by the business currently operated by Beijing Lianzhong
and its subsidiaries through a series of Contractual Arrangements
between Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network Technology Co. Ltd (the
"WFOE"), the Company’'s wholly-owned subsidiary on the one hand,
and Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders on the other hand. The
Contractual Arrangements allow Beijing Lianzhong's financials and
results of operations, together with those of its subsidiaries, to be
consolidated into our financials as if it was a wholly-owned subsidiary

of our Group. Reference is made to the Prospectus.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company controlled
Beijing Lianzhong and WFOE through the Contractual Arrangements.
WEFOE is a limited company incorporated under the laws of the PRC
on 21 January 2014 and the wholly-owned subsidiary of Beijing
Lianzhong Hong Kong, a company incorporated under the laws of
Hong Kong on 18 December 2013 and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. WFOE is therefore a connected person of the Company
pursuant to Rule 14.07(5) of the Listing Rules. By virtue of the
Contractual Arrangements, Beijing Lianzhong is a connected person
of the Company for the purposes of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
The transactions contemplated under the Contractual Arrangements
therefore constitute continuing connected transactions of the
Company. The Company confirms that it has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules in respect of all its continuing connected transactions.
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Reasons for the Contractual Arrangements
Details of the reasons for using the Contractual Arrangements are set
out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.

Risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements

We believe the following risks are associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of these risks are set out on pages 35
to 39 of the Prospectus.

. If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish
the structure for operating our business in China do not comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we
could be subject to severe penalties and our business may be

materially and adversely affected.

. The Group relies on the Contractual Arrangements to control
and obtain economic benefits from Beijing Lianzhong, which
may not be as effective in providing operational control as equity
ownership.

. The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong may have conflicts of
interest with us, which may materially and adversely affect our
business and financial condition.

o Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be

enforceable under PRC laws.

o We may lose the ability to use and enjoy assets held by Beijing
Lianzhong that are important to the operation of our business if
Beijing Lianzhong declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a

dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

° The Contractual Arrangements between the WFOE and Beijing
Lianzhong may subject our Group to increased income tax due
to the different income tax rates applicable to the WFOE and
Beijing Lianzhong, which may adversely affect our results of

operations.

. The Group's exercise of the option to acquire equity interests of
Beijing Lianzhong may be subject to certain limitations and the
ownership transfer may subject us to substantial costs.
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J The Contractual Arrangements between the WFOE and Beijing
Lianzhong may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC tax authorities
and any finding that we or Beijing Lianzhong owe additional
taxes could substantially reduce our consolidated net income

and the value of our Shareholders’ investment.

Mitigation actions taken by the Company

o The Company has existing protections measures under the
Contractual Arrangements. The Company’s Risk Management
Committee will regularly review the compliance and
performance of such conditions under the Contractual
Arrangements.

J The Company's public affair department and legal department
will deal with matters relating to compliance and regulatory
enquiries from relevant PRC authorities and report to the Board

on a regular basis.

J Legal advisers and other professional have been and will
continue to be retained to assist the Company to deal with
related matters arising from the Contractual Arrangements,
and the auditors of the Group have been engaged to provide
annual confirmations regarding the Contractual Arrangements.

The extent to which the Contractual Arrangements relate
to requirements other than the foreign ownership
restriction

All of the Contractual Arrangements are subject to the restrictions as
set out on pages 130 to 132 of the Prospectus.

Contractual Arrangements

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Contractual
Arrangements comprised six agreements, namely (a) the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement, (b) the Business Cooperation
Agreement, (c) the Exclusive Option Agreement, (d) the Share Pledge
Agreement, (e] the Proxy Agreement and (f) the Power of Attorney.
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The following diagram illustrates how economic benefits flow from
Beijing Lianzhong to our Group under the Contractual Arrangements:

TREARBEENZH  ERBRAXN

KETRZBEN

(Note 3)

(Note 4)

BERFE (1)

(2 TEBIAERRENCREE (HEE2)
(3) WEBRZEMKE S BE I BRERE (HE3)
4) HHI2HPEIFE-ELERES ()

(M Covenants not to materially affect Lianzhong's assets and business and
right to appoint its directors and officers (Note 1)

(2) Power of attorney to exercise all Shareholders'rights in Lianzhong (Note 2)

(3) Exclusive option to acquire all or part of the equity interest in Lianzhong

4) First priority security interest over the entire equity interest in Lianzhong

(1) RETSEMBEENEBUARZEEEERSRBE 2ENEK

The WFOE P Original Shareholders (Note 6)
SEBERE [RpAR (Ki3E6)

T

! A
Management and consultation service E ! 100%
(Note 5) ! i
ERRAEARY (H5E5) v :

1
Lianzhong
Bk

“—— " denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest and “==>" denotes contractual relationship.

[— IR TFARBRERCEELEREMARE [-D>IXRTaO/EIEK -
Notes:

1. Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements —
Business Cooperation Agreement” of this annual report for details.

2. Please refer to the section headed “"Contractual Arrangements — Proxy
Agreement and Power of Attorney” of this annual report for details.

3. Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements —
Exclusive Option Agreement” of this annual report for details.

4. Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements — Share
Pledge Agreement” of this annual report for details.

5. Please refer to the section headed “Contractual Arrangements —
Master Exclusive Service Agreement” of this annual report for details.

6. Original Shareholders are Mr. Zhang Rongming, Mr. Liu Jiang, Mr. Shen
Dongri, Mr. Bao Yuegiao, Ms. Long Qi and Ms. Wu Lan.

BERHE S2BAFEREEH
- XBalEmE] 8-

it

BRHE F2HAEERSAOR
F—Zapm i EEREE] &

BHHE #2HBAFERS(AHE
- EREEE ] & -

BERHE F2HAFERSIEH
- E R mE &

hai

BHHE #2HBAFERS(AHE
- BRI A ] & -
RRRBREALE BTEE  BR
BELE #MBEBEL ETXIREW
-

GREBREZERERAE —T-AFFR

43



Directors’ Report (Continued]
EEEHRE (H)

Lb

Master Exclusive Service Agreement

Beijing Lianzhong entered into a master exclusive service agreement
with the WFOE on 28 January 2014 (the “Master Exclusive Service
Agreement”), pursuant to which, in exchange for a quarterly service
fee, Beijing Lianzhong agreed to engage the WFOE as its exclusive

provider for the following services:
. any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating

its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

o providing technology development and transfer, and technical

consulting services;

J providing occupation and pre-occupation staff training services;

o providing public relation services;

o providing market investigation, research and consulting
services;

J providing mid- or short-term market development and market

planning services;

. providing human resource management and internal

information management;

J providing network development, upgrade and daily
maintenance;

. providing sale services of self-produced products;
J licensing of software;
o providing maintenance services in respect of computer software

and hardware system, database and computer servers;

J providing maintenance and upgrade services in respect of the

online games;

o providing training services in respect of online game technology

and operations;

J providing research and development services in respect of
online game software and maintenance of the system;

o selling and authorising Beijing Lianzhong to license software;

and
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o other services determined from time to time by the WFOE
according to the need of business and capacity of the WFOE and
its designated affiliates.

Under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement, the service fee is
equal to 100% of the consolidated net profits of Beijing Lianzhong.
The WFOE may adjust the service fee at its sole discretion with
reference to the working capital requirements of Beijing Lianzhong
and in accordance with several factors relating to the services
provided, including (i} technical difficulty and complexity of the
services; (i) time spent in providing the services; [iii) contents and
commercial value of the services; and [iv) the benchmark price of
similar services in the market. Since Beijing Lianzhong's funding
requirements are satisfied by their residual operating cash after
paying the service fee to the WFOE, we do not expect to transfer any
net proceeds from the Global Offering to Beijing Lianzhong.

Intellectual property rights are developed during the normal course of
business of Beijing Lianzhong since its daily operations involve,
among other things, research and development and game
development. Pursuant to the Master Exclusive Service Agreement,
any intellectual properties developed by performance of the Master
Exclusive Service Agreement, including but not limited to copyrights,
trademarks, patents, technical secrets and knowhow, belong to the
WFOE. If a development is based on the intellectual properties owned
by Beijing Lianzhong, Beijing Lianzhong shall warrant and guarantee
that such intellectual properties are flawless and it shall bear all
damages and losses caused to the WFOE by any flaw of such
intellectual properties. The WFOE has the right to recover all of its

losses from Beijing Lianzhong for liabilities to any third party.

The Master Exclusive Service Agreement can be terminated by the
WFOE at any time upon 30 days’ written notice to Beijing Lianzhong.
The Master Exclusive Service Agreement shall also be terminated
upon the transfer of all the shares of Beijing Lianzhong to the WFOE
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE pursuant to the Exclusive
Option Agreement.
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Business Cooperation Agreement

Beijing Lianzhong, its shareholders and the WFOE entered into a
business cooperation agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Business
Cooperation Agreement’). Under the Business Cooperation
Agreement, Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, jointly and
severally, agree and covenant that, without obtaining the WFOE's
written consent, Beijing Lianzhong shall not, and Beijing Lianzhong's
shareholders shall cause Beijing Lianzhong not to, engage in any
transaction which may materially affect its asset, obligation, right or

operation, including without limitation:

o any activities not within its normal business scope, or operating

its business in a way that is inconsistent with its past practice;

J merger, reorganization, acquisition or restructuring of its
principal business or assets, or acquisition or investment in any
other form;

o offering any loan to any third party, incurring any debt from any

third party, or assuming any debt other than in the ordinary
course of business;

o engaging, changing or dismissing any director or any senior

management officer;

J selling to or acquiring from any third party, mortgaging,
licensing or disposing of in other ways tangible or intangible

assets, other than in the ordinary course of business;

. incurring, inheriting, assuming or guaranteeing any debt that
are not incurred during the ordinary course of business, using
its assets to provide security or other forms of guarantees to
any third party, or setting up any other encumbrances over its

assets;

o making any supplement, amendment or alternation to its
articles of association and by-laws, increasing or decreasing of
its registered capital or changing the structure of its registered
capital in other manners;

. making a distribution of a dividend, or share interest or
sponsorship interest in any way, provided that upon the WFOE's
written request, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately distribute
part or all of its distributable profits to its shareholder(s]) who
shall in turn immediately and unconditionally pay or transfer to
the WFOE any such distribution;

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

XBEFHE

ERBR - ERREINEBELER =
E-ME-A-TNBFXLEBAEE
i ((EBEEBR) REXBAF
a8 b B R R B R R AR K A& Bl R
BURE AESIBEBELEEAR
B ARBIRATEILRER ZRRA
REBMAT2EAEHEEE &5
BN EEERBERFEZEARS
BEETER :

s FTHAELFEKBEA ZTMAE
PEUEHBEFESN B 2H
AEEHXF

s HIZXBUBEZAH BA -
W Sl KM EMmE N 2
BRE:

e RIEBEBBENIN MEME=
TRETCHER  SIBUREEME
=77 ZEE R SRR EAAER

s X EFFABEEMNESEIEM
BRERAE

s BREFXBBBAIN AEMS
=SB ESRMKE  ER - FFA A
HEMHTAREBVAELEE

o SIEU A AERERLIIFNIE
FEBBRPIIBMZEMER £
REEERETMAF=TRHEER
mAEBTAZERIEEEE
RETMEMEERRE

s HHASKSREMAARKAELE
AIFFE B RTREE - 1B N 4
HaMEARSFUEMT A& H
A EARZRE

o NEMAIAIEHBRBHBMHER
REEED 2 IR ERTIR IR S
ROMEBECEELEEH KIE
ERBRATNRMERR D IKE
MORZHMA2IRME - REFEE
&SR N B AR R SN B A
EXNIEEETMABEIIR



Directors’ Report (Continued]
EEEREE)

J executing any material contract, except contracts executed in
the ordinary course of business (for purpose of this subsection,
the WFOE may define a material contract at its sole discretion);

. selling, transferring, mortgaging or disposing of in any manner
any legal or beneficial interest in its business or revenues, or
allowing the encumbrance thereon of any security interest;

. a dissolution or a liquidation and distribution of residual assets;
or
J causing any of its branches or subsidiaries to engage in any of

the foregoing or enter into any contract, agreement or other
legal documents which may lead to or result in any of the

foregoing.

In addition, Beijing Lianzhong agreed and covenanted to the WFOE
that Beijing Lianzhong shall, and the shareholders shall cause Beijing
Lianzhong to:

. accept suggestions raised by the WFOE over the engagement
and replacement of employees, daily operations, dividend
distribution and financial management systems of Beijing
Lianzhong, and Beijing Lianzhong shall strictly abide by and

perform accordingly;

o maintain Beijing Lianzhong's corporate existence in accordance
with good financial and business standards and practices by
prudently and effectively operating its business and handling its
affairs;

o conduct Beijing Lianzhong's businesses in the ordinary course
of business to maintain the asset value of Beijing Lianzhong
and refrain from any act or omission that may adversely affect
Beijing Lianzhong's operating status and asset value;

o provide the WFOE with information on Beijing Lianzhong's
business operations and financial condition at the WFOE's

request;

J if requested by the WFOE, procure and maintain insurance in
respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business from an
insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE, at an amount and
type of coverage typical for companies that operate similar

businesses;
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o immediately notify the WFOE of the occurrence or possible
occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or administrative
proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's assets, business or

revenue; and

. execute all necessary or appropriate documents, take all
necessary or appropriate actions and file all necessary or
appropriate complaints or raise necessary and appropriate
defences against all claims so as to maintain the ownership by

Beijing Lianzhong of all of its assets.

According to the Business Cooperation Agreement, the shareholders
of Beijing Lianzhong shall only appoint persons designated by the
WFOE as directors, the general manager, the chief financial officer
and other senior management members of Beijing Lianzhong, and
the shareholders shall dismiss any such directors or senior
management members upon the WFOE's request. Beijing Lianzhong
and its shareholders also jointly and severally covenanted that Beijing
Lianzhong shall seek appropriate approval from the WFOE prior to
entering in to any material contract.

Furthermore, the shareholders agree that, unless required by the
WFOE, they shall not put forward, or vote in favour of, any shareholder
resolution to, or otherwise request Beijing Lianzhong to, distribute
profits, funds, assets or property to the shareholders, or to issue any
dividends or other distributions with respect to the shares of Beijing
Lianzhong held by the shareholders.

The Business Cooperation Agreement shall remain effective as long
as Beijing Lianzhong exists, unless the WFOE terminates it upon 30
days’ advance written notice or upon the transfer of all the shares
held by Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to the WFOE and/or a third
party designated by the WFOE.

Exclusive Option Agreement

Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders entered into an exclusive
option agreement with the WFOE on 28 January 2014 (the “Exclusive
Option Agreement’), pursuant to which the WFOE has a right to
require the respective shareholders to transfer any or all the shares
of Beijing Lianzhong they hold to the WFOE and/or a third party
designated by it, in whole or in part at any time and from time to time,
at the lowest price allowable under PRC laws and administration
regulations at the time of transfer.
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The Exclusive Option Agreement shall remain effective as long as
Beijing Lianzhong exists, and cannot be terminated by either Beijing
Lianzhong or its shareholders. The Exclusive Option Agreement can
be terminated (i) by the WFOE at any time upon 30 days’ advance
written notice to Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders; or (i) upon
the transfer of all the shares held by the shareholders to the WFOE
and/or a third party designated by the WFOE.

Beijing Lianzhong and its shareholders, among other things, have

covenanted that:

J without the prior written consent of the WFQOE, they shall not in
any manner supplement, change or amend the articles of
association and bylaws of Beijing Lianzhong, increase or
decrease its registered capital, or change the structure of its

registered capital in other manners;

J they shall maintain Beijing Lianzhong's corporate existence in
accordance with good financial and business standards and
practices by prudently and effectively operating its business and

handling its affairs;

. without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they shall not
sell, transfer, mortgage or dispose of in any manner any assets
of Beijing Lianzhong (except in the ordinary course of business),
or legal or beneficial interest in the business or revenues of
Beijing Lianzhong, or allow the encumbrance thereon of any

security interest;

o without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they shall not
incur, inherit, guarantee or assume any debt, except for debts

incurred in the ordinary course of business;

J they shall always operate all of Beijing Lianzhong's businesses
during the ordinary course of business to maintain the asset
value of Beijing Lianzhong and refrain from any action/omission
that may adversely affect Beijing Lianzhong's operating status

and asset value;

J without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to execute any material contract (as
defined by the WFOE at its sole discretion], except the contracts

executed in the ordinary course of business;
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without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they shall not
cause Beijing Lianzhong to provide any person with any loan or
credit other than in the course of ordinary business;

they shall provide the WFOE with information on Beijing
Lianzhong's business operations and financial condition at
WFOE's request;

if requested by the WFOE, they shall procure and maintain
insurance in respect of Beijing Lianzhong's assets and business
from an insurance carrier acceptable to the WFOE, at an
amount and type of coverage typical for companies that operate
similar businesses;

without the prior written consent of the WFOE, they shall not
cause or permit Beijing Lianzhong to merge, consolidate with,
acquire or invest in any person;

they shall immediately notify the WFOE of the occurrence or
possible occurrence of any litigation, arbitration or

administrative proceedings relating to Beijing Lianzhong's
assets, business or revenue;

to maintain the ownership by Beijing Lianzhong of all of its
assets, they shall execute all necessary or appropriate
documents, take all necessary or appropriate actions and file
all necessary or appropriate complaints or raise necessary and
appropriate defences against all claims;

they shall ensure that Beijing Lianzhong shall not, without the
prior written consent of the WFOE, in any manner distribute
dividends to its shareholder(s), provided that upon the WFOE's
written request, Beijing Lianzhong shall immediately distribute
part or all of its distributable profits to its shareholder(s]) who
shall in turn immediately and unconditionally pay or transfer to
the WFOE any such distribution;

at the request of the WFOE, they shall appoint any persons
designated by the WFOE as the directors and/or executive
director of Beijing Lianzhong;
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J they shall cause the meeting of shareholders and the board of
directors of Beijing Lianzhong to pass shareholders’ resolutions
and board resolutions in accordance with the instruction of the
WFOE; and

. unless otherwise mandatorily required by PRC laws, Beijing
Lianzhong shall not be dissolved or liquidated without prior
written consent by the WFOE.

Share Pledge Agreement

The shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong and the WFOE entered into a
share pledge agreement on 28 January 2014 (the "Share Pledge
Agreement”). Under the Share Pledge Agreement, the shareholders
of Beijing Lianzhong unconditionally and irrevocably pledged all of the
shares of Beijing Lianzhong that they own, including any interest or
dividend paid for such shares, to the WFOE as a security for the
performance of the obligations by Beijing Lianzhong and its
shareholders under the Master Exclusive Service Agreement, the
Business Cooperation Agreement, the Exclusive Option Agreement
and other agreements to be executed among Beijing Lianzhong, its
shareholders and the WFOE from time to time (collectively the
“Principal Agreements”).

The pledge shall remain valid until all parties have agreed to
terminate the Share Pledge Agreement, the Principal Agreements
have been fulfilled to the satisfaction of the WFOE or all of the
Principal Agreements have expired or been terminated.

Upon the occurrence and during the continuance of an event of
default (as defined in the Share Pledge Agreement], the WFOE shall
have the right to require Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders to
immediately pay any amount payable by Beijing Lianzhong under the
Master Exclusive Service Agreement, repay any loans and pay any
other due payments, and the WFOE shall have the right to exercise all
such rights as a secured party under any applicable PRC law,
including without limitations, (i} to sell all or any part of the pledged
shares at one or more public or private sales upon three days’ written
notice to the pledgor, and [ii) to execute an agreement with Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders to acquire the pledged shares based on
their monetary value which shall be determined by referencing the

their market price.
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Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney

Beijing Lianzhong, each of its shareholders and the WFOE entered
into a proxy agreement and power of attorney on 28 January 2014 (the
“Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney’]. Under the Proxy
Agreement and Power of Attorney, each shareholder irrevocably
appointed the WFOE (as well as its successors, including a liquidator,
if any, replacing the WFOE) as its attorney-in-fact to exercise on its
behalf, and agreed and undertook not to exercise without such
attorney-in-fact’s prior written consent, any and all right that it has in

respect of its shares in Beijing Lianzhong, including without limitation:

. to call and attend shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong,
and receive notices and materials with respect to the
shareholders’ meeting;

o to execute and deliver any and all written resolutions and
meeting minutes in the name and on behalf of such
Shareholder;

J to vote by itself or by proxy on any matters discussed on
shareholders” meetings of Beijing Lianzhong, including without
limitation, the sale, transfer, mortgage, pledge or disposal of

any or all of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;
J to sell, transfer, pledge or dispose of any or all of the shares in
Beijing Lianzhong;

o to nominate, appoint or remove the directors, supervisors and

senior management of Beijing Lianzhong when necessary;
J to oversee the economic performance of Beijing Lianzhong;

o to have full access to the financial information of Beijing

Lianzhong at any time;

J to file any shareholder lawsuits or take other legal actions
against Beijing Lianzhong's directors or senior management
members when such directors or members are acting to the
detriment of the interest of Beijing Lianzhong or its
shareholder(s);

J to approve annual budgets or declare dividends;

o to manage and dispose of the assets of Beijing Lianzhong;
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J have the full rights to control and manage Beijing Lianzhong's
finance, accounting and daily operation (including but not
limited to signing and execution of contracts and payment of

government taxes and duties);

o to approve the filing of any documents with the relevant
governmental authorities or regulatory bodies; and any other
rights conferred by the articles of association of Beijing
Lianzhong and/or the relevant laws and regulations on the
shareholders.

In addition, if any share transfer is contemplated under the Exclusive
Option Agreement and the Share Pledge Agreement that Beijing
Lianzhong's shareholders enter into for the benefits of the WFOE or
its affiliate, the WFOE shall have the right to sign the share transfer
agreement and other relevant agreements and to perform the

Exclusive Option Agreement and the Share Pledge Agreement.

The Proxy Agreement and Power of Attorney shall remain effective as
long as Beijing Lianzhong exists. Beijing Lianzhong's shareholders
shall not have the right to terminate the Proxy Agreement and Power
of Attorney or to revoke the appointment of the attorney-in-fact

without the WFOE's prior written consent.

Apart from the above, there were no new Contractual Arrangements
entered into, renewed or reproduced among Beijing Lianzhong and its
shareholders, and the WFOE during the year ended 31 December
2015. There was no material change in the Contractual Arrangements
and/or the circumstances under which they were adopted for the year
ended 31 December 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, none of the Contractual
Arrangements has been unwound as none of the restrictions that led
to the adoption of structured contracts under the Contractual

Arrangements has been removed.
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Revenue and Assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements
The revenue, profit for the year and total assets subject to the

Contractual Arrangements are set out as follows:

BHNZHETHREREE

BHLHETHFRART " RBEEE
;AT

Year ended Year ended
31 December 2015 31 December 2014
BE-Z—H1F ®HE_ZT—@NOF
+t=A=+-8B +-A=+-~

IEEE IEFE

RMB’000 RMB'000

ARE TR ARBT T

Revenue PN 686,823 475,769
Profit for the year FRFE 126,731 123,045
As at As at

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

R=ZB—-RF RZE—OEF

+t=A=+-8B +ZA=+—H

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T R ARBET T

Total assets BEE 571,070 352,559

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the revenue and profit for the
year subject to the Contractual Arrangements amounted to
approximately 89.2% (2014: 100.0%) and 113.1% (2014: 126.0%) of the
revenue and profit for the year of the Group.

As at 31 December 2015, the total assets subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately 47.9% (2014: 36.5%) of the
total assets of the Group.
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The independent non-executive Directors reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that the continuing connected
transactions carried out during the year ended 31 December 2015
("Continuing Connected Transactions”) have been entered into (i) in
the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group, (i) on normal
commercial terms or better, and (i) according to the Contractual
Arrangements governing each of the Continuing Connected
Transactions on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the Shareholders of the Company as a whole. The
Directors also confirmed that (i) no new agreements within the Group
have been entered into during the year ended 31 December 2015, and (ii)
no dividends or other distributions have been made by Beijing
Lianzhong to the holders of its equity interests which are not
otherwise subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

In the opinion of our PRC legal advisor King & Wood Mallesons ("PRC
Legal Advisor”) dated 26 January 2016, the Contractual Arrangements
are valid, binding and are in compliance with and enforceable under
the applicable PRC laws and regulations, except that the Contractual
Arrangements provide that the arbitral tribunal or the arbitrators may
award remedies over the shares or land assets of Beijing Lianzhong,
relief or winding up of Beijing Lianzhong, and that courts of competent
jurisdictions are empowered to grant interim injunctive relief or other
interim relief in support of the arbitration when formation of the
arbitral tribunal is pending or under appropriate circumstances, while
under PRC laws, an arbitral tribunal or the arbitrators has no power
to grant injunctive relief or provisional or final liquidation order to
preserve the assets or any shares of Beijing Lianzhong in case of

dispute.

Further, the Company’s auditors were engaged to report on the
Group's Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing
Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. The auditors have issued their unqualified letter
containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the Continuing
Connected Transactions disclosed above by the Group in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

A copy of the auditors’ letter on the Continuing Connected
Transactions of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2015 has
been provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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21. Principal Risks and Uncertainties

We believe that there are certain risks involved in our operations,
some of which are beyond our control. The principal risks and
uncertainties the Group is facing are as follows:

Risks relating to the Business and Industry of the
Company

If the Group fails to continuously strengthen its existing games and
launch new games, or if its top games lose their popularity, the Group
may not be able to retain existing players and attract new players,
which will adversely affect the business and results of the operation
of the Group. The Group relies on third-party channels to distribute a
substantial number of our games, and our business and results of
operations may be adversely affected if these third-party channels
breach their obligations to us, or if we fail to maintain relationships
with a sufficient number of channels, or if our commercial
arrangements with these third-party channels become less favorable

to us, or if these channels lose popularity among internet users.

Risks relating to Preferential Tax Treatment

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law, the current statutory
enterprise income tax rate is 25%. Our PRC operating entity, Beijing
Lianzhong, has been qualified as a High and New Technology
Enterprise since 2008. Under the relevant PRC tax regulations, as a
High and New Technology Enterprise, Beijing Lianzhong is entitled to
a preferential tax rate of 15%. Beijing Lianzhong renewed this
qualification in September 2014 for a three-year period commencing
from October 2014. In addition, in December 2013, Beijing Lianzhong
was accredited by the National Development and Reform Commission,
the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology of the PRC, the
Ministry of Finance, the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC and the
State of Taxation as a Key Software Enterprise within National
Planning Layout for the Years 2013-2014. As a result, Beijing
Lianzhong is entitled to a preferential income tax rate of 10% for the
year ended 31 December 20714. The recognition for the Key Software
Enterprise within National Planning Layout for the Years 2015-2016
will be conducted in 2016; we will apply for renewal of this
qualification according to applicable laws and regulations. If Beijing
Lianzhong fails to renew the qualification as a Key Software
Enterprise within National Planning Layout, its applicable enterprise

income tax rate would be 15% for the year ending 31 December 2016.
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Risks relating to our Corporate Structure

We rely on our Contractual Arrangements to control and obtain
economic benefits from the PRC operating entity, Beijing Lianzhong,
which may not be as effective in providing operational control as
equity ownership. Meanwhile, the shareholders of Beijing Lianzhong
may have conflicts of interest with us, which may materially and
adversely affect our business and financial condition. Furthermore, if
the PRC government finds that the Contractual Arrangements that
establish the structure for operating our business in China do not
comply with applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these laws and
regulations or their interpretations change in the future, we could be
subject to severe penalties and our business may be materially and
adversely affected.

Latest Regulatory Development in Using
Contractual Arrangements

We are aware that the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC published
the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law for public consultation (the “Draft
Law"]. Under the Draft Law, a variable interest entity structure will no
longer be effective for the purpose of avoiding foreign investment
restrictions. However, foreign investment will be permitted if the
listed company is controlled by PRC investors. In addition, the
Provisions on Administration of Online Publication Services were
issued by the State Administration of Press, Publication, Radio, Film
and TV ("SAPPRFT"] on 14 February 2016 and came into force on 10
March 2016, which reiterates that foreign invested companies are
prohibited from conduct online publication services (including the
publication of online games).

As at the date of this annual report, the ultimate holders of Elite
Vessels Limited, Sonic Force Limited, Prosper Macrocosm Limited
and Golden Liberator Limited (which, in aggregate, are interested in
17.21% of the shareholding of the Company) are PRC nationals. The
ultimate shareholders of Glassy Mind Holdings Limited are mostly
Chinese nationals who hold 70% of the interest in Glassy Mind
Holdings Limited (which, in turn, are interested in 28.71% of the
shareholdings in the Company]. In addition, Blink Milestones Limited,
which is held by Mr. Liu, remains interested in 4.87% of the
shareholdings in the Company. Although they are not acting in
concert, the aforesaid shareholders are interested in approximately
50.79% of the interest in the Company. The PRC Legal Advisor of the
Company is of the view that under these circumstances and under the
Draft Law, the Company will fall under the definition of “controlled by
PRC investors” under the Draft Law and therefore no risk arises in
the event that the Draft Law comes into effect. However, as there are
high uncertainty regarding the Draft Law, we cannot assure that there
will not be substantial change on the definition of “controlled by PRC
investors” when the Draft Law becomes effective and we cannot
assure that we will not be found in violation of such laws and
regulations.
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23.

Latest regulatory development in Online
Publication Service

The Provisions on Administration of Online Publication Services
issued on 14 February 2016 reiterates that the publication of any
online games shall be subject to the prior approval from SAPPRFT,
and the qualification obtained by the online publishing service provide
shall be subject to the annual inspection by SAPPRET. We had
obtained all requisite licenses, approvals and permits that are
material for our business operation in the PRC and such licenses,
approvals and permits remained in full effect, but due to the
uncertainty of the implementation of the law, we cannot assure our
Shareholders and potential investors that we can pass the annual

inspection.

Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the year.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The ultimate customers of the Group are individual players paying
through payment channels. The average MAUs for the year 2015 for
our self-developed PC games and mobile games were 10.1 million
and 18.9 million respectively, MPUs for the year 2015 for our self-
developed PC games and mobile games were 372,000 and 1,420,000
respectively, and ARPPU for the year 2015 for our self-developed PC
games and mobile games were RMB73.0 and RMB20.5 respectively.
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the five largest payment
channels contributed a total of 48.1% of the Group's total revenue.
Our largest payment channel contributed 13.9% of the Group's total

revenue for the year 2015.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the purchases from the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for a total of 35.0% of the
Group’s total purchases from all of the suppliers. The purchases from
our top supplier in 2015 accounted for approximately 10.9% of the
Group's total purchases.
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None of the Directors, their close associates or any Shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
Company’s issued shares) had an interest in any of the major

customers or suppliers noted above.

Audit Committee

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has
reviewed the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group
and discussed the Group's internal controls and financial reporting
matters with the management. The Audit Committee has reviewed
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

Pre-Emptive Rights

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association, although there are no restrictions against such rights
under the laws in the Cayman Islands.

Employee and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 December 2015, the Group had 795 employees [including
WPT staff], 359 of which were responsible for game development and
maintenance, 222 for game operation and offline events organization,
55 for TV shows and contents production, 102 for general
administration and corporate management, and 57 for WPT
production. The total remuneration expenses, excluding share-based
compensation expense, for the year ended 31 December 2015 were
RMB128.5 million, representing an increase of 55.4% as compared to

the previous year.

We provide various employee benefits and social insurance to our
employees. We also provide share options to better motivate our
employees. Pursuant to the 2014 Share Option Scheme, 70,560,000
share options were granted to the directors and senior management
December 2015.
Accordingly, the Group’s share-based compensation expense for the
December 2015 amounted to RMB47.9 million,
representing an increase of RMB18.8 million as compared with
RMB29.1 million in 2014.

of the Company during the year ended 31

year ended 31
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27. Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of its Directors, the Directors confirm that the
Company has maintained the amount of public float as required under
the Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2015.

28. Auditors

The consolidated financial statements have been audited by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited. A resolution for their re-appointment
as auditors for the coming year will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM.

29. Qualification Requirement

As at 31 December 2015, the Company has no update to disclose in

relation to the qualification requirement.

On behalf of the Board
Yang Eric Qing
Chairman and Executive Director

29 March 2016
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The Board of Directors is pleased to present the corporate governance
report for the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Corporate Governance Practices

The Company is committed to maintaining and promoting stringent
corporate governance. The principle of the Company’s corporate governance
is to promote effective internal control measures and to enhance the

transparency and accountability of the Board to all Shareholders.

Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the
Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, except for a deviation from code provision
A.2.1 which requires that the roles of chairman and chief executive should
be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Board will continue to review and monitor the practices of the Company
for the purpose of complying with the Code and maintaining a high standard

of corporate governance practices of the Company.

Model Code

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules to govern securities transactions by its Directors. Having
made specific enquiry to all Directors, all Directors have confirmed that
they have strictly complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this
annual report.
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Board of Directors

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, four non-executive
Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

The composition of the Board for the year ended 31 December 2015 and up

to the date of this annual report is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yang Eric Qing (Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank (Co-Chief Executive Officer)
Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Jiang

Mr. Zhang Rongming*
Mr. Fan Tai

Mr. Chen Xian

Mr. Hua Guanfa**

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Ge Xuan
Mr. Lu Zhong
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David

* Mr. Zhang Rongming ceased to be a non-executive Director with effect from 5
February 2016.

o Mr. Hua Guanfa was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 5
February 2016.

The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed

“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 29 to 33 of this annual report.

Chairman and Co-Chief Executive Officer (“Co-CEQ”)

Code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code stipulates that the
roles of chairman and chief executive should not be performed by the same

individual.
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Mr. Yang Eric Qing is the Chairman and Co-CEOQ of the Company. Mr. Yang
joined the Group in December 2010 and is responsible for general operation,
strategy information technology of the Company and is instrumental to the
Company’s growth and business expansion. The Board considers that
vesting the roles of chairman and chief executive officer in Mr. Yang is
beneficial to the management of the Group. The balance of power and
authority is ensured by the operation of the senior management and the
Board, which comprises experienced and high-calibre individuals. The
Board currently comprises two executive Directors (including Mr. Yang),
four non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors

and therefore has a fairly strong independence element in its composition.

Board Meetings and General Meetings Held
in 2015

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Board convened seven meetings.
A summary of the attendance record of the Directors is set out in the table
below:

Name of Directors

BEEERARBDIFERBFETRER -1

BEAR_Z-—ZEF+_AMALXEER " A
BEARARANEREE KBERERRMN &K

RAMBEREEBRRFEFLEZERM -EF
ERA IEROTBRAENAEAHGELE
EEFMRAEENEE AEREENAS
AR B RERERNES S EMARE D ER
EOFEH -ZEFGAMA _2RTER(EH
BRE) MAFPTEFTR=RBILIFNTT
ERAR FEAXRNBIIEEHEE K-

EFESEERRRKR

v dl
S+
e |

BE-Z-AF+t_-_A=+t—RHLFEE &
FedMtREHE -EFHFELEHMERT
RTR:

Number of meetings
attended/held
during the year ended

31 December 2015 Attendance rate

RBE-Z2-&F
+t=—A=+—-AH
L FEHE
= HE BITEBEXE &
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Yang Eric Qing HE % 7/7 100%
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank h RS 7/7 100%
Non-executive Directors FHITESE
Mr. Liu Jiang BT E 6/7 86%
Mr. Zhang Rongming* SRR S A+ 6/7 86%
Mr. Fan Tai BRSHE 77 100%
Mr. Chen Xian F 52 %% A& 7/7 100%
Mr. Hua Guanfa** B ST N/A i A N/A N A
Independent Non-executive Directors BV I HTEE
Mr. Ge Xuan BiEsd 5/7 71%
Mr. Lu Zhong BRESE 5/7 71%
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David RMEC A 717 100%

* Mr. Zhang Rongming ceased to be a non-executive Director with effect from 5
February 2016.

o Mr. Hua Guanfa was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 5

February 2016.
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The Board meets at least four times each year at approximately quarterly
intervals in accordance with code provision A.1.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the Corporate Governance Code, the
independent non-executive Directors and other non-executive Directors
should attend general meetings. During the year ended 31 December 2015,
the Company convened one extraordinary general meeting on 2 February
2015 (the "2015 EGM") and one annual general meeting on 14 May 2015 (the
“2015 AGM").

Apart from Mr. Yang Eric Qing and Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank, all other
Directors did not attend the 2015 EGM and the 2015 AGM due to pre-

arranged business commitments.

A summary of the attendance record of the Directors is set out in the table
below:

Name of Directors

REGEEATUZTABRXEAIIG &
ZEREFELBRTOREHE HNEFAM—
N

N

BIBECEEERTAZTFRIGXEALTER B
VRN TESREMIERTEFTALERR
X2 REE-_ZE—FAF+_A=+—HI1t
FEHE AR2aHlR_E—RAF_A=
HERA—AXREFIRAG((=ZZE—H2FRE
BRGNP _ZE—HAFEFRATHAEZEH
—ABERBFAE(ZE-—HEFEFRRBFKX

gl

BRHEEAERMDERELAHEE T —HFR
RBHNAEMN_ZE-—RAFERIRBFEAG L
Sho TBEMESEBERENEK RE N
=38

EFHRFECTHEMEHIIN TR

Number of meetings
attended/held
during the year ended

31 December 2015 Attendance rate

RBE-Z-&F
+=A=+-—H
L FEHE
EEpnR HE " BITEBERE i E &
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Yang Eric Qing 5B % & 2/2 100%
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank RS £ 2/2 100%
Non-executive Directors FHITEE
Mr. Liu Jiang BT ek 0/2 0%
Mr. Zhang Rongming* ok B8 BR % A+ 0/2 0%
Mr. Fan Tai B g 0/2 0%
Mr. Chen Xian [ 37 5 & 0/2 0%
Mr. Hua Guanfa** R B ST N/A i N/A iE A
Independent Non-executive Directors BV HEHITEE
Mr. Ge Xuan BEiE 0/2 0%
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE 0/2 0%
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David R EAE 0/2 0%

* Mr. Zhang Rongming ceased to be a non-executive Director with effect from 5
February 2016.
o Mr. Hua Guanfa was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 5

February 2016.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The Board has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors a written annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers each of them to be independent.
Each of the independent non-executive Directors has been appointed for a
term of three years, which commenced on the Listing Date and is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Non-executive Directors

Each of the non-executive Directors (including the independent non-
executive Directors, except for Mr. Hua Guanfa who was appointed on 5
February 2016) has separately been appointed for a term of three years
commencing on the Listing Date and is subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company in accordance

with the Articles of Association.

Mr. Hua Guanfa has entered into a service contract with the Company for a
term of three years commencing from 5 February 2016 and he is subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting and subsequent retirement and re-election at least once every
three years in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Corporate

Governance Code.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and
Contributions of the Board and Management

The Board is the primary decision making body of the Company and is
responsible for overseeing the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. The Board makes
decisions objectively in the interests of the Company.

All Directors, including non-executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, have brought a wide spectrum of valuable business
experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functioning.
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During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Board has developed
measures for implementing good corporate governance policies and
practices and has delegated to the Board committees various

responsibilities as set out in their respective terms of references.

Our senior management is responsible for the day-to-day management of
our business and is responsible for overseeing the general operation,
business development, finance, marketing, PC, mobile and online-offline
mind sports events operations.

Induction and Continuing Professional
Development of Directors

Each newly appointed Director shall receive formal, comprehensive and
tailored induction on the first occasion of his appointment to ensure
appropriate understanding of the business and operations of the Company
and full awareness of director’s responsibilities and obligations under the

Listing Rules and relevant statutory requirements.

Directors will be continuously updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Directors are also encouraged to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
The joint company secretaries update the Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements from time to time, to ensure compliance and enhance their

awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year ended 31 December 2015 and up to the date of this annual
report, all Directors, namely Mr. Yang Eric Qing, Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank,
Mr. Liu Jiang, Mr. Zhang Rongming, Mr. Fan Tai, Mr. Chen Xian, Mr. Hua
Guanfa, Mr. Ge Xuan, Mr. Lu Zhong and Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David, have
participated in continuous professional training to develop and refresh their

knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board.

Directors’ knowledge and skills are continuously developed and refreshed
by, inter alia, the following means:

(1) participation in continuous professional training seminars and/or
conferences and/or courses and/or workshops on subjects relating
to, inter alia, corporate governance, directors’ duties and legal and
regulatory changes organised and/or arranged by the Company and/
or professional bodies and/or lawyers;
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(2)  reading materials provided from time to time by the Company to
Directors regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of
relevance to the Directors in the discharge of their duties; and

(3] reading news, journals, magazines and/or other reading materials
regarding legal and regulatory changes and matters of relevance to

the Directors in the discharge of their duties.

Name of Directors

(2)

(3)

AR AERESREBEBEERIRE
B ARNEFRTEBREZAEEER
ZHEER R

MEEMERLRERD URESE
”ﬁﬂ%‘%fZ*ﬁ?ﬂ?ﬂZ%ﬁFﬁ] CHIT) R
/S EMBEEER -

Training received

= P4 52 5% 5
Executive Directors HITEE

Mr. Yang Eric Qing BBtk (1), (2) % (3]
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank h RS 4 (1), (2) Kz (3)
Non-executive Directors FHITESE

Mr. Liu Jiang 2T A& (1), (2) 2 (3)
Mr. Zhang Rongming* R SR B 9 A (1), (2) % (3)
Mr. Fan Tai BRSEAE (1), (2) % (3)
Mr. Chen Xian PR 9% 5% 4 (1), (2) 2 (3)
Mr. Hua Guanfa** HERR B (1)
Independent Non-executive Directors BUHHITES

Mr. Ge Xuan BiEkAE (1), (2) % (3)
Mr. Lu Zhong BRELE (1), (2) % (3]
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David RECEAE (1), (2) Kz (3)

* Mr. Zhang Rongming ceased to be a non-executive Director with effect from 5

February 2016.

o Mr. Hua Guanfa was appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 5

February 2016.

Board Committees

The Board has established four committees, namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee, and the Risk Management Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. Each of these committees is established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference of the Board
committees are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee in compliance with Rule
3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee is to review and supervise the financial
reporting process and internal controls system of the Group, review and
approve connected transactions and provide advice and comments to the
Board.

The Audit Committee consists of three members: Mr. Cheung Chung Yan
David, Mr. Fan Tai and Mr. Ge Xuan. Mr. Fan is a non-executive Director and
Mr. Cheung and Mr. Ge are independent non-executive Directors. Mr.

Cheung is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Audit Committee held four

meetings. The attendance record of the meetings is set out in the table
below:

Name of Committee Member
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Number of
meetings attended/held
during the year ended

31 December 2015 Attendance rate
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L FEEE
ZESHENRE HE BT XE HE =
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David SRMEC A 4/4 100%
Mr. Fan Tai BER S 4/4 100%
Mr. Ge Xuan B s 3/4 75%

During the meetings, the Audit Committee met with the external auditor and
reviewed the financial results and reports for the year ended 31 December
2014, three months ended 31 March 2015, six months ended 30 June 2015
and nine months ended 30 September 2015.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established a Remuneration Committee in compliance
with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee is to review and make
recommendations to the Board on the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to our Directors and other senior

management.
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The Remuneration Committee consists of three members: Mr. Lu Zhong,
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David and Mr. Ge Xuan, all being independent non-
executive Directors. Mr. Lu is the chairman of the Remuneration

Committee.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Remuneration Committee

held one meeting. The attendance record of the meeting is set out in the
table below:

Name of Committee Member
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Number of
meetings attended/held
during the year ended

31 December 2015 Attendance rate
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Mr. Lu Zhong BRESE Al 100%
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David SR EAE /1 100%
Mr. Ge Xuan BhEkAE 1 100%

During the meeting, the Remuneration Committee discussed and reviewed
the annual employee bonus plan and option granting plan. The option
granting plan for key employees was options to subscribe for up to 6% of
the Shares of the Company under the 2014 Share Option Scheme, among
which, 11,760,000 options were granted to each of Mr. Yang Eric Qing and
Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank, respectively.

The annual employee bonus plan and option granting plan was approved by
the Board (with Mr. Yang Eric Qing and Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank
abstaining from voting on the resolution) on 5 January 2015 and was
approved by the Shareholders at the 2015 EGM on 2 February 2015.

Details of the remuneration for each Director and senior management for
the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out in note 10 to the Financial
Statements.

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee

The Company has established a Nomination and Corporate Governance
committee in compliance with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of Directors and
management of Board succession.
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The Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee consists of 5
members: Mr. Yang Eric Qing, Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David, Mr. Chen Xian,
Mr. Ge Xuan and Mr. Lu Zhong. Mr. Yang is an executive Director, Mr. Chen
is a non-executive Director and Mr. Lu, Mr. Cheung and Mr. Ge are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Yang is the chairman of the

Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee.
During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Nomination and Corporate

Governance Committee held two meetings. The attendance record of the

meetings is set out in the table below

Name of Committee Member
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Number of
meetings attended/held
during the year ended

31 December 2015 Attendance rate
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Mr. Yang Eric Qing HE . 2/2 100%
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David RMECEAE 2/2 100%
Mr. Chen Xian BRZ & 2/2 100%
Mr. Lu Zhong BREE 2/2 100%
Mr. Ge Xuan BhELAE 2/2 100%

Code provision A.5.6 of Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules stipulates that a
policy concerning diversity of Board members should be adopted, the
Company adopted the diversity policy on 27 March 2015. The Nomination
and Corporate Governance Committee also reviewed and agreed on
measurable objectives for implementing diversity on the Board. The
measurable objectives identified by the Nomination and Corporate
Governance Committee include: a material number of Board members
should have served as senior management with companies; certain Board
members should have experience with listed companies; and certain Board
member should have experience with conducting businesses in the
telecommunications industry. The Nomination and Corporate Governance
Committee is satisfied that the composition of the Board is sufficiently
diverse.

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate governance

duties as required under the Corporate Governance Code:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of Directors and senior management;
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o to review and monitor the Company’'s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and compliance

manual applicable to employees and Directors; and

o to review the Company’'s compliance with the Corporate Governance
Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year, the Nomination and Corporate Governance Committee has
reviewed and discussed the following nomination and corporate governance
matters:

o the internal management and specialists program which was
approved by the Board on 5 January 2015;

. the re-appointment of Directors and the re-designation of executive
Directors to non-executive Directors which were both approved by the
Board on 27 March 2015;

Risk Management Committee

The Company has established a Risk Management Committee. The primary
duties of the Risk Management Committee are to formulate policies on risk
management matters and to advise on matters raised by the Directors and
the management that may have an impact on the stability and integrity of

the securities and derivatives markets of Hong Kong.

The Risk Management Committee currently consists of five members: Mr.
Ng Kwok Leung Frank, Mr. Ge Xuan, Mr. Lu Zhong, Mr. Hua Guanfa* and
Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David*. Mr. Ng is an executive Director, and Mr. Hua
is a non-executive Director and Mr. Cheung, Mr. Ge and Mr. Lu are
independent non-executive Directors. Mr. Ng is the chairman of the Risk

Management Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Risk Management Committee
did not convene any meeting.

Mr. Hua Guanfa and Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David were appointed as additional
members of the Risk Management Committee with effect from 5 February
2016.
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Directors’ Responsibility in respect of the
Financial Statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern.

Auditors’ Responsibility and Remuneration

The Company appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited (“Grant
Thornton”] as the external auditors for the year ended 31 December 2015. A
statement by Grant Thornton about their reporting responsibilities for the
financial statements is included in the Independent Auditors’ Report on
pages 76 to 77.

The remuneration paid/payable to Grant Thornton, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2015
amounted to RMB1,347,000 and RMB490,000 respectively. The non-audit
services mainly include the review of the interim financial statements of the
Company.

Risk Management and Internal Controls

During the year ended 31 December 2015, a review of the effectiveness of
the Group’s risk management and internal control system which covers the
aspects of the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and
internal control system and management procedure, was conducted by our
newly established risk management and internal control department, and
such review will be conducted on an annual basis. The Board considered
the risk management and internal control system of the Company to be

effective and adequate.

We have established internal control policies and risk management systems
covering our internal control environment, risk assessment, information
and communication, monitoring, anti-cheating programs, revenue and
receivables, purchase and payables, information security and intellectual
property rights, fixed and

financial management, financial reports,

intangible assets, human resources, taxation, investment, legal
management and research and development. We have also established the
Risk Management Committee on the Board to oversee the Group's risk

management, risk tolerance and governance.
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During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has adopted the
following positive measures in compliance with the internal control policies
and risk management systems:

. to establish an internal control department which comprised of

professionals;

o to review and assess the internal control management system of the
Company;

. to optimize the Company's management system and relevant
procedures;

o to establish a upgrade OA system for optimizing the Company’'s

management control system; and

o to establish a standard system for regulating the existing examination

and approval process.

Furthermore, a specific Internal Audit department (the “IA Department”),
which reports to the Risk Management Committee and the Board, was set
up in 2015 to perform internal audit and to review the internal control
system of the Group. The principal roles of the IA Department are to ensure
the effectiveness of internal control procedures and strict compliance with
different standards and policies across different businesses and operations
of the Group. The IA Department audits and evaluates the Group's internal
control operations and management activities so as to establish that there
are no significant misrepresentations of risks and faults in the Group. The
Board and the Risk Management Committee will actively take actions based
on the findings from the IA Department.

The |A Department is also responsible for providing improvement
procedures and requirements to different operation teams and departments
so as to minimize the risk exposure in the future. Ongoing enhancement
and revision on the internal control system will have to be made from time

to time so as to cope with the growth of the Group.

The Directors are of the view that we have established procedures, systems
and controls that provide a reasonable basis to make a proper assessment

of the financial conditions and prospects of the Group on an ongoing basis.
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Joint Company Secretaries

Ms. Li Jin, the joint company secretary, is responsible for advising the Board
on corporate governance matters and ensuring that Board policy and
procedures, and applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed.

In order to uphold good corporate governance and ensure compliance with
the Listing Rules and applicable Hong Kong laws, the Company also
engages Ms. Ng Sau Mei, a senior manager of KCS Hong Kong Limited (a
company secretarial services provider), as the joint company secretary to
assist Ms. Li Jin in discharging the duties of a company secretary of the
Company. Her primary contact person at the Company is Ms. Li Jin, the

General Counsel and Joint Company Secretary of the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, Ms. Li Jin and Ms. Ng Sau Mei have
undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training
respectively in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening of Extraordinary General Meetings by
Shareholders

Pursuant to article 12.3 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meetings. General
meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition of any two or
more Shareholders deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong
Kong or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office,
the registered office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the
requisitionists, provided that such requisitionists held as at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of
the Company which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company.

General meetings may also be convened on the written requisition of a
Shareholder which is a recognised clearing house (or its nominee(s))
deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in the
event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionist,
provided that such requisitionist held as at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company

which carries the right of voting at general meetings of the Company.
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If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s] themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be

reimbursed to them by the Company.

Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board and Contact
Details

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company,
Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company. The Company

will not normally deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Address: 17/F, Tower B Fairmont, No. 1 Building, 33# Community,
Guangshun North Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing
(For the attention of the Board of Directors)

Fax: 86+10 8472 5350

Email: ir@ourgame.com

Communication with Shareholders and
Investors Relations

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders is
essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding of the
Group's business performance and strategies. The Company endeavours to
maintain an on-going dialogue with Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings and other general meetings. At the forthcoming
annual general meeting, Directors (or their delegates as appropriate] will
be available to meet Shareholders and answer their enquiries.

Changes in Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company did not make any
significant changes to its constitutional documents. The latest version of the
Company’'s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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° Grant Thornton
 [3]

To the members of Ourgame International Holdings Limited

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Ourgame
International Holdings Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries set out
on pages 76 to 204, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory

information.

Directors’ Responsibility for the
Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial
statements based on our audit and to report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material

misstatement.
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Auditors’ Responsibility (continued)

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the
amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors” judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the entity's
preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 31
December 2015, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Level 12

28 Hennessy Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

29 March 2016

Lin Ching Yee Daniel
Practising Certificate No.: P02771
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2015 2014
—E2-EF —ZT-EF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt =3 AR¥T T ARET T
Revenue PN 4 769,625 475,769
Cost of revenue L @NPFN (310,189) (181,269)
Gross profit EF 459,436 294,500
Other income H A YA 5 24,978 23,398
Selling and marketing expenses HERMSHEE R (141,258) (70,416)
Administrative expenses TR X (103,612) (70,986)
Share-based compensation expense PARR 0 2 E 0 o0 B 5 2 27 (47,915) (29,141)
Research and development expenses &R (50,589) (35,756)
Finance costs B 1 AR 6 (663) =
Share of loss of associates FEAE B = A RS 18 15 (1,232) -
Profit before income tax R F7 15 B¢ B A8 139,145 111,599
Income tax expense P51 < 7 (27,086) (13,956)
Profit for the year FERE b 112,059 97,643
Other comprehensive income/(loss) Ht2mEmkz (B8
ltems that may be subsequently reclassified HEAgeEFH D EEEHR

to profit or loss: IAR :

Currency translation differences BE¥BRE=% 14,194 (3.379)
Total comprehensive income for the year FEZHKNEHETE 126,253 94,264
Profit/(Loss) for the year attributable to: LT SR EEFE

(BR) :
Equity holders of the Company RRARERTEA 114,351 97,641
Non-controlling interests R R (2,292) 2
112,059 97,643
Total comprehensive income/(loss) UTESEEZERE

for the year attributable to: (B|)#%E:

Equity holders of the Company ZN/NSIE XSS RSN 128,545 94,262
Non-controlling interests FEPE IR = (2,292) 2

126,253 94,264
Earnings per share attributable to ordinary AATZEREZRIZTEA

equity holders of the Company EEERAEF

(expressed in RMB cents per share) (AERARES5|R)

Basic E-N 9 14.57 16.26

Diluted e 9 13.69 14.18
The notes on pages 85 to 204 form part of these consolidated financial S 85E 204 H sk A% 44 Hx—ED e

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRSO R

As at 31 December 2015 R—ZE—HF+_-_A=+—H

2015 2014
R —ZE— 4
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 3 AR® T ARBT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHEE
Non-current assets kARBEE
Property, plant and equipment e 11 56,573 12,061
Intangible assets BREAE 12 234,577 47,942
Goodwill B 13 97,412 =
Available-for-sale financial assets AHHESRERE 19 63,453 15,435
Interest in associates FAESE N B Y RE S 15 13,768 13,682
Loans to a third party EBEFE=AZ2ER 16 42,990 =
Other non-current receivable H b 3E 7% B FE LB 22 29,895 —
Deferred tax assets B IBEEE 24 583 104
539,251 89,224
Current assets RBEE
Inventories 78 17 1,928 1,581
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H b e RKIA 18 278,856 130,522
Current portion of other non-current HAth FEm B e U R TH 2
receivable BN ER#0 o> 22 3,241 —
Available-for-sale financial assets At ESREE 19 20,000 25,000
Bank balances and cash RITER LIRS 20 348,669 718,979
652,694 876,082
Current liabilities REAE
Trade and other payables B 5 Kk E A R FRIE 21 71,536 44,581
Current portion of other non-current HhIEmBENKIBZ
payable BN HA &6 2 22 3,241 =
Deferred revenue P FE WA 23 30,060 20,798
Income tax liabilities FisfiasE 19,309 10,011
124,146 75,390
Net current assets RBEEFE 528,548 800,692
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBAEMR 1,067,799 889,916
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Other non-current payable H ) 3E 7% B 8 5 BOR 22 29,895 -
Deferred tax liabilities FRERIE B & 24 10,637 —
40,532 —
Net assets EEFE 1,027,267 889,916
GREMRIZERERLAT —E—HEFFER

79



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e BRI R (E)

80

As at 31 December 2015 R—ZE—FHF+_-_A=+—H

2015 2014
—E-RfF —E—O4E
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5 AR¥T ARBTT
EQUITY s
Share capital & A< 25 240 238
Reserves & 26 1,019,758 889,588
Equity attributable to equity holders ZAN/NSIE S S SRS N
of the Company JE b HE 1,019,998 889,826
Non-controlling interests JEFEIR M 7,269 90
Total equity R 1,027,267 889,916
Yang Eric Qing Ng Kwok Leung Frank
BB HE R
Director Director
BFE EE
The notes on pages 85 to 204 form part of these consolidated financial  $85E204B M X AZEHL AT B HRE —2BH °

statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REERBER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

NG $2L 2N L 3

Share/ Non-
paid-in Share Statutory  Translation ~ Share option Other  Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests  Total equity
% v FER R
BHEAR RR 15 % 18 EE RHERE BRERR Hith % EH gl N [ 3 B
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARETT ARKTL ARKTRT ARBTI ARBTE ARBTT ARBTT ARETT ARETT
Balance at 1 January 2014 H=-ZF -
—R—Bz#th 72,061 1,266 6,140 — — 23,853 45,808 149,128 88 149,216
Total comprehensive income & £ 2 W& 4 8
for the year
Profit for the year EEFH = = = — - - 97,641 97,641 2 97,643
Other comprehensive FEEAMZEER
loss for the year
Currency translation ERHREZEE
differences - - = (3,379 = = = 13,379 = (3,379)
- - - (3,379) = = 97,641 94,262 2 94,264
Transactions with owners ~ EHEHAR S
Issuance of Series A BITARIE LK
Preferred Shares (B &% 250ii))
(Note 251ii)) 24 299,976 — — — — — 300,000 - 300,000
Capitalisation issue BRLET
(Note 25iii) (B 5 250iii)) 93 93] - - = = = = = =
Issuance of new shares RADARS
in connection with the EWEITIBRA
listing of the Company’s (Pt 2 25(1v))
shares (Note 25(iv)) 60 661,147 — - — — — 661,207 - 661,207
Share issuance expenses RO ETER
(Notes 25ii) & (iv) (B &£ 251 & 1v)) = 41,998] - — = — - (41,998) = 41,998)
Share-based compensation ~ LARR 1A AR KB &
(Note 27) (M &E27) = = - - 25,233 3,908 - 29,141 - 29,141
Appropriation to statutory AR EETEHE
reserve - - 12,743 - - - (12,743) — = =
Reorganization (Note 25) S8 (fEE25) (72,000) 1,266 - - - 73,266 - - - -
Share repurchased and not Bl {8 & & 85 2 IR 13
yet cancelled [Note 25(vii)) (P 3% 251vii)) - [1,916) - - - - - [1.916) - (1,916)
Dividends paid (Note 8) BB & (K 5E8) = (296,498) - - - - (3,500) (299,998) - (299,998)
Total transactions with BEBARSHE
owners (71,823) 619,352 12,743 - 25233 77174 (16,243) 646,436 — 646,436
Balance at 31 December R-B-HmF
2014 +=A=+-8
2t 238 620,618 18,883 (3,379) 25,233 101,027 127,206 889,826 90 889,916
sRERERARAT —E-HFEFH

81



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARAREREARGES
Non-
Share Share Statutory  Translation Share option Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Sub-total interests equity
BA&  BROEE EERAE  REEE BRERE  RtHFE  RAAE Mt FRRER  RERLE

RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTRT ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARBTR ARMTR ARETR AR®TR ARETR

Balance at 1 January 2015 RZ=-Z—-EH&

—B—Az&tH
Total comprehensive FE2ERE/
income/(loss) (B8 #E

for the year
Profit/(Loss) for the year FEANEB/(BR)
Other comprehensive income 4 & H 1 2 IR
for the year
Currency translation KpgzE

differences

Transactions with owners ~ EHEHAR S
Change in functional currency 1) & & % & &)

(Note 1) (BEET)
Share-based compensation WA Bk 17 A E R (OB &

(Note 27) (Fi3E27)
Exercise of share options 176 B AR

(Notes 25(viii) & 27) (P 2 25(viii)&27)

Transfer upon forfeiture R U R A
of share options

Appropriation to statutory ARELTERE
reserve

Capital contribution from TEFEBRBRRFE
non-controlling
shareholders

Dividends paid (Note 8) B IR & (B E8)

Total transactions with HEBARSRE

owners

Balance at 31 December R=-Z2-1F
2015

The notes on pages 85 to 204 form part of these consolidated financial — SF85Z 204 B iE B EH AV HBE —5H -
statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GEREMER

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2015 2014
—E-EHE —ZE—NF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR® T ARETT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHMBZRERE
Profit before income tax F P15 50 AT A 139,145 111,599
Adjustments for: AT HIBELFAE
Depreciation of property, plant ME - -BELZBITE
and equipment 13,377 6,134
Amortisation of intangible assets | A B 36,787 12,604
Interest expense AME X H 663 -
Bank interest income HRATH S WA (19,962) (12,165)
Interest income from loans to a third party RKEFE=ZFERFEWA (2,990) =
Provision for doubtful trade receivables B 5 W IER R EE 151 2,155
Write off of intangible assets | & B W8 = 92
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE  BER&RE
and equipment &8 15 —
Share of loss of associates DR E N A EE 1,232 —
Share-based compensation expense LARR 1 72 BT 60 BN 2 F =2 47,915 29,141
Currency translation adjustment BEEHmE R — (3,375)
Operating profit before working EEESEFAZ
capital changes £ & A 216,333 146,185
Increase in inventories FEEm (70) (412)
Increase in trade and other receivables & 5 K E At & W R IE I AN (137,235) (69,997)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 & E At & FRIE I AN 12,253 15,559
Decrease in deferred revenue iR RE Y AR (215) (8,669)
Cash generated from operations KERMB RS 91,066 82,666
Interest received B F 2 20,125 7,951
Income tax paid BTSN (21,411) (5,375)
Net cash from operating activities RETHRB 2R FHE 89,780 85,242
Cash flows from investing activities REZTBRBZRERE
Placement of time deposit with maturity FARZBHEEBA=EHZ
over three months EHFER (193,057) (351,636)
Withdrawal of time deposit with maturity RN BABR=EAZE
over three months H1E = 351,636 —
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME BERXK (49,075) (8,222)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWHE  BE K&
and equipment F 5 5k 38 274 -
Purchase of intangible assets BEERVEE (40,184) (4,158)
Addition in development costs through FHRA IR 2 R KA
internal development & (27,894) (12,777)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash WEEH B AR HBRE
acquired BERE 31 (213,805) =
Investments in associates REE R AIRIRE (7,455) (6,682)
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets 8§ A AJ & &R E &E (61,881) (40,435)
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale HERIHEE S/ EE
financial assets Fr 8 38 25,000 5,000
Repayment in loans to shareholders ENETRREZER = 25,000
Loan granted to a related party BTHEERZER (8,217) —
Loans granted to a third party BFE=ZAZER (40,000) -
Net cash used in investing activities RETEFMAZESFE (264,658) (393,910)
GREBREZERERLAT —B—AFFER
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

GERTRERE)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE - %

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

2015 2014
—E-IF —T—mF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 52 AR¥T T ARETT
Cash flows from financing activities RMETBMEBZRERE
Dividends paid B E (50,273) (299,998
Interest paid BEARFE (663) —
Proceeds from short-term bank borrowings %2 BJ R 1T {8 X FT 18 1B 145,910 =
Repayment of short-term bank borrowings EREHRITER (145,910) =
Proceeds from issuance of shares upon 1T B AR 7 B 1T AR 1D
exercise of share options Fr 8 378 27 3,985 =
Proceeds from issuance of Series A BATARFE K RFT1E KA
Preferred Shares 25 —_ 300,000
Proceeds from issuance of new shares AR R £ AT
in connection with the listing AR AD 2 P15 5RIE
of the Company’s shares 25 - 661,207
Payment of share issuance expenses XNRGHETER - (41,998)
Payment for repurchase of shares = 5 8 B AR 5 25 - (1,916)
Capital contribution from non-controlling REFERREEE
shareholders 9,471 —
Net cash (used in)/from financing mEEE (FTA) ez
activities REFH (37,480) 617,295
Net [decrease)/increase in cash and cash ﬁﬁ&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%
equivalents W), i EEE (212,358) 308,627
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning F ?JJ ReRBREEEY
of year 367,343 58,716
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EXSHHMSEER
on cash and cash equivalents held REeEEYZEE 627 —
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year FRAESRRECZEY 20 155,612 367,343

The notes on pages 85 to 204 form part of these consolidated financial

statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

1.

General Information

Ourgame International Holdings Limited [the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 December 2013 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law (2013
Revision) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company's
registered office is P.0. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 30 June
2014 (the “Listing”).

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”] are principally engaged in the development
and operation of online card and board games, organising and
broadcasting online to offline mind-sports events, tournaments, TV
shows and contents (collectively, the "Group’s Game Business”) in the
People's Republic of China (the "PRC"). As detailed in Note 31, the
Group’s Game Business has expanded outside PRC, primarily in the
United States (the "US”) and Gibraltar, upon completion of the
acquisition of Peerless Media Limited ("Peerless”) during the year
ended 31 December 2015.

At 31 December 2015, the directors consider the ultimate controlling
party of the Company to be Mr. Zhang Rongming, Mr. Liu Jiang, Mr.
Shen Dongri and Ms. Long Qi [collectively, the “Controlling
Shareholders”]) through their respective wholly-owned companies,
namely Elite Vessels Limited, Sonic Force Limited, Blink Milestones
Limited ("Blink Milestones”), Prosper Macrocosm Limited and Golden

Liberator Limited (the “Shareholders’ Companies”).

The Group's Game Business in PRC was carried out by Beijing
Lianzhong Co., Ltd. ("Lianzhong”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the
“Lianzhong Group”) which were under the control of the Controlling
Shareholders. Pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations,
foreign investors are prohibited from holding equity interest in an
entity conducting online game business and are restricted to conduct
value-added telecommunications services. In order to enable
investments be made into the Group’s Game Business, the Company
established a subsidiary, Beijing Lianzhong Garden Network
Technology Co., Ltd ("WFOE"), which is a wholly foreign owned
enterprise incorporated in the PRC.

—REH

G RBEERZERAERAR (AR DR =
T——F+_AHHRERSHES QA
A(CE—=FBIRERSHESEM
B REREBRDE o NA R ZFE M
= F& # 4k & P.0. Box 309, Ugland House,
Grand Cayman KY1-1104, Cayman Islands °
AARKRHBE -E-—mFA=+THR
EEBARZAERARERER( L
ml)e

KRR AE—REEERAGRENB A
A(GHAIFTERDEZEAFEARHK
AME(THE) RS REE T REE
TR BB RERELESRTE HES -
LhEREBERGHGE ((AEBEERER])
M EFNMEFLR REEZZ—RF
+ZA=+—HIEFE =M Peerless
Media Limited ([ Peerless|) Ut & 18 » K&
EEEEXNEREPEBEIIN TE2ARE
Bl ([EE]) R EMAER -

R-ZZT-—HF+-_A=+—H EFR
RREALE BT EE BRBEAE
KEaRt(GRAMERRKR)EBRK

EXB8&2&2a)  BlElite Vessels Limited *

Sonic Force Limited * Blink Milestones
Limited ([ Blink Milestones|) * Prosper
Macrocosm Limited & Golden Liberator
Limited ([ AR 3R &9 2 & 1) i B & A8 2 7 69

RASIERLTT o

ARERTEZEBREHEZHI T
FEHPKBROERAA ([BR]) RE
MEAR (MBI RER])ET EX
ERBRRZES - RIBERZPBOERZE
BONBEREERZRUFANRERLEER
EHERZBREANETREEERS
TEXZEEG - R AEEBEEEIR
B ARARKI—EH B AR 4L R
XEEEHRAEREERAB(IEBEE
R ERRPEEMKLZINEE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE
1. General Information (continued)

In 2014, WFOE has entered into a series of contractual arrangements
(the “Contractual Arrangements”) with Lianzhong and their respective
equity holders, which enable WFOE and the Group to:

= exercise effective financial and operational control over
Lianzhong;

— exercise equity holders’ voting rights of Lianzhong;

— receive substantially all of the economic interest returns
generated by Lianzhong and its subsidiaries in consideration for
the business support, technical and consulting services
provided by WFOE, at WFOE's discretion;

— obtain an irrevocable and exclusive right to purchase all or part
of equity interest in and/or assets of Lianzhong from the
respective equity holders at a minimum purchase price
permitted under the PRC laws and regulations. WFOE may
exercise such options at any time until it has acquired all equity
interests and/or all assets of Lianzhong;

= obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of Lianzhong
from their respective equity holders as collateral security for all
of Lianzhong’s payments due to WFOE and to secure
performance of Lianzhong's obligations under the Contractual

Arrangements.

The details of the Contractual Arrangements are set out in the
prospectus issued by the Company dated 18 June 2014 [the
“Prospectus”).

The Group does not have any equity interest in Lianzhong and its
subsidiaries. However, as a result of the Contractual Arrangements,
the Group has rights to variable returns from its involvement with
Lianzhong and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over Lianzhong and is considered to control Lianzhong and
hence the Lianzhong Group. Consequently, the Company regards the
Lianzhong Group as consolidated structured entities under
International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs”). The Group has
consolidated the financial position and results of the Lianzhong Group
in the consolidated financial statements.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

1.

General Information (continued)

Nevertheless, the Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective
as direct legal ownership in providing the Group with direct control
over the Lianzhong Group and uncertainties presented by the PRC
legal system could impede the Group’s beneficiary rights of the
results, assets and liabilities of the Lianzhong Group. The directors of
the Company, based on the advice of its legal counsel, consider that
the Contractual Arrangements are in compliance with relevant PRC
laws and regulations and are legally enforceable.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

("RMB”), unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 were
approved for issue by the board of directors (the “Board”) on 29 March
2016.

Change in functional currency

In prior years, the directors regarded United Stated dollars ("USD" or
“US$”) as the functional currency of the Company. Following the
completion of the group reorganization in preparation of the Listing
("Reorganization”) and the Listing in 2014, the Company has deposited
substantially all of its net proceeds from the listing into bank deposits
denominated in RMB for continual expansion in both the PRC and
abroad. Since then, the Company’s primary sources of revenues are
interest income derived from bank deposits primarily denominated in
RMB and dividend income in RMB to be derived from the operation of
its major subsidiaries operating in the PRC, whose functional
currency is RMB. Accordingly, the directors have determined the
change of the functional currency of the Company from USD to RMB
starting from 1 January 2015. As in prior years, the Company will
continue to present its financial statements in RMB. The change in
functional currency of the Company has no material effect on these
consolidated financial statements, and has been accounted for

prospectively since 1 January 2015.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless

otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company have
been prepared in accordance with applicable IFRSs. The
financial statements also comply with the applicable disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and
include the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The consolidated
financial statements have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of available-for-

sale financial assets which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in
conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise
its judgement in the process of applying the accounting policies
of the Group. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in Note 3 below.

2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(a] Amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied all the amendments to
standards which are mandatory for the financial
year beginning 1 January 2015. The adoption had no
material impact on how the results and financial
position for the current and prior periods have been

prepared and presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(Continued)

(b)

[c]

New Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Cap. 622)

In addition, the amendments to the Listing Rules
relating to financial information with reference to
the requirement of Part 9 “Accounts and Audit” of
the new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap.
622) come into operation during the financial year,
as a result, there are changes to presentation and
disclosures of certain information in the
consolidated financial statements.

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

A number of new standards and amendments to
standards and interpretations are effective for
annual periods beginning after 1 January 2015, and
have not been applied in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. None of these is
expected to have a significant effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group,
except the following set out below:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

[c]

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)]

IFRS 9, “Financial instruments”, addresses the
classification, measurement and recognition of
The

complete version of IFRS 9 was issued in July 2014.

financial assets and financial liabilities.
It replaces the guidance in IAS 39 that relates to the
classification and measurement of financial
instruments. IFRS 9 retains but simplifies the
mixed measurement model and establishes three
primary measurement categories for financial
assets: amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income and fair value through profit
or loss. The basis of classification depends on the
entity’s business model and the contractual cash
flow characteristics of the financial asset.
Investments in equity instruments are required to
be measured at fair value through profit or loss
with the irrevocable option at inception to present
changes in fair value in other comprehensive
income not recycling. There is now a new expected
credit losses model that replaces the incurred loss
impairment model used in IAS 39. For financial
liabilities there were no changes to classification
and measurement except for the recognition of
changes in own credit risk in other comprehensive
income, for liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss. IFRS 9 relaxes the
requirements for hedge effectiveness by replacing
the bright line hedge effectiveness tests. It requires
an economic relationship between the hedged item
and hedging instrument and for the “hedged ratio”
to be the same as the one management actually
use for risk management purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. EXREFHEREw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)
2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued) 2.1 mEE % )

2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 21N EHBRENEZEZEH
(Continued) (&)

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)]

Contemporaneous documentation is still required
but is different to that currently prepared under IAS
39. The standard is effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption
is permitted. The Group is yet to assess IFRS 9's
full impact.

IFRS 15, "Revenue from contracts with customers”
deals with revenue recognition and establishes
principles for reporting useful information to users
of financial statements about the nature, amount,
timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows
arising from an entity’s contracts with customers.
Revenue is recognised when a customer obtains
control of a good or service and thus has the ability
to direct the use and obtain the benefits from the
good or service. The standard replaces IAS 18
“Revenue” and IAS 11 “Construction contracts” and
related interpretations. IFRS 15 is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2018 and earlier application is permitted. The Group
is assessing the impact of IFRS 15.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

2.1.1Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
(Continued)

[c]

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted (Continued)]

The Group is a lessee of various servers, lines,
offices and residential properties, which are
currently classified as operating leases. IFRS 16,
“Leases” provides new provisions for the
accounting treatment of leases and will in the
future no longer allow lessees to recognise certain
leases outside of the statement of financial position.
Instead, all non-current leases must be recognised
in the form of an asset (for the right of use) and a
financial liability (for the payment obligation). Thus
each lease will be mapped in the Group's
consolidated statement of financial position. Short-
term leases of less than twelve months and leases
of low-value assets are exempt from the reporting
obligation. The new standard will therefore result
in an increase in property, plant and equipment and
an increase in financial liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, leases will be
recognised in the future as capital expenditure on
the purchasing side and will no longer be recorded
as an operating expense. As a result, the operating
expenses under otherwise identical circumstances
will decrease, while depreciation and amortisation
and the interest expense will increase. IFRS 16 is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019 and earlier application is permitted if
IFRS 15 has also been applied. The Group is
assessing the impact of [FRS 16.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE = F

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries

(a)

Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls the
entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-

consolidated from the date that control ceases.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains
and losses on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the
policies adopted by the Group.

[i]  Business combinations

The Group applies the acquisition method to
The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a

account for business combinations.

subsidiary is the fair values of the assets
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former
owners of the acquiree and the equity interests
issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
includes the fair value of any asset or liability
resulting from a contingent consideration
arrangement. ldentifiable assets acquired and
liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially at

their fair values at the acquisition date.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies icontinued)

2. EXREFHHEREw

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations [Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either at fair value or the present ownership
interest’s proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All
other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless

another measurement basis is required by IFRSs.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’'s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-
measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement

are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by
the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as
a change to other comprehensive income.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity
is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement

is accounted for within equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GrA B S IR R M EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.2 Subsidiaries (continued)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the
amount of non-controlling interest over the net
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.
If this consideration is lower than the fair value of
the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the

difference is recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
without change of control

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do
not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with
the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as
owners. The difference between fair value of any
consideration paid and the relevant share acquired
of the carrying values of net assets of the subsidiary
is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals
to non-controlling interests are also recorded in

equity.

Separate financial statements
In the Company’'s statement of financial position,

subsidiaries are carried at cost less any impairment loss.

Cost is adjusted to reflect changes in consideration

arising from contingent consideration amendments. Cost

also includes direct attributable costs of investment. The

results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company

on the basis of dividends received and receivable at the

reporting date. All dividends whether received out of the

investee’s pre or post-acquisition profits are recognised

in the Company's profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies icontinued)

2.3 Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control, generally accompanying a
shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounting for using the equity
method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment
is initially recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor's share of the
profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group's investments in associates include goodwill identified on
acquisition. Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount of
non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower
than the fair value of the net assets of the associate acquired,
the difference is recognised in profit or loss. The goodwill is
included within the carrying amount of the investment and is
assessed for impairment as part of the investment.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but
significant influence is retained, only a proportionate share of
the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive

income is reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate, it is accounted for as a disposal of the entire interest
in that investee, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss. Any interest retained in that former investee at
the date when significant influence is lost is recognised at fair
value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies icontinued)

2.3 Associates (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profits or losses is
recognised in profit or loss, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment
to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group's
share of loss in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in
the associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further loss, unless it is incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of

the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is
any objective evidence that the investment in the associate is
impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of
impairment as the difference between the recoverable amount
of the associate and its carrying value and recognises as
administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream
transactions between the Group and its associate are
recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the
extent of unrelated investor's interests in the associates.
Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Diluted gains and losses arising in investments in associates
are recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive

income.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE = F

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.4 Foreign currency translation

(a)

(b)

(c)

Functional and presentation currency

[tems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity
operates [the “functional currency”). As detailed in Note 1,
the functional currency of the Company was changed
from USD to RMB since 1 January 2015. Same as prior
years, the Group continues to present its financial

statements in RMB.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items
are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and
from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
(none of which has the currency of a hyper-inflationary
economy] that have a functional currency different from
the presentation currency are translated into the

presentation currency as follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing
rate at the date of that statement of financial

position;

o income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this average is not a
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect
of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in
which case income and expenses are translated at

the rate on the dates of the transactions); and

o all resulting exchange differences are recognised

in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. EXREFTHEMEw
Policies (continued)
2.4 SNE]E i)

2.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies (Continued) ) &ERA @
Goodwill and fair value adjustment arising on the Hﬁlgﬁ/iﬂ\%iﬁfﬁﬁFEZﬁ
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and kD EREERZEN
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the ﬁ‘&gZéE&EE R IR

closing rate. Currency translation differences arising are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Cost includes
expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of

the asset.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, as follows:
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Motor vehicle 5 years YTE 54

The asset’s residual values, depreciation methods and useful BEZFHGEEBR TEHERER
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each reporting date.

The gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE = F

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.5

2.6

2.7

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount
or recognised as separate assets, as appropriate, only when it
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be
measured reliably.

The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other costs, such as repairs and maintenance, are charged to
profit or loss during the financial period in which they are

incurred.

Goodwill

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identified net assets acquired. Goodwill
is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill
is allocated to cash-generating units and is tested annually for
impairment (see Note 2.18). Impairment losses on goodwill are
not reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity
include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity
sold.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

(a) Computer software
Acquired computer software are capitalised on the basis
of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the
specific software. These costs are amortised over the
shorter of their license periods or estimated useful lives
(ranged from 1 to 5 years), and recorded as amortisation

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. EXREFHEREw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

Game intellectual properties, trademark and licenses are
initially recorded at cost and include internally generated
intangible assets [i.e. capitalised development costs as
detailed in Note 2.7(c) below) that are available for use.
These intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of their license periods or estimate

useful lives (ranged from 2 to 10 years).

Research and development costs

Costs associated with research activities are expensed in
profit or loss as they occur. Costs that are directly
attributable to development activities (relating to the
design and testing of new or improved game products)
are recognised as intangible assets provided they meet
the following recognition requirements:

(] demonstration of technical feasibility of the
prospective product for internal use or sale;
(i) there is intention to complete the intangible asset

and use or sell it;

(i) the Group's ability to use or sell the intangible

asset is demonstrated;
(iv] the intangible asset will generate probable

economic benefits through internal use or sale;

(v)  sufficient technical, financial and other resources
are available for completion; and

(vi]  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset

can be reliably measured.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE = F
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.7 Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

(c)

(d)

(e)

Research and development costs (Continued]
Direct costs include employee costs incurred on
development activities. The costs of development of
internally generated software, products or knowhow that
meet the above recognition criteria are recognised as
intangible assets. Development costs previously
recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset
in a subsequent period. Capitalised development costs
are recorded as intangible assets and amortised from the
point at which the asset is ready for use on a straight-line
basis over its useful lives.

All other development costs are expensed as incurred.

Brand name and unfinished contracts

Brand name and unfinished contracts acquired in a
business combination and recognised separately from
goodwill are initially recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their costs).
Subsequent to initial recognition, these intangible assets
are amortised over the estimated useful lives or contract
period (ranged from 1 to 10 years).

Programmes and film rights

Programmes and film rights include assets acquired in a
business combination and recognised separately from
goodwill and are initially recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date (which is regarded as their costs). It also
includes internally generated programmes and film
rights. These intangible assets are amortised on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of their license
periods or estimate useful lives (ranged from 5 to 6
years).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE
2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. ERETFTHEBEm
Policies (continued)

THEE

2.8 Financial assets 2.8

The Group’s accounting policies for financial assets other than
investments in subsidiaries and associates are set out below.
Financial assets of the Group are classified into loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial assets.
Management determines the classification of its financial
assets at initial recognition depending on the purpose for which
the financial assets were acquired and where allowed and
appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at every reporting

date.

All financial assets are recognised when, and only when, the
Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument. Regular way purchases of financial assets are
recognised on trade date (the date on which the Group commits
to purchase or sell the asset). When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus, in the
case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss,
directly attributable transaction costs.

Derecognition of financial assets occurs when the rights to
receive cash flows from the investments expire or are
transferred and substantially all of the risks and rewards of
ownership have been transferred.

At each reporting date, financial assets are reviewed to assess
whether there is objective evidence of impairment. If any such
evidence exists, an impairment loss is determined and

recognised based on the classification of the financial asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted
in an active market. They are included in current assets,
except for maturities greater than 12 months after the
reporting date, which are classified as non-current
assets. Loans and receivables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less any impairment losses. Amortised cost is
calculated taking into account any discount or premium
on acquisition and includes fees that are an integral part
of the effective interest rate and transaction cost.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Non-derivative financial assets that do not qualify for
inclusion in any of the other categories of financial assets
are classified as available-for-sale financial assets. They
are included in non-current assets unless the investment
matures or management intends to dispose of it within 12

months after the reporting date.

All financial assets within this category are subsequently
measured at fair value. Gain or loss arising from a change
in the fair value excluding any dividend and interest
income is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated separately in the revaluation reserve in
equity, except for impairment losses [(see the policy
below) and foreign exchange gains and losses on
monetary assets, until the financial asset is derecognised,
at which time the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified
from equity to profit or loss. Interest calculated using the

effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

(b) Available-for-sale financial assets (Continued)
For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have
a quoted market price in an active market and whose fair
value cannot be reliably measured, they are measured at
cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of
each reporting date subsequent to initial recognition.

Impairment of financial assets

At each reporting date, financial assets other than at fair value
through profit or loss are reviewed to determine whether there
is any objective evidence of impairment.

Objective evidence of impairment of individual financial assets
includes observable data that comes to the attention of the
Group about one or more of the following loss events:

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in

interest or principal payments;

— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter

bankruptcy or other financial reorganization;

= significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse

effect on the debtor;

the disappearance of an active market for that financial

asset because of financial difficulties; and

= a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of an
investment in an equity instrument below its cost.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Loss events in respect of a group of financial assets include
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from the group of financial
assets. Such observable data includes but not limited to
adverse changes in the payment status of debtors in the Group
and, national or local economic conditions that correlate with

defaults on the assets in the Group.

If any such evidence exists, an impairment loss is measured
and recognised as follows:

(a)  Financial assets carried at amortised cost
If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on
loans and receivables carried at amortised cost has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding
future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective
interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). The amount of the loss is recognised
in profit or loss of the period in which the impairment

oCcurs.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment
loss decreases and the decrease can be related
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment
loss is reversed to the extent that it does not result in a
carrying amount of the financial asset exceeding what the
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not
been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed.
The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss
of the period in which the reversal occurs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.8 Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Available-for-sale financial assets

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale
financial asset has been recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity and
there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, an
amount is removed from equity and recognised in profit
or loss as an impairment loss. That amount is measured
as the difference between the asset’s acquisition cost (net
of any principal repayment and amortisation] and current
fair value, less any impairment loss on that asset

previously recognised in profit or loss.

Reversals in respect of investment in equity instruments
classified as available-for-sale and stated at fair value
are not recognised in the profit or loss. The subsequent
increase in fair value is recognised in other
comprehensive income. Impairment losses in respect of
debt securities are reversed if the subsequent increase in
fair value can be objectively related to an event occurring
after the impairment loss was recognised. Reversal of
impairment losses in such circumstances are recognised

in profit or loss.

Financial assets carried at cost

The amount of impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the carrying amount of the financial
asset and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for
a similar financial asset. Such impairment losses are not

reversed in subsequent periods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE = F

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.8

2.9

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Impairment losses on financial assets other than trade and
other receivables that are stated at amortised cost are written
off against the corresponding assets directly. Where the
recovery of trade and other receivables is considered doubtful
but not remote, the impairment losses for doubtful receivables
are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group is
satisfied that recovery of trade and other receivables is remote,
the amount considered irrecoverable is written off against trade
and other receivables directly and any amounts held in the
allowance account in respect of that receivable are reversed.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously charged to the
allowance account are reversed against the allowance account.
Other changes in the allowance account and subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off directly are

recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out ("FIFQO")
method. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable variable selling
expenses.

2.10 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and in hand,
demand deposits with banks and short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and

which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. ERETFTHEBEm
Policies (continued)
N ERMEE

2.11 Financial liabilities

The Group’s financial liabilities included trade and other
payables. Financial liabilities are recognised when the Group
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All interest related charges are expensed when incurred. A
financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method. Trade and other payables are
classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year

or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

2.12 Leases

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of
transactions, is or contains a lease if the Group determines that
the arrangement conveys a right to use a specific asset or
assets for an agreed period of time in return for a payment or a
series of payments. Such a determination is made based on an
evaluation of the substance of the arrangement and is
regardless of whether the arrangement takes the legal form of
a lease.

(a) Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets that are held by the Group under leases which
transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership are classified as being held under
finance leases. Leases which do not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Group are

classified as operating leases.

(b) Operating lease charges as the lessee

Where the Group has the right to use of assets held under
operating leases, payments made under the leases are
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
lease terms except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the time pattern of benefits to be
derived from the leased assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies icontinued)

2.13 Provisions, contingent Lliabilities and

contingent assets

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, and
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the
amount of the obligation can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of

the expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Il provisions are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted
to reflect the current best estimate.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future uncertain
events not wholly within the control of the Group, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of

outflow of economic benefits is remote.

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination which
are present obligations at the date of acquisition are initially
recognised at fair value, provided the fair value can be reliably
measured. After the initial recognition at fair value, such
contingent liabilities are recognised at the higher of the amount
initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation where
appropriate, and the amount that would be recognised in a
comparable provision as described above. Contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination that cannot be reliably fair
valued or were not present obligations at the date of acquisition
are disclosed as per above.

Probable inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not
yet meet the recognition criteria of an asset are considered

contingent assets.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. EXREFHEREw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.14 Share capital 2.14 B

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Share capital is
determined using the nominal value of shares that have been
issued.

Preferred shares are classified as equity if it is non-redeemable
and any dividends are discretionary. Dividends on preferred
share capital classified as equity are recognised as distributions
within equity.

Any transaction costs associated with the issuing of shares are
deducted from share premium (net of any related income tax
benefit) to the extent they are incremental costs directly

attributable to the equity transaction.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

2.15 Revenue recognition

The Group is engaged in the development and operation of
online card and board games that consist of PC and mobile
games. Our games include self-developed games, licensed
games and third-party operated games. The Group also

organise and/or hosts online/offline tournaments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies icontinued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

The Group's revenue is principally derived from the sale of in-
game virtual goods. Revenue comprises the fair value of the
consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods, net of
related surcharges and discounts. Substantially all of the
Group’'s games are free to play and players can pay for virtual
goods for better in-game experience. Players purchase our
virtual currencies for PC games or mobile games (collectively,
the "Virtual Currencies”), through third-party payment channels
or the purchase of pre-paid game cards. The Virtual Currencies
can be used to exchange for virtual goods such as personalised
avatars and membership plans. Paying players usually
exchange their Virtual Currencies for the virtual goods shortly
after purchase. Provided it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if
applicable, can be measured reliably, revenue is recognised as

follows:

(a) PCgames
Self-developed games and licensed games

The Group has integrated online game platforms with
multiple distribution channels. The Group distributes
locally installed PC games and provides services through
our proprietary PC client portals, such as Ourgame Hall.
The Group also offers web games playable on web pages
served by the Group on ourgame.com, wpt.com and by
third-party distribution channels, which include websites
and web-based portals such as Baidu, Sina Weibo and
Qihoo 360.

For self-developed games and licensed games, the Group
is responsible for hosting the games, providing on-going
updates of new contents, technical support for the
operations of the games, as well as preventing, detecting
and resolving in-game cheating and hacking activities.
Third-party distribution and payment channels are
responsible for distribution, marketing, platform
maintenance, payer authentication and payment

collections related to the games.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. EXREFHEREw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

215 WA HE R ()
(a) PC games (Continued) (a) PCHZ/E] (&)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Self-developed games and licensed games (Continued)

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels
collect the payments from the paying players and remit
the cash to the Group, net of commission charges which
are pre-determined according to the relevant terms of
the agreements entered into between the Group and the

third-party distribution or payment channels.

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically
has an implied obligation to provide the services which
enable the virtual goods exchanged with the Virtual
Currencies to be displayed or used in the games. As a
result, the proceeds received from sales of Virtual
Currencies are recorded as deferred revenue. With the
pre-paid game cards, paying players can credit their user
accounts with virtual currencies and exchange for virtual
goods in the same way. Proceeds received from the sale
of pre-paid game cards are recorded as deferred
revenue. The attributable portion of the deferred revenue
relating to values of the virtual goods consumed are
immediately or ratably recognised as revenue only when
the services are rendered to the respective paying

players.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

PC games (Continued)
Self-developed games and licensed games (Continued)

For the purposes of determining when services have been
provided to the respective paying players, the Group has
determined the following:

= Consumable virtual goods represent items (i) that
have a predetermined service period; or (ii] where
no service is rendered by the Group for the virtual
goods immediately after purchase by the paying
players. Revenue is recognised (as a release from
deferred revenue] when the goods are consumed
and the related services are rendered, or ratably
over the predetermined service period of the
respective consumable virtual goods.

= Durable virtual goods represent items that have no
predetermined service period and are accessible
and beneficial to paying players over an extended
period of time. Revenue is recognised ratably over
the expected life of the respective durable virtual
goods ("Player Relationship Period”).

For self-developed games and licensed games, the
computer systems of the Group captures all player data,
such as log-in data, purchase and delivery records for the
Virtual Currencies sold and the virtual goods exchanged
with the Virtual Currencies. The Group estimates the
Player Relationship Period based on an overall game by
game basis and platform by platform basis and re-
assesses such periods annually. If there are insufficient
data to determine the Player Relationship Period, such as
in the case of a newly launched game, the Group
estimates the Player Relationship Period based on other
similar types of games developed by the Group or by
third-party developers until the new game establishes its
own patterns and history. The Group mainly considers the
paying players’ spending and consumption behaviour in
estimating the Player Relationship Period, which typically
represents the time interval between paying players’
consecutive recharges of their user accounts with
additional Virtual Currencies and represents a reasonable
estimate of the average expected life of the durable
virtual items for the applicable game.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. EXREFHEREw

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

215 WA HE R ()
(a) PC games (Continued) (a) PCHZ/E] (&)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

Self-developed games and licensed games (Continued)

If the Group does not have the ability to differentiate
revenue attributable to durable virtual goods from
consumable virtual goods for a specific product, item or
game, the Group recognises revenue from both durable
and consumable virtual goods ratably over the average
life of the durable virtual products or goods, or over the

Player Relationship Period.

For revenues relating to self-developed games and
licensed games, the Group has evaluated the roles and
responsibilities of the Group, the game license holders
and the third-party distribution and payment channels in
the delivery of game experience to the paying players and
concluded the Group takes the primary responsibilities in
rendering services. The Group is determined to be the
primary obligor and, accordingly, the Group records
revenue on a gross basis, and commission charges by
game license holders and third-party distribution and
payment channels are recorded as cost of revenue.

Third-party operated games

The Group also distributes games developed and
operated by third-party developers on the Group's own
web proprietary platform including the Group’s client
portal and websites. The Group's revenue mainly consists
of pre-determined portions of total player payments
according to the relevant terms of the agreements

entered into between the Group and the game developers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(a)

(b)

PC games (Continued)

Third-party operated games (Continued)]

The games distributed on the Group's platform are
hosted, maintained, operated and updated independently
by the game developers, and the Group mainly provide
players with access to the Group's platform to download
the third-party developers’ games and limited after-sale
basic technical support to the paying players. The Group
has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligor
in the services rendered to the paying players as a
platform. Accordingly, the Group records its revenue net
of the portion of sharing of revenues with the game

developers.

As the Group provides merely the first contact point by
the players to gain access to download the third-party
developers’ games, the Group believes that its implied
obligation to the game developers do not correspond to
the game developers” implied obligation to provide the
service which enables the virtual goods to be displayed
and used in the games. Given that games are hosted,
managed, administered and operated by the game
developers, the Group does not have access to the data
on the consumption details and the types of virtual goods
purchased by the paying players. The Group only
maintains individual paying player's purchase history of
the Virtual Currencies which are used to exchange for
virtual goods in the third-party operated games. As such,
the Group has adopted a policy to recognise revenue
when the paying players exchange the Virtual Currencies
for consumable or durable virtual goods for the relevant

games.

Mobile games

The Group distributes mobile games and provides
services mainly for Android and i0S operating systems
through third-party distribution and payment channels,
including mobile operators in the PRC ("Mobile

Operators”).

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

2. EXREFHHEREw

2.15 Y A 78 &R (@)

(a)

(b)

PC % & (##)
B=HEEREE (E)
RAKEFE Lo iH
LNzl A T i
EoHE KEREH M
AEFITZERTIRELE
BHFa ATEHE=7HM
ZEANEBRRRNEREKE
HERENHERERNRMI
EoAKBEEFHMBABER
AEBERFARANEDR
REHERBTEHLFRER
BEA-RAK AEEAK
B U T 2% 40 B B2 30 8 B 3
B MERARED o

HRAEEEATIRIEH-E
REBEAERL THE=
TREBNER AKER
F AEEHERRERN
BlEEEEEFMEHREHR
REEER Y MG AR BB P
& 7R Ko {8 A B AR 75 05 T A [
BEEXIF - ERER
DHREBAERMATEE B
B -BORKE AEEE
EZRGEBEEFBERNE
DEXMBEERY REEN
BUR o AN & B £ 7 & 17 (8 Bl
NENXBEEREE L
BoEREEATNE=TE
EREE T REIBERY
me B AREBES K —
HBRE WRNEBERRAE
BE AR B AR
62X MY A3 S 46 W) B i SR X
A ©

BENE
AEBXTBRBERE=TTDH
ENFREBERENED
Bem((BHEERI /LR
5 RI0SEE R LD HB B I
Bt N R AR



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
GrA B S IR R M EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

Mobile games (Continued)
Self-developed games — Single player games

During the year, substantially all of the Group’s mobile
games are single player games or have single player
modes ("Single Player Games”). Virtual goods of the
Single Player Games are purchased when the players are
online and can be consumed irrespective of whether or
not they are connected to the internet. Only the purchase
of such virtual goods requires connection to the internet.
Once the players confirm their purchase requests via
Mobile Operators’” payment channels, the purchased
virtual goods are automatically available in the
downloaded game. Future play and use of the purchased
virtual goods do not require internet connectivity or any
involvement from the Group. Players do not need to
connect to online servers to play the game or utilize the
purchased virtual goods on their mobile devices and
hence the Group has no obligation to deliver any further
services to the paying players. As a result, all services are
rendered immediately upon the sale and delivery of the
virtual goods.

The gross revenue from mobile games includes provision
for doubtful debts or bad debts as assessed by the Mobile
Operators. For mobile games, the computer system of
the Group captures limited data such as certain purchase
and delivery records of the virtual goods. The Group
contracts with the Mobile Operators which include billing
and collection services. The Mobile Operators provide the
Group with monthly statements that represent the
principal evidence that virtual goods has been sold and
delivered. The Mobile Operators remit to the Group only
amounts net of channel commission charges and an
allowance that Mobile Operators have made for the
doubtful debts in respect of the amounts due to the Group
from the paying players. The Mobile Operators do not
provide an itemised analysis of their remittances and the
usage of the virtual goods and the Group is therefore
unable to determine what allowance, if any, for doubtful
or bad debts should be recorded with respect to services
delivered through them. As a result, based on the
amounts reported on the Mobile Operator’s monthly
statements, which are net of doubtful debts and represent
the amounts the Group reasonably believes will be
collected, the Group records the gross proceeds (net of
provision for doubtful debts] as revenue and the channel
commission charges are recorded as cost of revenue.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE = F

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued)

(b)

Mobile games (Continued)

Self-developed games with connected internet game
play

For revenue derived from self-developed mobile games
with connected internet game play, the Group follows the
policies of PC games — “Self-developed games and
licensed games” as the operations of the two types of
games are similar. The Virtual Currencies can be used to
exchange for virtual goods such as symbol and
membership plans. Paying players usually exchange their
Virtual Currencies for the virtual goods shortly after
purchase.

Third-party distribution channels and payment channels
collect the payments from the paying players and remit
the cash to the Group, net of commission charges which
are pre-determined according to the relevant terms of
the agreements entered into between the Group and the
third-party distribution or payment channels. For paying
players who use payment channels of the Mobile
Operators, cash remitted to the Group are also net of
provision for doubtful debts or bad debts as assessed by
the Mobile Operators as detailed in single player mobile

games above.

Upon the sales of Virtual Currencies, the Group typically
has an implied obligation to provide the services which
enable the virtual goods exchanged with the Virtual
Currencies to be displayed or used in the games. As a
result, the proceeds (net of provision for doubtful debts
assessed by Mobile Operators, if applicable) received
from sales of Virtual Currencies are recorded as deferred
revenue. The attributable portion of the deferred revenue
relating to values of the virtual goods are recognised as
revenue (as a release from deferred revenue) when the
goods are consumed and the related services are
rendered, i.e. ratably over the predetermined service

period of the respective virtual goods.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. ERETFTHEBEm
Policies (continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.15 W A TB R @)

(b) Mobile games (Continued) (b) B BEERE (&)
Self-developed games with connected internet game BEEPODHEAEENEE
play (Continued) A 5 (19 45 B (#8)

For revenues relating to self-developed mobile games,
the Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities of
the Group, and the third-party distribution and payment
channels in the delivery of game experience to the paying
players and concluded the Group takes the primary
responsibilities in rendering services. The Group is
determined to be the primary obligor and, accordingly,
the Group records revenue on a gross basis, and
commission charges by third-party distribution and

payment channels are recorded as cost of revenue.

Third-party operated games

For revenue derived from third-party operated mobile
games, the Group follows the policies of PC games —
“Third-party operated games” as the operations of the
two types of games are similar. The games distributed on
the Group’s and third-party distributors’ platform are
hosted, maintained, operated and updated independently
by the game developers, and the Group mainly provide
players with access to the Group’s platform to download
the third-party developers’ games and limited after-sale
basic technical support to the paying players. The Group
has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligor
in the services rendered to the paying players as a
platform. Accordingly, the Group has adopted a policy to
recognise revenue when the paying players purchase the
virtual currencies for consumable or durable virtual
goods for the relevant games and records its revenue net
of the portion of sharing of revenues with the game
developers.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. EXEFTHEMEwW
Policies (continued)

2.15 Revenue recognition (Continued) 2.15 W A T 52 )
(c) Sponsorship income () EBWKA
Sponsorship income is recognised when the promotion or BEPRARKEETHHES
tournament events have been held; or the services have = /EE?J? R RBERMER
been rendered, and it is probable that sponsorship A0 7 & B UL A AT BE B
income will be granted and the amount can be measured K H FRIE BE 49 0] 52 5T = B AR
reliably. R o
2.16 Interest income 2.16 FE WA
Interest income mainly represents interest income from bank FEWAEZIEBITHERAORNE
deposits and is recognised using effective interest method. WA WIERERRFRE T ARER -
2.17 Government grants 2.17 BUR 18 BY

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be
received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.
Government grants are deferred and recognised in profit or
loss over the period necessary to match them with the costs

that the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
included in liabilities as deferred government grants in the
consolidated statement of financial position and are recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the expected lives
of the related assets.

Government grants relating to income is presented in gross
under “Other income” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment testing:

= Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries;

— Other intangible assets;

— Property, plant and equipment; and

— Interests in subsidiaries and associates
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. EXREFTHEMEw
Policies (continued)
218 FEE R E EIRE @)

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

Goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite useful life
or those not yet available for use are tested for impairment at
least annually, irrespective of whether there is any indication
that they are impaired. All other assets are tested for
impairment whenever there are indications that the asset’s
carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately
for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. Recoverable amount is the higher of
fair value, reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of time
value of money and the risk specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an asset
does not generate cash inflows largely independent from those
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for
the smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As a result, some
assets are tested individually for impairment and some are
tested at cash-generating unit level. Goodwill in particular is
allocated to those cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from synergies of the related business combination and
represent the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purpose and

not be larger than an operating segment.

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating units, to
which goodwill has been allocated, are credited initially to the
carrying amount of goodwill. Any remaining impairment loss is
charged pro rata to the assets in the cash generating unit,
except that the carrying value of an asset will not be reduced
below its individual fair value less cost of disposal, or value in

use, if determinable
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies icontinued)

2.18 Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An impairment loss on goodwill is not reversed in subsequent
periods. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount and only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been

recognised.

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill are not reversed in a subsequent period. This is the
case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have been
recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the end

of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

2.19 Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group has various defined contribution plans in
accordance with the local conditions and practices in the
municipalities and provinces in which they operate.
Defined contribution plans are pension and/or other
social benefit plans under which the Group pay fixed
contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have
no legal or constructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to
pay all employees benefits relating to employee service in
the current and prior periods. The contributions are
recognised as labour costs when they are due.

(b) Bonus entitlements
The expected cost of bonus payments is recognised as a
liability when the Group has a present contractual or
constructive obligation as a result of services rendered by
employees and a reliable estimate of the obligation can
be made. Liabilities for bonus are expected to be settled
within twelve months and are measured at the amounts

expected to be paid when they are settled.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

2. EXREFHHEREw

218 ke EERE®@®

FRANEEEER WD S EMNG
SERBRANES - AEBERES
BRERABMAAIELD - LEME
EME REBESTARE I
BERRREENREETESR
EIYEERDREBEBRT MR
FEEEMREEGEINRITE S #E
) e

A 5 A B 7 AR 2 R (R
BRERHETE TABDE - KK
BRAhEHE 2 B EERNZM K
FERGRETIG  BIELERE
REE ABEBEM FRAN
FHRERETE-

219 BERA

a) BEETEME
AEBRELERERD R
A E IR REHR
BEZEEREKE - EH
HAFERAEEARBLE
BEDBNERHAINE
K& R HE 1t & 8 &
B EZESTRARHEE
XHNMmEEMBEAMBER
NEHERERERTHEE R
Mo REBEILEE - FHN
HEROEELEEEE -
PR E RS HER RSB -

(b) #&I2EL

XN RS TEPKANEE S
RERBMAERELR
EHaHEERME Bt
ASEHEHEARERRE
BE-ReBEBRAN + @
AR BTIREERHTEREB
FTUXNESEEE o
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

(c)

Equity-settled share-based compensation
transactions

The Group operates a number of equity-settled share-
based compensation plans under which the Group
receives services from employees as consideration for
equity instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value
of the services received in exchange for the grant of the

equity instruments is recognised as expense.

The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted including any market performance conditions;
excluding the impact of any service and non-market
performance vesting conditions; and including the impact

of any non-vesting conditions.

Non-market performance and service conditions are
included in assumptions about the number of options and
shares that are expected to vest. The total expense is
recognised over the vesting period over which all of the

specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options and shares that are
expected to vest based on the non-marketing
performance and service conditions. The Group
recognises the impact of the revision to original
estimates, if any, in the profit or loss, with a

corresponding adjustment to equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the

employee as measured at the date of modification.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.19 Employee benefits (continued)

(c)

(d)

Equity-settled share-based compensation
transactions (Continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or the
employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated as
a replacement award on the date that it is granted, the
cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the

previous paragraph.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new
shares. The proceeds received net of any directly
attributable transaction costs are credited to share

capital (nominal value] and share premium.

Share-based payment transactions among
group entities

The grant by the Company of options over its equity
instruments to the employees of subsidiary undertakings
in the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair
value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over
the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to
equity [(share option reserve) in the separate financial

statements of the Company.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. ERETFTHEBEm
Policies (continued)

2.20 Accounting for income taxes 220 FIEH BT ERE

Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax.

Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise those
obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities relating to the
current or prior reporting period, that are unpaid at the
reporting date. They are calculated according to the tax rates
and tax laws applicable to the fiscal periods to which they
relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to
current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component

of tax expense in profit or loss.

Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on
temporary differences at the reporting date between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and their respective tax bases. Deferred
tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised for all
deductible temporary differences, tax losses available to be
carried forward as well as other unused tax credits, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit, including existing
taxable temporary differences, will be available against which
the deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and
unused tax credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither taxable nor
accounting profit or loss.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period the liability is settled or the
asset realised, provided they are enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting

Policies icontinued)

2.20 Accounting for income taxes (Continued)

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognised in
profit or loss, or in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity if they relate to items that are charged or credited to

other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are presented in

net if, and only if,

(a)  the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred tax
liabilities in net if, and only if,

(a)  the entity has a legally enforceable right to set off current

tax assets against current tax liabilities; and

(b)  the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation

authority on either:
(]  the same taxable entity; or

(i) different taxable entities which intend either to
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting 2. ERETFTHEBEm
Policies (continued)
221 EEEHMIA

2.21 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
reported in the consolidated statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of

the company or the counterparty.

2.22 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and the Company’'s
financial statements in the period in which the dividends are
approved by the Company’s shareholders or Board, where
appropriate.

2.23 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
makers, who are responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that make strategic

decisions.

2.24 Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(il has significant influence over the Group; or

lii)  is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group's parent.

2.22

2.23

2.24

B AR TE 7] 58 il #1 1T HE A AT 3K 88
EHRLE BAEBREFHRES
EARREREENEEAER
FHcRmEERBENEMRER
YHEEEPBRREKAREHF
B REA ATV BT FIKE
RERFMHME > ME-—REBHBE
MUARMAREE T —BEHRE
M BEBENIWER  SHL
BEBHRS -

BB 2k

AR ERRELERRELD
REDIK R EEARRBBIRK
EFEe(HERHAENSB  BRA
SERARAPBHRRTERR
—HAE-

7 BB &

RESHNEFTAEMEEL
ERARAEHABZ2HROSTAE
BB TBRERRABEDR
BEREFEZEEDINERER  TE
WRERIEHEBRENRNITE
=o

BARE TS

@) EBUTAL BIZZATE
ZALTZEREAREBE G
JE

(i) 2= 6k R 2 A &
£

il HAEEBEEAZE:
2%

i) AArEBXAEETA
TNFEERERS -

GREBREZERERAE —T-HFFR

127



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR MR (&)

128

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

2. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies (continued)

2.24 Related parties (Continued)

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following

conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member].

both entities are joint ventures of the same third-
party.

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity.

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

Close members of the family of a person are those family

members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced

by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and
Judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based

on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of

future events that are believed to be reasonable under the

circumstances.

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes accounting estimates and assumptions

concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will,

by definition, seldom equal to the related actual results. The

estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of

causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of

assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

(a)

(b)

Estimates of Player Relationship Period for
revenue recognition

As described in Note 2.15(a), the Group recognises
revenue from certain durable virtual goods derived from
its self-developed and licensed PC games over the Player
Relationship Period. The determination of Player
Relationship Period in each type of virtual goods is based
on the Group’s best estimate that takes into account all
known and relevant information at the time of
assessment. Such estimates are subject to re-evaluation
on an annual basis. Any adjustments arising from
changes in the Player Relationship Period as a result of
new information will be accounted for prospectively as a

change in accounting estimate.

Provision for impairment of trade receivables

The Group determines the provision for impairment of
trade receivables (Note 18]. This estimate is based on the
credit history of the customers and the current market
condition. Management reassesses the adequacy of
provision on a regular basis by reviewing the individual
account based on past credit history and any prior
knowledge of debtor insolvency or other credit risk which
might not be easily accessible public information and
market volatility might bear a significant impact which

might not be easily ascertained.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and
JUdgementS (Continued)

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

(c)

(d)

Recognition of share-based compensation
expenses

As detailed in Note 27(c], the Company has granted share
options to the Group’s management and employees in
2015. The directors, with the assistance of an independent
professional valuer, have used the Binomial Option-
Pricing Model to determine the total fair value of the
options granted, which is to be expensed over the vesting
period as appropriate. Significant estimate on
assumptions, such as share price volatility and dividend
yield, is required to be made by the directors in applying
the Binomial Option-Pricing Model.

Current and deferred income taxes

As detailed in Note 7, the Group is subject to income
taxes in several jurisdictions. There are many
transactions and events for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Significant judgment is required from the Group
in determining the provision for income taxes in each of
these jurisdictions. Where the final tax outcome of these
matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

3. RS RHAEH =

3.1 BEREE AT RER @

(c)

(d)

e AR 0 & B HE a9 B
TEH

an B s 27(c) P R A - AR R A
ERZZE-—AERTEAEE
EEENBIERE -EF
EBUEXGHEMNBET
ERREREFTIEAETS
TOEMERE T AN R AE R AR
BEE B_EAHEEER
BHETRONBERENR
nERE EEREBHA
(ER) - EERHRA
—HEANEEEEAKH
BRERKBEEEEER
RIEHERMAF -

B A KA I FR 1S
TR AREAR S
EREEERBAMBH -
HEZRERBEBBRETINRS
REBEMRERNRERBE
EYBIMHEE - NEBAR
EEBEERAMERBEENE
RHUG-HEXEFENER
BB ERBRYCEHENESHE
TR WEZEZBRAEHR
FIREFRBORTE HEELF
@,



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)
A ISR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

3. RS RAEH @

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and
JUdgementS (Continued)

3.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions 3.1 MRS REREZ@®
(Continued)
(e) Depreciation, amortisation and impairment le) ME - BEEXEBUR

assessment of property, plant and equipment
and intangible assets

Property, plant and equipment (Note 11) and intangible
assets [Note 12) with finite useful lives are depreciated or
amortised on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the assets, after taking into account the
estimated residual value, if any. The Group reviews the
estimated useful lives of the assets regularly in order to
determine the amount of depreciation and amortisation
expense to be recorded during any reporting period. The
useful lives are based on the Group’'s historical
experience with similar assets and taking into account
anticipated technological changes. The depreciation and
amortisation expense for future periods is adjusted if
there are significant changes from previous estimates.

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets with
finite useful lives are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount may not be recoverable. The recoverable
amounts of the assets have been determined based on
the higher of fair value and value-in-use calculations.
These calculations require the use of judgement and

estimates.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill (Note 13) is impaired
requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-
generating units to which goodwill has been allocated.
The value in use calculation requires the entity to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the
cash-generating unit and a suitable discount rate in order

to calculate present value.

BREENTE B8
Kr B R 1l
ME- BB KR EEEN)
HAREAERHRZ BT
BE(ME 1) REERA
ERAME K5 REMGEFR
BREER(WA) AEREAT
HEWELREH AEETE
HEHNEE A A LA
PR A HE E M S HIR Z 4
ERBEER - IERAHR
ERASBEUEEZBE
BE - X EERYZ KMk
BMEFFH  SRBARZ
FEREHEERS R UG
ST EBRBEMIEHFE -

AEERERFHOYE -
BELRERETLEE #
B Lk = SR AE O B TR
T EBEZREERTE
WERHETHESZRRZ BE
ZAAEREBEREFER
RERERAEEZRSEE
Eeo xFREARMHE R
R o

2R E
ErEE(HE13)RERE
AL EIEAEZREE
FEUFEREMBE FTEER
BER EEAMGERA
ERESEAEMUEELEZARK
iﬁ@mui& BRI E
FTHEIRE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

3. Critical Accounting Estimates and 3.
JUdgementS (Continued)

3.2 Critical judgments in applying the entity’s
accounting policies

(a) Significant influence over Beijing Linghegu
Online Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Linghegu”)
and Chengdu ZhiWeiXing Network Technology
Co., Ltd. (“ZhiWeiXing”)

The investments in Beijing Linghegu and ZhiWeiXing are
classified as interest in associates (Note 15) although the
Group owns less than 20% ownership interest in these
companies. The Group has significant influence over
these companies by virtue of its contractual right to
appoint director(s) on their respective boards.

4. Revenue and Segment Information 4,

The Group's principal activities are disclosed in Note 1 to these
consolidated financial statements. The Group’s revenue from external

customers recognised during the year is as follows:

B9 8 = 5 14 5 & H B w0

3.2 EAEBRESMBEZIERK
#

a) EXREFERBHLZ R
EREFERAR(TLERZ
AR K& EIEMNEH
BARAERQA(TEN
£)])
ERZERABREREMEZR
BEDBRMNE LR E (W
B G - BEAKEME
B L R20%MN K E R R W HE
B EAKRERESOE
MNEBREEAZLEFEE
T AMEZEQARARE
REE -

WARZEHER

AEETZEBRERGES P B HRERN
e AEEBIBEFES ZWAENF
AEERWT

2015 2014
—E-RF —ZE—OF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR¥TT

PC games PC % &% 345,967 305,760
Mobile games % &) % 5 349,519 153,393
Others [note) HAth (fF3E) 74,139 16,616

769,625 475,769

Note: Others mainly represent miscellaneous revenue derived from game
tournaments organised by the Group, which includes sponsorship
income received.

The chief operating decision-makers (the “CODM"] has been identified
as the executive directors of the Group. The CODM reviews the
Group’s internal reporting in order to assess performance and
allocate resources. The CODM has determined the operating

segments based on these reports.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

4.

Revenue and Segment Information (continued)

The Group's operating activities are previously attributable to a single
reportable and operating segment focusing primarily on online card
and board games development and operation, organising and
broadcasting online to offline mind-sports events, tournaments, TV
shows and contents in the PRC. Further to the acquisition of Peerless
and its subsidiaries (the "Peerless Group”) in 2015 (Note 31), the
Group has expanded its operation outside PRC (primarily in the US
and Gibraltar). Accordingly, segment information is provided on the
basis of geographic areas of operations, being the basis on which the
Group manages its worldwide interests. Revenue is attributable to the
country based on the location of the Group entity reporting the
revenue. Segment profit represents profit earned by each segment
without allocating share-based compensation expense, finance costs,
income tax expense and listing-related expenses.

The Group has a large number of game players, no revenue from any
individual game player or customer exceeded 10% or more of the
Group’s revenue during the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

WARDHER @

REEMNKEER T EEH —@F
—E2ERELESBHAR EEEFRE
PRI RS REMER AR R
BB ESETENES LLERSHEE
BeMRZZ—hFWKEEPeerless & H K
B 1~ &) ([Peerless & & |) (M 5£31) 1% -
AEEEREEBR=ZFHBINEER
TR REMER) Bt BEBELE IR
BIFIEESIHER  BEERKAERE
EEEHBBA A ELE BRENIK
AT BB AR S B E SRS A KR &
FEeonEbFBASDHERDBEARNG
AEMOMESRE  BMBKRAE - FEH
Mk EmiEEERRFEOTE -

AEERBREERIR BE_T—
AFER-_ZTE—WNF+_A=+—HLF
B -HEREEARAEAAESETRKES
RO U A BB AR = B UL A A9 10% 3 BA £ -
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Revenue and Segment Information (continveas 4. Y A & 2 28 & B @)

4,

2015 — Consolidated profit or loss —E-AF—HKEeER
Outside
PRC PRC Unallocated Eliminations Total
P E R % b Ko E i 8 st

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR ARBTRT ARBTR AR®ETR

Revenue
— From external
customers
— From other segments

'ON
—REINBEP

—REH MDA

Reportable segment
revenue

A2HDFHEA

Reportable segment
results

Finance costs

Share-based compensation
expense

2R DIHEE

BB AR
PARR 0 R BT B0 B
B3

Profit before income tax
Income tax expense

B P45 50 A A1 H
Fr iS5 <

Profit for the year

FEFE

Other information

Interest income

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Amortisation of intangible
assets

Share of loss of associates

H & B

A B A

RV &
e

B EEHH

FE(5 B AR B 1R
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

4. Revenue and Segment Information (continueat 4. WA & 2 2B E B @)

2015 — Consolidated assets and liabilities —E-RE—HEEEHEE
Outside
PRC PRC Unallocated Eliminations Total
mE RESESN KO 15 3 @

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR AR®TR ARBTRT ARBTR ARETR

ASSETS EE
Segment assets D ERE E
LIABILITIES afE
Segment liabilities DEBE
Other information His

Non-current assets (other JEREBEE (TR
than financial instruments 4 @ T B MR
and deferred tax assets), MIBEE) 5T A

including:
— Interest in associates —REERFH
T
Additions to non-current RNEFIERB DB
segment assets BEAE(TBE
(other than financial SR TAE KL
instruments and TIEE E) (i aE)
deferred tax assets)
during the year (note)
Note: Additions include those arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries (Note M - ABERREKEHRNBRREENRE (M
31). F31) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

4. Revenue and Segment Information (continued)

b, WARDEHER @

2014 — Consolidated profit or loss —E-NFE-HFEER
Outside
RRE PRC  Unallocated Eliminations Total
A MRS RO BC JHBR st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBFTT AR®ETT ARBFTrT AREBTT AR%®Fx
Revenue from external RE MR P WA K
customers and reportable  A] 2% ZHUA
segment revenue 475,769 — — — 475,769
Reportable segment AE2RDHEE
results 158,437 — — — 158,437
Share-based compensation A B% 17 A& B #Y
expense (A3 = — (29,141) — (29,141)
Listing-related expenses T E R = — (17,697) — (17,697)
Profit before income tax B P 15 %56 A A 111,599
Income tax expense FTS iR X (13,956)
Profit for the year FERNH 97,643
Other information Hb &R
Interest income F 2 M A 12,165 = = — 12,165
Depreciation of property, M BB RZE
plant and equipment e 6,134 — — - 6,134
Amortisation of intangible  #& fiZ & & &k §
assets 12,604 — — — 12,604
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

4. Revenue and Segment Information (continueass 4. WA K 5 2 E B @)

2014 — Consolidated assets and liabilities —_E-NE-SHeEEREE
Outside
PRC PRC  Unallocated Eliminations Total
HE R B3 41 KRR M B #at

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT AR®BTRT ARSTRE ARETIT ARKTE

ASSETS EE
Segment assets DEEE 965,306 = = = 965,306
LIABILITIES 8E&
Segment liabilities DEBEE 75,390 — — — 75,390
Other information Hi &R
Non-current assets (other  3ERENE E (T B IE

than financial instruments % @ T & MIE T

and deferred tax assets), MIBEE) 5T A

including: 73,685 — — — 73,685

— Interest in associates —REEE R EH

1 2= 13,682 — — — 13,682

Additions to non-current RNFEEFERBD F

segment assets BEANE(TBRIE

(other than financial SR T A RIRIE

instruments and MBEE)

deferred tax assets)

during the year 33,033 — — = 33,033
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

5. Other Income

5. Hlg A

2015 2014
—®-5fF —T
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBTT
Other revenue Hit g A

Bank interest income RITH B A 19,962 12,165
Interest income from loans to a third party RKEE=ZFERZHEKA 2,990 —
22,952 12,165

Other net income Hit g A F 8
Subsidy income from government (note) BT 78 B WA (Bt 53D 1,781 3,488
Net foreign exchange gain SN I 25 7 BB = 7,301
Sundry income MIEUA 245 e
2,026 11,233
24,978 23,398

Note: Subsidy income mainly relates to cash subsidies in respect of operating
and development activities from governments which are either
unconditional grants or grants with conditions having been satisfied.

6. Profit for the year

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

6. FEFNHE

M M RATZERAEBARSLHE
EB RS R HR R SRR
RESK B ER B BRI 2 78k o

FEFBIEMGE,GEA) AT EE :

2015 2014
—E-REF —E-WEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR®ET R AR T T

Finance costs B 7 B 2R
Interest charges on bank borrowings AT AT LS 663 =

Employee benefit expenses BEIEANMX

Salaries, bonus and allowances e o B4 R ERL 110,473 69,204
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKEFIET &R 15,321 13,028
Severance payments EBRE 2,689 439
Share-based compensation expense ARt REROM SR 47,915 29,141
176,398 111,812

Other items HE A
Auditors’ remuneration % 2 AN B & 1,837 1,443
Listing-related expenses AR = 17,697
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment #1% - &= &R EiT & 13,377 6,134
Amortisation of intangible assets | B E 36,787 12,604
Provision for doubtful trade receivables B 5 W GRIA R REE 151 2,155
Net foreign exchange loss/(gain) HNEE B HB(Was) /5 88 5,760 (7,301)
Operating lease charges on office premises WA ELEHAEE A 15,027 11,057
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y
7. Income Tax Expense 7. FIEHEAX
2015 2014
—E—FEF —ET—F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
k=2 AR®T R AR®BF T
Current tax B 8 B 1R
Current year N E 29,793 13,756
Under-provision in respect BEFEREETR
of prior year 812 146
30,605 13,902
Deferred tax I AE T 18
Origination and reversal of temporary # I Z 88 8 EE £ K & [E
differences (3,514) 54
Effect on deferred tax balances R-_E—hF—-—H—H
at 1 January 2015 resulting from B = FHEHH R
a change in tax rate MBS T2 (5) =
24 (3,519) 54
Income tax expense FEfmx 27,086 13,956
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

7. Income Tax Expense (continued)

7. FiBHEXZw

The difference between the actual income tax charge in the SGAEZTHRENEBERMGHERB KK
consolidated statement of comprehensive income and the amounts F 38 A 7 B P8 4 BT A1) B A 0% B 7 R 5T
which would result from applying the enacted tax rate to profit before BEEHMRBENZBEEROT

income tax can be reconciled as follows:

2015 2014
—E—FE — T
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT AR T T
Profit before income tax B Pt 15 % A FI 78 139,145 111,599
Tax on profit before income tax, calculated B P15 8 A0 F1E 4 38 (3 48 8 B S
at the statutory rates applicable to profits RUERE R E AN FDEEER X
in the tax jurisdiction concerned tE) 33,583 34,748
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses A MBHRIORBE R 6,255 1,587
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences & ¥R 2 7] 160 BT B 1 = 58 1Y
not recognised IS 2 879 54
Tax effect on preferential income tax rates HRANKMBARMNEBEMSEH
applicable to a subsidiary MENRBTE (14,954) (20,979)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised [ KFER AR E AR EEIE 2
MsTE 2,576 —
Tax effect on super deduction in research and #ff 25 )& E) 1 EH AR M TR IS 52 2
development activities —_ (1,600)
Effect on deferred tax balances at 1 January R_-_ZT—HAF— B —BRAEAMRXEH
2015 resulting from a change in tax rate BYRLEHIBESRNZE (5) —
Under-provision in respect of prior year BEFEREETR 812 146
Others Hh (2,060) =
Income tax expense FBHREX 27,086 13,956
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7.

Income Tax Expense (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Cayman Islands income tax

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly, is exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.

Hong Kong profits tax

Hong Kong profits tax rate is 16.5% for the years ended 31 December
2015 and 2014. Hong Kong profits tax has not been provided as the
Group had no estimated assessable profits in Hong Kong for the years
ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

PRC enterprise income tax

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of its operations in the
PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate on the estimated
assessable profits for the year based on the existing legislation,
interpretations and practices in respect thereof. The applicable income
tax rate is 25%.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, Lianzhong
has renewed and obtained its qualification as a High and New
Technology Enterprise ("HNTE") in 2014 for the three-year period
commencing from October 2014. Lianzhong was also accredited as a "Key
Software Enterprise within National Planning Layout” (B EEHBHA
SHEFRE) in 2013 and enjoyed a preferential income tax rate of 10%
for the year ended 31 December 2014.
preferential income tax rate of 15%.

In 2015, Lianzhong enjoyed

According to relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, enterprises
engaging in research and development activities are entitled to claim
150% of the research and development expenses so incurred as tax
deductible expenses when determining their assessable profits for that
year ("Super Deduction”). Lianzhong has made its best estimate for the
Super Deduction to be claimed in ascertaining their assessable profits
for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

US profits tax

Subsidiaries operating in the US are subject to US federal and state tax
on its assessable profits. The applicable tax rate for federal tax is 34%
whilst the tax rate for state tax of California, the principal place of
business of the Company’s major US subsidiaries is 8.84%. US profits
tax has not been provided as the Group incurred a loss for taxation
purposes for the year ended 31 December 2015.

7. FIBHEXZw

3

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

HEHRSMER

ARARBEREHBRATENFSE
SEMKLIAHREBERAR  BHit#e
BMHESEBMEN -

ERNEH

HE-T—AFR-ZZT—MNF+=A
= +—RLEFE EFAANEHMREE
165%  HRAKBREBEE-_T—AF
F—_E-—NWE+-_A=+—HBILEE
ERBWEMGERRAE AT E
BEBEFEH -

HEREREH

AEBBEEDBEOEBHAELSORR
SHBEGDRERTHEBEE 28
Ko 1B B 3h A 7N F b 5 R A B iR
BRAREFE - ERANAEHERER
25% °

BEFBEMBBAEZEEE  ERBRER
—E—NFEEHRINBERS IR
EX(RHMEMEEDES HRAE=
T—NE+ARAH=F - tRHR
TR -_ZE—=—FEREFBIERBAEM
BRAEZHULE] REE=F—H
F+_A=1T—"HLEFEZZ10%HE
BRE -R_T—RF LRHRERET
15% KB BRI =K o

BIEPBRBEEEER HEWHEED
MEEREBETEZFTERRTFBHE
BRESGFTEEMNTESER®150%EAT
MBAZBEFMANRD - BHEZT
—hAFERZFTE-—NOFE+=ZA=+—H
IEFE - bR RE R T H R
B FELDOMETINERBREL &
EXER

XEREH

REBRLLEHBARARELERH
i 1) 485 409 35 B Bt B R N FR o 3 PR B R AR
KA MARREEEXZEHHE A F
ZEBEEMB AN Z TR 5884% o
HRAEBBEE_T—AFE+=-_A=
+—BLEFEEAFHEEE WAL ER
EHEFERAELEE -

GREBREZERERAE —T-HFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

7. Income Tax Expense (continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(e)  Gibraltar profits tax

Gibraltar profits tax has been provided at the rate of 10% on the
estimated assessable profits for the year ended 31 December 2015.

(f) PRC withholding tax

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the Group is
also liable to a 10% withholding tax on dividends to be distributed from
the Group’s foreign-invested enterprises in the PRC in respect of its
profits generated from 1 January 2008. If a foreign investor incorporated
in Hong Kong meets the conditions and requirements under the double
taxation treaty arrangement entered into between the PRC and Hong
Kong, the relevant withholding tax rate will be reduced from 10% to 5%.

8. Dividends

7. FiBHEXZw

BeE - (&)

(e)

(f)

HEHERANEH

HE-_ZTZ-—RAF+T-_A=T—HLF
B RNEEE S ERBABR10%
TR o

REENH

RIE R EAEARER  AREZARM
FEINEERECEFBAR-_ZZNF
—A—BRELEMHFBER TS IKHR
BEHMI0%RTENH - MR BB MK
VM EEEEREPEHERBT L
WEEREENLHNERERETE  H
PATEF BT R 10%PE E5% ©

2015 2014
—E-EF TN
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
Bt 5% ARBT R ARBFTT

Dividend declared and paid by the Company ~ ZAN2A &8 J& & 3 {7 &9

5]

— Special dividend 2014 — —ZE—HERH
[ ¥s) (a) - 296,498

— Final dividend 2014 — — T FERH
% 8 (b) 50,273 =

Dividend declared and paid by Lianzhong R REIR RSN
B AR B (c) — 3,500
50,273 299,998
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

8. Dividends (continued)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

(c)

(d)

A special dividend amounting to RMB296,498,000 (equivalent to
US$48,566,000) has been proposed, approved and paid to the ordinary
shareholders of the Company during the year ended 31 December 2014.
The preferred shareholders of the Company and Blink Milestones have
waived their entitlement to the special dividend. Blink Milestones is a
company wholly owned and controlled by Mr. Liu Jiang, a controlling
shareholder of the Company. The rates for dividend and the number of
shares ranking for dividends are not presented as such information is
not considered meaningful for the purpose of these financial statements.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2014 of RMB0.064 per share has been declared and
approved by the shareholders at the annual general meeting of the
Company. The 2014 final dividend was paid in Hong Kong dollars at
HK$0.0812 per share, amounting to approximately RMB50,273,000.

Dividends disclosed during the year ended 31 December 2014
represented dividends declared before the Contractual Arrangements
were entered and paid by Lianzhong to its then shareholders. The rates
for dividend and the number of shares ranking for dividends are not
presented as such information is not considered meaningful for the
purpose of these financial statements.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

(b)

(c)

(d)

REBEE-_T—NE+_A=+—HI
FE —HEBER AR 296498000
70 (A8 & 748,566,000 JT) B 5 5l i B
D HETZN T ARANE
BIRAR R o AN R R E S Bk AR B K Blink
Milestones B, H{ 2 7% K 5% & 5 Al AR 2 /Y
#E F| o Blink Milestones & 21 T % 4 (&
RAIEBRBRR) 2 EHEAREFHA
Al REEMERRSHORME B LR

E

BE-_ZTZ—ARF+_-_A=+—8HIt*
B ARAIBRERBRERAFAE SR
EHEBEE-_T—NF+=-_A=+—
ALtEERBREAEETRARE0.064
Lo T —MHERPKRELAFAR0.0812
B AT BEE X B A R 50,273,000
S0

BHE—_ZT-—NF+-_A=+—-HILF
[Z P B0 BR B BB Ty Ab B R B HE
BRERN AR PR A E RIS
BB e B BRI AR S AR D BB I
REN  AZEAMBAMBHRERME
THEEE-

BEETEBRNBE-_T—HF+=
A=+—BLFEZRBEE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

9. Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company

(a]

(b)

Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share for the year is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of
RMB114,351,000 (2014: RMB97,641,000] by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 784,949,124 shares (2014:
600,346,342 shares) in issue during the year, excluding the
ordinary shares purchased by the Company and held as
treasury shares in prior year and cancelled in 2015 (Note
25(vii)).

Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to
assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. For
the year ended 31 December 2015, the Company has one
category of dilutive ordinary shares, being the share option
schemes of the Company (Management Pre-IPO Share Option
Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme), but not on the
share options granted in July 2015 under the 2014 Share Option
Scheme (Note 27(c]) which are considered as anti-dilutive as
the average market price of the ordinary shares of the Company
is less than the exercise price of these share options. For the
year ended 31 December 2014, the Company has two categories
of dilutive ordinary shares, the Series A Preferred Shares and

the Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme.
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2B (M eE27(0c) » BB B A
REEZE  THRARAFEBR
ZEHTEBERZEBERE 2T
FE - BE-_T—NWNF+=-A=+
—BLEFE ARRHEERELE
FEBETENLBR AR E
EREEEBEEAAHABEENE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

9. BRERN @

AAAEBRE
HERER @

(b) Diluted earnings per share (Continued) (b) BREERF (&)

FR - BREFERANDRARQ
%EAFWHHJ/FW\EM
114,351,000t (ZZ — M F: AR
%97,641,00075)%MEHWE§§ 11K
58 A% 0 #E 35 AR 835,461,634 A%

9. Earnings Per Share (continued)
Earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity mEHEBAE
holders of the Company (Continued)

Diluted earnings per share for the year is calculated by dividing
the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company of B ¥ @
RMB114,351,000 (2014: RMB97,641,000] by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares of 835,461,634 shares (2014
688,673,471 shares) in issue during the year, calculated as

follows: (ZZ — M4 : 688,673,471 %) 5t &
s
2015 2014
—E-RF —E-mF
Weighted average number of ordinary shares izt EEGRERNEF 2
for the purpose of basic earnings per share - 38 A% hn A 3 AR B 784,949,124 600,346,342
Adjustment for Series A Preferred Shares HART|E S REH AR = 67,660,274
Adjustment for share option schemes PR EI(E B 50,512,510 20,666,855
Weighted average number of ordinary R EERETRN 2
shares for the purpose of diluted earnings L AR I T AR B
per share 835,461,634 688,673,471

Earnings per share attributable to Series A
Preferred Shares holders of the Company

As detailed in Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Company has completed the issue of 85,714,284 Series A Preferred
Shares to the investors on 10 February 2014. On 30 June 2014, upon
the Listing of the Company on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange
the Series A

Preferred Shares were automatically converted into ordinary shares,

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”), all

on a one-for-one basis. As the Series A Preferred Shares were issued
and fully converted into ordinary shares during the year ended 31
December 2014, earnings per share (basic and diluted) attributable to
Series A Preferred Shares holders of the Company are not presented
as such information is not considered meaningful for the purpose of

these consolidated financial statements.

RRBARIBERIEE AR
EEREAR

WANER A SRR T2 B E - AR
AERN-—_ZE—NME-_A+HEZRARE
E B 7785, 714,284 AR BB Lk o A =
T—WMEXRNA=ZFTH AR2AREFBH
ERGMBRAB([ERZM]) EREM
® FTBEARINEBERE-—RBR-—KRE
EggEnhptak -REBEE-F— W
F+_A=Z+—HLEFE ARJEL
BEFUETERBERALTER &
NAARINELERFBEAEBEERAETR
(BEARBEBUAREY AAEZER
HZEGAMBERERMELIEEE -

¢ REBERERAT —B-HFEFH |45
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments  10. E £ & B % (& & ¥;

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a)

The remuneration of each director disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies [Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors] Regulations for the

years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014 are set out below:

EEFHM

BIE EmRA - BB QRGO E
3BMNEURARE 2D (EERE
FEHBEE) RO BE=_F—1
FRZT—MOMF+=-_A=+—H
LtFE SESHHEZEH W

T

Basic salaries  Retirement
and benefit ~ Share-based
Name of director Fees allowances contribution compensation Total
BExEe EHRER AR 3 &

BEEHH ok 5841 #®3  ERNEMe i
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
iz AR®Tr ARETT ARETR ARBETT ARETT

Year ended 31 December 2015 EHEZE-Z-1 &

TZA=Zt+-BLFE

Executive directors: HITEF:

Mr. Yang Eric Qing BELE (i) - 1,440 7 12,726 14,237

Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank mEREE (i) - 1,644 7 12,726 14,441

Non-executive directors: FHTEE

Mr. Zhang Rongming REHEE (i), (i) = = = - -

Mr. Liu Jiang 2T RS (i) - = = = =

Mr. Fan Tai BREE - = = = =

Mr. Chen Xian Rz L% = = = = =

Independent non-executive BUIMTEE

directors:

Mr. Ge Xuan BIELE 130 - - — 130

Mr. Lu Zhong BRAAE 130 - - - 130

Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David REC KL 203 - - - 203

463 3,084 142 25,452 29,141

Year ended 31 December 2014 HE-_Z—NF

+ZA=+—HItFE

Executive directors: HTEE:

Mr. Zhang Rongming REREEE = = = = =

Mr. Liu Jiang T4 = = = = =

Mr. Yang Eric Qing BERE (i) - 689 63 10,512 11,264

Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank HEIRR % A& (i) - 634 28 10,512 11,174

Non-executive directors: HHTESE

Mr. Fan Tai BELE (iv) - - - - -

Mr. Chen Xian Rz L% (iv) = = = = -

Independent non-executive BUFHITEE -

directors:

Mr. Ge Xuan BIELE (v) 63 - - = 63

Mr. Lu Zhong BRAAE v 63 - - - 63

Mr. Cheung Chung Yan David RE{C KL v 99 = = = 99

225 1,323 91 21,024 22,663

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

(Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

Notes:

(i) Mr. Yang Eric Qing and Mr. Ng Kwok Leung Frank are also the
co-chief executive officer of the Group for the years ended 31
December 2014 and 2015.

(ii) Re-designated from executive directors to non-executive
directors of the Company on 27 March 2015.

li)  Resigned on 5 February 2016.
liv)  Appointed on 7 March 2014.

(v) Appointed on 7 March 2014 with effect upon the Listing.

There were no arrangements under which a director of the
Company waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2014.

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the
Group for the year included two (2014: two) directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis presented above. The
emoluments paid/payable to the remaining three (2014: three)

individuals during the year are as follows:

10.EEHFMEEEEH M@

(a)

(b)

EEHM @

B -

) #HEZZTZ-—NFR-Z—AFT+

ZA=+—BLEFEBELXER
REREE RS B EITHRAE
% o

i) MZE—RAF=A=Z+tHHAAR
ARMITEEEFIE T BIERTT
EExo

lill MRZZFE—R"FE_FAHEE-
livi R-ZT-—NFE=A+tAEZRT-

v, RZZE-—NF=AEREZE-
BEmEER-

BE_Z-—AFE_ZF-—NOF+
“A=t—HALEFE UEITLE
Mz BHEEREXRBENE
EAME -

TE&ESHFMAL

FAXREBREAZSHFMA LD
MEERE(CE—NF - ME)&E
E HEMECRBRREXSH A -
FREMN/BEBABKT=ZE(=2F—
ME: =F) ATHBMEFEINMT

2015 2014
—E-HF —ZE—OF
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARET T ARETT

Basic salaries and allowances HARH & K2R 3,002 1,018
Discretionary bonus BB FE 4L 489 984
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 38 ¥k 48 A 51 2 £ 3% 184 185
Share-based compensation expense VAR 17 & B A Bl & 4,865 5,554

8,540 7,741
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

10. Directors’ and Employees’ Emoluments

(Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

10.EZHFMEEESH M@

(b) EEERSEMA L@

The emoluments fell within the following bands: P <& &6 [ > F LA T A8 B ¢
2015 2014

—B-EfF —E-mF
Emolument bands i < 48 B
Nil-HK$1,000,000 = %1,000,0007% 7T — —
HK$1,000,001-HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 2 1,500,000% 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001-HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T 2 2,500,000/% 7T — 1
HK$2,500,001-HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7% 7t 2 3,000,000/% 7T 2
HK$5,000,001-HK$5,500,000 5,000,001 7% 7T 25,500,000 7T 1 =
HK$6,000,001-HK$6,500,000 6,000,001% 7T & 6,500,000 7% 7T — 1
No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors FAXREBRHERITAESH O

or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office

during the year (2014: nil.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

11. Property, Plant and Equipment

MN.YE BERRE

Furniture
Leasehold Computer and office Motor
improvements  equipment  equipment vehicle Total
HEME BHRR
%1 BiEEE BLOERE AE ok
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRT ARBTRT ARETRT ARBTR
At 1 January 2014 R-—ZE-m&E-HF—H
Cost %N 3,690 38,837 2,115 600 45,242
Accumulated depreciation and 2T ERNEEE
impairment losses (3,383) (31,299) (1,354) (38) (36,074)
Net book amount BREFE 307 7,538 761 562 9,168
Year ended 31 December 2014 BE-Z-—WIF
TZA=+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount FOR@FEE 307 7,538 761 562 9,168
Additions NE 57 5410 3,564 — 9,031
Depreciation e (326) (5,143) (545) (120) (6,134)
Exchange differences EHEE - - (4) - (4)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 38 7,805 3,776 442 12,061
At 31 December 2014 and R-E-DF
1 January 2015 +ZA=+—-HE
—E-RF—-HA—H
Cost XA 3,747 39,927 5,612 600 49,886
Accumulated depreciation and REAFTERRERR
impairment losses (3,709) (32,122 (1,836) (158) (37,825)
Net book amount RMEFE 38 7,805 3,776 442 12,061
Year ended 31 December 2015 BE-Z—-1F
+TZRA=1+—-HLEE
Opening net book amount FHR®FE 38 7,805 3,776 442 12,061
Additions NE 19,271 24,236 4,712 856 49,075
Acquisition of subsidiaries e B B /8 2 A
[Note 31 (BI#E31) 771 4,655 3,218 — 8,644
Disposals & - — (30) (259) (289)
Depreciation e (1,699) (8,674) (2,821) (183) (13,377)
Exchange differences N ERE A 242 173 — 459
Closing net book amount FRE@mFE 18,425 28,264 9,028 856 56,573
At 31 December 2015 R-ZZE—EF
+=ZB=+—H
Cost [N 23,837 61,593 13,503 1,068 100,001
Accumulated depreciation and Rt ERREREE
impairment losses (5,412) (33,329) (4,475) (212) (43,428)
Net book amount RERE 18,425 28,264 9,028 856 56,573
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE
11. Property, Plant and Equipment (continued)

Depreciation charges recognised is analysed as follows:

11.

ME- BERRZREm

ERBTEERATMOT :

2015 2014

—E-FF —ET—-MmF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®T AREFIT

Cost of revenue NN 4,769 4,088
Selling and marketing expenses HERTSHEE R 969 398
Administrative expenses TR 7,599 1,226
Research and development expenses HEEE B 40 422
13,377 6,134
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

12. Intangible Assets 12.8FEE
Game
intellectual
properties, Programmes
Computer  trademark and film  Unfinished Development
software and licenses Brand name rights contracts costs Total
B AE
EE BE HER
BB REFUR REEE  EF¥ME ARREHN B B R A mE
RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB000 RMB’000 RMB000
ARETT ARETRT ARETRT AR%®TT AR%®TT ARBTR ARETR
At 1 January 2014 R-Z-NE—-A—H
Cost AR 6,586 51,118 — - - 5,677 63,381
Accumulated amortisation and 2 5+ 34 KR (E B 18
impairment losses (2,452) (17,611) - - - — (20,063)
Net book amount REFEE 4,134 33,507 - - - 5,677 43318
Year ended 31 December HE-_Z-ME
2014 +=A=+-H
LEE
Opening net book amount FONREFE 4,134 33,507 - - - 5,677 43,318
Transfers B = 8,665 = = = (8,665) =
Additions NE 2,176 2,367 — - — 12,777 17,320
Written off 1 85 - (92) - - - - (92)
Amortisation 45 (1,326) (11,278) - - - - (12,604)
Closing net book amount FREEMFE 4,984 33,169 — — — 9,789 47,942
At 31 December 2014 and R-E-N%F
1 January 2015 +-A=+t-8k
—Z-1f
==
Cost B 8,762 61,176 - - - 9,789 79,727
Accumulated amortisation and 2 &+ 34 KR (E B 18
impairment losses (3,778) (28,007) - - - - (31,785)
Net book amount REFEE 4,984 33,169 - — - 9,789 47,942
Year ended 31 December HE-_Z-1f
2015 +=A=+-H
tEE
Opening net book amount FYERMFE 4,984 33,169 - - - 9,789 47,942
Transfers o - 14,812 - - - (14,812) -
Additions NE 1,236 8,409 - 30,539 - 27,894 68,078
Acquisition of subsidiaries W I8 2 7
(Note 31) (P =E31) 376 - 93,303 25,266 28,166 - 147,111
Amortisation B (1,961 (14,671) (6,374) (5,501) (8,280) - (36,787)
Exchange difference [ERZEE 22 - 5,550 1,137 1,524 - 8,233
Closing net book amount FARE@FE 4,657 41,719 92,479 51,441 21,410 22,871 234,577
At 31 December 2015 R-B-1F
+=A=t+-H
Cost A 10,397 84,397 99,093 57,092 29,914 22,871 303,764
Accumulated amortisation and 2 5T 2 34 KR (E &5 1B
impairment losses (5,740) (42,678) (6,614) (5,651) (8,504) - (69,187)
Net book amount REFEE 4,657 41,719 92,479 51,441 21,410 22,871 234,577
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE
12. Intangible Assets (continued)

The development costs represented all direct costs incurred in the
development of webgames, mobile games and software products.

12. B EE @w

REBERAERBEER BB ERREM
EmPEELENMBERNKA -

Amortisation charges recognised is analysed as follows: CDHEREHEERINTWOT
2015 2014
—E-HF —ZE—OF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBT T
Cost of revenue N 21,095 12,233
Selling and marketing expenses HERTHHEEER 30 30
Administrative expenses THHEX 15,612 298
Research and development expenses ot 2% & A 50 43
36,787 12,604

13. Goodwill 13. B &

The carrying amount of goodwill mainly arose from the acquisition of
the Peerless Group during the year ended 31 December 2015 (Note
31). The net carrying amount of goodwill can be analysed as follows:

EHEREEFrERREREBEE_ZT—AF
+Z A=+ —H1EFE WK FEPeerless &
E (ff5E31) - B EREFEISTOT ¢

2015 2014

—E-EF —T-mF

RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBTT

At 1 January Rn—A—H — —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) W B Bt 8 2 =) (B =E31) 91,733 -
Net exchange differences ME X, = 5 R (E 5,679 -
At 31 December R+—_A=+—8H 97,412 —

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

13. Goodwill (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill, net of any impairment loss, is
allocated to the cash generating unit of the online card and board
game development and operation, organizing and broadcasting online

13.B & w)

Rz REENBREARERSR)ZN
3R (R 3 ) BC B N R R AR R
ﬁﬁ~@%&%MﬁL@T@ﬂm§%

to offline mind-sports events, tournaments, TV shows and contents in B LERERGBEZEESEA BN
the following geographical area:

2015 2014
—E-HF —ZE—OF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARBF T
In PRC B 5 A 200 —
Outside PRC SSRETR: RN 97,212 —
97,412 —

The recoverable amounts of goodwill relating to the operations
outside PRC, primarily in the US and Gibraltar, were determined
based on value-in-use calculations, using an annual cash flow budget
plan covering a five-year period with estimated long-term growth rate
of 2.3% per annum for the operation. A discount factor of 16.0% per
annum was applied in the value in use model. The recoverable
amounts of goodwill relating to the operations in the PRC were
determined based on value-in-use calculations, using an annual cash
flow budget plan covering a three-year period for the operations. A
discount factor of 5.0% per annum was applied in the value in use

model.

The key assumptions include stable profit margins, which have been
determined based on the expectations for market share after taking
into consideration current economic environment and market
forecast. The directors believe that any reasonably possible change in
the key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts are based
would not cause the carrying amounts of the units to exceed their
respective aggregate recoverable amounts.

HARRNEBEREXBEREMER)E
SHBZEEZAIRKSBREERE
E O RABFEERPFERE23%
ZEFHFEREREREABEE -
EREEEAMERZFRAXS160
EOE¢E%W%EH@ZWETW@
THEREEAEEAHE RA=ZFH2
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁéﬁ#ﬁ%%E EREE
BAERZFRBEERR[E0E -

TEBRREBREEM 8N TIRIE
REBRBLBERZEL TSR S
MHEEEXBEE -EFTRAAUKEEER
ERZEMEIEBRRELEABAALE
FHTEEHEMNFAEERT K@
B
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE
14. R B 2 B RV =

RZEBE—RE+_A=+—"BXTEWESE

14. Interests in Subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2015 are

as follows: NAFBEWT :
Country/Place and Issued and
date of incorporation/ paid in capital/ Equity Principal activities and

Name of company establishment Type of legal entity registered capital interestheld place of operation
MRS FR ERITREM
DR ER Bx/12%RAH EAER EX/EMER HERE TEXRREESH
Directly held by the Company
ARARERESR
Lianzhong Holdings Hong Kong/ Limited liability 100 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited 18 December 2013 company
BRER(ER)ERRAF 4 BEREERA 10088 & 58 Ak KEZR
—ZT—=%
+ZA+NH
Noble Link Global Limited British Virgin Islands/ Limited liability 100 ordinary shares 100%  Investment holding
5 May 2015 company
EEAEBRES/ EREERA 1008 & @M REZR
—“Z2-AF¥AAEA
Indirectly held by the Company
ARRBEEER
WFOE PRC/ Limited liability US$350,000 100%  Provision of computer related
21 January 2014 company technical support, in PRC
SEBELE hE/ BEREERA 350,000 7T R BIBR (R E % AR A BT
—E—mF IR
—RA=+—H
Lianzhong PRC/ Limited liability RMB?72,000,000 100%  Development and operation of
23 March 1998 company online card and board games,
in PRC
A hE/ BEREEAA AR #572,000,0007C NGENGE 9 8 3 teLe 8
—AANF iz
=A=+=H
Shanghai Yaozhong Culture PRC/ Limited liability RMB2,000,000 51%* Provision of cultural events
Broadcast Co., Ltd. 6 July 2012 company organization and consulting
services, in PRC
LERBRESH U EE hE/ BEREERA A FE % 2,000,000 7T R BRI BB EB R H A
BEREMERA —E-ZH+tARH AR
Lianzhong International BvI/ Limited liability US$1,780,000 100%  Provision of advisory services,
Company Limited 11 July 2011 company in BVI
G RERERAR HERARRES/ EREERA 1,780,000 7T REBEBRES
—E——F+tAT+—H R 4B AR 7S
Shanghai Lianzhong Garden PRC/ Limited liability RMB10,000,000 100%  Mobile games operation, in PRC
Computer Technology Co., Ltd. 23 October 2013 company
LB R R E E KB hE/ BEREERA AR #10,000,0007T R BE B B
BEREERA —T-=F
+A=+=A
Nanjing Shouyou Interactive PRC/ Limited liability RMB5,000,000 100%  Mobile games operation, in PRC
Network Co., Ltd. 24 February 2014 company
ARENEDRERERAT HhE/ BEREERA A F #5,000,0007T P BLE R B
—E-|mF
= H=AmE
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

14. FA M BB 2 B BV RE &= ()

14. Interests in Subsidiaries (continued)

Country/Place and Issued and
date of incorporation/ paid in capital/ Equity Principal activities and
Name of company establishment Type of legal entity registered capital interest held place of operation
MR R BRTRES
DNEEE BxR 2R AH EAER Ex/AMEER HARE ZEEREREELH
Indirectly held by the Company
(Continued)
AR HERER (B
Tianjin Zhangzhongshangku PRC/ Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100%  Mobile games development and
Technology Co., Ltd. 9 April 2014 company operation, in PRC
REZFHENRARAH hE/ BREERA AR ¥ 1,000,000 7T RABERERELBHER
“Z-mEMANR
Tianjin Wanlianshifang PRC/ Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100%  Mobile games development and
Technology Co., Ltd. 9 April 2014 company operation, in PRC
REBBTIHEARAR hE/ BEREERA A #1,000,0007C RABERERELBEEE
—E-mEMANR
Tianjin Juxian Tongchuang PRC/ Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100%  Mobile games development and
Technology Development Co., Ltd. 31 October 2014 company operation, in PRC
REBERABNKERERAR  HE/ BEREERA A E#1,000,0007C RPBERERELBBER
—Z2-mE
TA=+—H
Tianjin Miaoshou Kuyou PRC/ Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100%  Mobile games development and
Information Technology Co., Ltd. 31 October 2014 company operation, in PRC
RRPFREFLBMERAT  HE/ BEREERA A E#1,000,0007C RPBERERELBBER
—Z2-mE
TA=+—H
Tianjin Shouyou Shikong PRC/ Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100%  Mobile games development and
Information Technology Co., Ltd. 31 October 2014 company operation, in PRC
REEEREEERMAERRA  HE/ BEREERA A E#1,000,0007C RPBERERELBBER
—T-pmEF
TA=+—H
Tianjin Lianzhong Yidong Technology PRC/ Limited liability RMB10,000,000 100%  PC and mobile games development
Development Co., Ltd. 11 November 2014 company and operation, in PRC
REHBRYPBBERERAA  HE/ BEREERA AR % 10,000,000 7T RPBRERESERRBDE
—T-pmEF 4
+-A+-A
Tianjin Lianzhong Enjoyment PRC/ Limited liability RMB100,000,000 100%  Mobile games development and
Technology Development Limited 4 December 2014 company operation, in PRC
REHBELBREBERERAT  HE/ BEREERA A EE #100,000,000 7T RPBERERELBBER
—Z-mE+-AWEA
Dalian Zhangzhong Youshi PRC/ Limited liability RMB1,000,000 100%  Mobile games development and
Technology Development Co., Ltd. 9 December 2014 company operation, in PRC
REZFEAMBERERAF hE/ BREERA AR ¥ 1,000,000 7T RABERERELBHER
—E-EE+=ANA
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

14. Interests in Subsidiaries (continued) 14. A K B A B 1Y #E &= )

Country/Place and Issued and
date of incorporation/ paid in capital/ Equity Principal activities and
Name of company establishment Type of legal entity registered capital interest held place of operation
AR BRTRES
DR ERB BxR/1ERAH EAER BEX/AMER HERE FEXRREESH
Indirectly held by the Company
(Continued)
AR HERER (B
Tianjing Zhongqui Weiye PRC/ Limited liability RMB10,000,000 100%  Mobile games development and
Development Co., Ltd. 30 January 2015 company operation, in PRC
AETHEXBERREARAE  HE/ BREERA AR 10,000,007 B EER LR
“Z-Hf¥—-A=tH
Beijing Lianzhong Zhiyu PRC/ Limited liability RMB1,000,000 52.9%* Mobile games development and
Technology Co., Ltd. 24 March 2015 company operation, in PRC
L RERERBBRER AT hE/ BEREERA AR 1,000,000 7T R BERERELB B
“E-hfF
=A=-tmH
Beijing Wangyu Lianzhong PRC/ Limited liability RMB30,000,000 70%* Operation of an internet cafe,
Internet Service Co., Ltd. 12 August 2015 company in PRC
LA A R E R A hE/ BBREERA A R #30,000,0007C R ERE—RBE
RBAEBRRA “ZE-AFNAA+=H
Peerless Media Limited Gibraltar/ Limited liability 2,200 ordinary shares 100%  Television production,
27 September 2004 company brand licensing and tour
management, in Gibraltar
= BEREERA 2,200 & B REMEREEERATHME
—ZTT MR R LB R
=
Club Service Inc. us/ Limited liability 1 ordinary share 100%  PC and mobile games development
3 March 2010 company and operation, in US
X8/ BEREERA 1R B Ak REBRBERELEMRBEE
—T-Z£=H=H I8
WPT Enterprise Inc. us/ Limited liability 1 ordinary share 100%  Television production,
16 October 2009 company brand licensing and tour
management, in US
X8/ BEREERA 1R B Ak REBREERATEE
—ZEThETATRA MR R LB
* The directors of the Company consider that the non-controlling interests * FARAEERRNZEEMBLAAZ

in each of these subsidiaries during the years ended 31 December 2014
and 2015 were not individually material to the Group and thus no
separate financial information of each of these non-wholly owned
subsidiaries are presented.

FERERRBE_T-—NFER-T
—hRET A=t RLEFREERY
AEEMELAEKN M RREZES
F2EMBRREB2IMBER -

The English name of certain companies referred herein represent AWKFIRAMEOE T 2R KA TS

management’s best effort at translating the Chinese names of these HEERERRAZSNARTARZT

companies as no English name has been registered. &R AR 2R B H I ARRTE R A
i o
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

15. Interest in Associates 15. REEE N AN ER
2015 2014
—E—_RE —E— O
RMB’000 RMB’'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Share of net assets DIMEEFE 5,000 1,840
Goodwill & 8,768 11,842

13,768 13,682
As at 31 December 2015, the Group had interests in the following RZE—HF+-_A=+—H x&H
associates, all of which are considered not individually material to the BELNTHRAEBHAER T TE X
Group: BB & A R

Attributable equity

Country of interest held Principal activities and
Name of company establishment Paid in capital by the Group place of operation
AEBFEAEN
NCIECE R K E R BHRAK Bz FTEXBRELHH
Beijing Linghegu (note a) PRC RMB1,731,429 14.21% Provision of technology

development and

consultation services,

in PRC
IERERR (M 5Ea) & AR#1,731,429 7T T R B B2 (5 1l ) 3
Ko 78 8 AR 7%

Tianjin Huandu Network PRC RMB6,083,000 35.0% Operation of billiards
Technology Co., Ltd business and development
("Tianjin Huandu”) (note b) of mobile games, in PRC

REBEBHRMRBBE AR FEH A R #6,083,000 7T R B E B IRER R
(TRZEE]) (M 5Eb) R B B

ZhiWeiXing (note c] PRC RMB1,000,000 15.0% Mobile game development

and operation, in PRC

EME (Mte) 7B A R #1,000,000 7T 17 R B 2

EEB BB

GREBREZERERAE —T-HFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

15. Interest in Associates (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c]

(d)

The Group retains significant influence over Beijing Linghegu
through representation on their board. During the year ended
31 December 2015, the revenue sharing for licensed games
paid/payable to Beijing Linghegu amounted to RMB109,000 (2014:
RMB395,000).

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group's interest
in Tianjin Huandu was further increased from 17.0% to 35.0%
upon the additional capital contributions made by the Group for
an amount of RMB3,000,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has
acquired 15.0% equity interests in ZhiWeiXing at a cash
consideration of RMB2,000,000. The Group retains significant
influence over ZhiWeiXing through representation on their
board.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group's interest
in Beijing Wei'a Times Technology Co., Ltd ("Beijing Wei'a"] was
further increased from 6.0% to 10.0% upon the additional
capital contributions made by the Group for an amount of
RMB2,455,000. Previously, the Group retained significant
influence over Beijing Wei'a through representation on their
board. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the significant
influence was lost upon additional contributions made by the
new investors and the Group no longer have the right nor have
any representation on their board. Accordingly, the Group has
re-classified the investment of RMB6,137,000 to available-for-
sale financial assets and the financial effect on the deemed
disposal during the year is considered to be immaterial.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

15. REEE DN BRI R @)

(a)

(b)

(c]

(d)

REBEZEANEEZTERERR
HItRZRABRRBEATE -HE
- RAF+_A=+—HBILF
B RTEREMS/EAILERTR
B A D B AR 109,000 (=
T —OF : AR¥3950007T) °

HE-_ZT—AF+=-A=+—H
EFE RAEBBEINEEAR
#3,000,000T & - AE B R X E
BENREMRITINE —FSENE
35.0% °

HE-_ZT—AF+=-A=+—H
HEE AEEURERBARE
2,000,000 7T 4 & 5 T £15.0% &) %
o AEEBZRREEZTSRLR
RUEMERBEATE -

HE-_ZT—AF+=-A=+—H
LEFE RAEBEIINIEARE
2,455,000 % - A& E R IL R4 M
BRI AR QA ([ =AM ]) &
% #E /1 6.0% 3% hN = 10.0% ° 5 B &
BREZEFSREAEX  AEEY
ERBEMNRBERAFE N -HEZ
E-—AFEt+-_A=t—BILFEE"
HRFEEEBINEE  AEEX
EEAFEHBETBEERESE

gREFRMREK - Bt ~&5E
B ARE6137000 2R EEHH
HEAHLESREE ARAE
HFARELEZH B EL T
EK
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AR A B TS R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE - %

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

15. Interest in Associates (continued)

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually material: I FE 8 Bl & K 2 Bk & 1x B B 48 & #Y
2015 2014
—E-AF —E—UF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBET T
Aggregate carrying amount of individually REEMBHREALIFERNERZ
immaterial associates in the consolidated Brd N A 2 RREE B
financial statements 13,768 13,682
Aggregate amounts of the Group’s share REBELZERE QA
of those associates: THIRIEZ AR
Loss and total comprehensive loss FREERZHEEBERERE
for the year 1,232 —

16. Loans to a Third Party

The loans to a third party are interest-bearing at

12% per annum,

wholly repayable in 2018 and secured by unlisted equity interest in a

company incorporated in the PRC. The carrying amount of the

amounts due approximate its fair value.

16. 8 FE=ZHFEXK

BFE=ZTERAFNXI12%E A
R-F-N\FEHEERARTEMKL
M—FHARZIFLmER %1*1% B B
HZEEEERERAERS

17. Inventories 17. 78
2015 2014
—E-AF —E-MEF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBT T
Finished goods X & 1,928 1,581
For the year ended 31 December 2015, the cost of inventories BE_ZT—RAF+_A=+—H8It#F

recognised as expense and included in selling and marketing
expenses amounted to RMB2,304,000 (2014: RMB2,532,000).

B HBRAATHNEERAFTAHEERK
MZHEEE A DB A AR ¥2304,0007T
—ZT 4 AR#2532,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

18. EZ R H it fE UK FN 1B

18. Trade and Other Receivables

2015 2014
—ZE—HF — O
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
st AR® T AREFIT
Trade receivables B 5 EWRRE (a)
From third parties EWE=7H 165,235 100,259
Less: provision for impairment B 5 R R IR R B
of trade receivables (2,889) (2,738)
162,346 97,521
Other receivables H {th fE W 518 (b)
Deposits, prepayments and Be  BNFHIEREAM
other receivables JE U T I8 91,366 27,846
Advances to employees Mg B EH E’J*’%A 12,376 1,324
Amounts due from shareholders & U % 3R R T — 17
Amount due from an associate FE Uy — B 2 N B U 1,500 600
Loan to a related party & TRAEE 5 E X 8,217 -
Interest receivables JE U FI) B, 4,051 4,214
117,510 34,001
Less: provision for impairment R EL At R AR T R (B 5
of other receivables (1,000) (1,000)
116,510 33,001
278,856 130,522

The directors of the Group considered that the fair values of trade and

other receivables are not materially different from their carrying

amounts because these amounts have short maturity periods on their

inception.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

. +
18. Trade and Other Receivables (continued) 18. B 5 K H tb FE WK H ()
(a) Trade receivables (a) EZERFE
Trade receivables were arising from the operation of online B 5 MW FTE R B 1E 4R 8 0E B
card and board games. The credit terms of trade receivables XK - BRTOoHEEERINHER
granted to distribution channels and payment vendors are MESZRKBKARENEERRS A
usually 30 to 90 days. Ageing analysis based on recognition date JVHENR -RNB|EEHREZ S
of the gross trade receivables at the reporting dates is as ERFERENERE B ZRER
follows: AT :
2015 2014
—E-RE —E-MmE
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARET T

0-30 days 0ZF30H 40,426 15,729
31-60 days 31E60H 20,240 16,303
61-90 days 612 90H 15,474 13,013
91-180 days 912180 H 32,029 23,622
181-365 days 1812365 H 44,833 28,944
Over 1 year i1 F 12,233 2,648

165,235 100,259
The movement in the provision for impairment of trade BN EREREESHOT :

receivables is as follows:

2015 2014
—E-REF —E-E
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T ARBTT

Balance at the beginning of the year F S 2,738 583
Provision for impairment B B 151 2,155
Balance at the end of the year F R 2,889 2,738
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AR A B TS R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE
18. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

(a) Trade receivables (Continued)

At each reporting date, the Group reviews for evidence of
impairment on both an individual and collective basis. As at 31
December 2015, the Group has determined trade receivables of
RMB151,000 (2014: RMB2,155,000) as individually impaired.
Based on this assessment, provision for impairment loss has
been recognised accordingly and has been included in
“administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. The impaired trade receivables are due
from distribution channels and payment vendors experiencing
financial difficulties that were in default or delinquency of
payments. The Group did not hold any collateral as security or
other credit enhancements over the impaired trade receivables,
whether determined on an individual or collective basis.

The ageing analysis of the Group’s trade receivables that were
past due as at the reporting date but not impaired, based on
due date is as follows:

18. E 5 & H ftt FE WL FXIE )

(a)

g 5 EWFEIE @)

REREBH  ANEECEH@EF
MERBENEE R-_T—HF
+T-A=+—B AEBETES
FEWZENERRES B AAR
B 151,000 (Z T —WMF : ARME
2,155,0007T) ° R {E M BT - BE
BEBEEEEBRRALEFALKAE
PEREXRTEHRAX] - ERERN
ZEHMEFEDEERNM KR
HEREHEREMIHER  ED
FIERAAR  REBMI AR E RE
K Z 5 U 5K IE (1 3 8 Bl sk 2 @
EE)RAEEMERRERRIE
fih {5 PRI 4 -

AEENEZERKRFBERESH
HeBaBERRE RIBANK
o

2015 2014
—B-FHF C-T-@F
RMB'000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETTT

1-90 days past due BHE1ER 40,412 30,458
91-180 days past due #HEI91=180H 25,301 21,091
181-365 days past due B HI181 2 365H 35,373 8,637
Over 1 year past due i HR R F 9,345 -

110,431 60,186

As at 31 December 2015, trade receivables that were neither
past due nor impaired were RMB51,915,000 (2014:
RMB37,335,000). These related to a number of distribution
channels and payment vendors for whom there was no recent
history of default.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE = F

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

18. Trade and Other Receivables (continued)

(a)

(b)

Trade receivables (Continued)

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related
to a number of distribution channels and third-party payment
vendors that had a good track record of credit with the Group.
Based on past credit history, management believe that no
impairment allowance is necessary in respect of these balances
as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered to be fully recoverable. The
Group does not hold any collateral in respect of trade

receivables past due but not impaired.

As at 31 December 2015, 44% (2014: 86%) of trade receivables
are due from three (2014: three) major distribution channels
and payment vendors in cooperation with the Group’s online

card and board games business.

Other receivables

Advances to employees mainly represent advances for various
expenses to be incurred in the ordinary course of business.
These advances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Loan to a related party is unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand. The loan was made to a key management
personnel of the Company and the amount has been fully repaid
in March 2016.

There were no movement in the provision for impairment of
other receivables during the years ended 31 December 2014
and 2015.

18. E 5 &k H ftt FE WL FX3E )
g 5 EWRIE @)

(a)

(b)

ERHERRENE S EKRKE
ﬁ$%l%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ%£ﬁm%
ERENE=ZTXNHEFREH -
REBEEELHE BEERSA
REREEEEXRIARELEERE
B % EE RN AE A BB
B - i 878 5 52 5 A R R AR AR
BEE FNEBTARBEEBHAAR
WAE B 5 e WK IE 5 A (AR
e

RZTE—RAF+=_A=+—8"
L% (T — P04 : 86%) M E 5 &
WHRBEBDERE=ZR(ZE—NH
F=ZR)HEREE G L RE M
BEBEGENETEHERERY
RS

H fth /& W K18

FMESFELNBREIEENAEF
EBBRETMELSERAINR
ReREBRREBER 28HA
BREREE -

J& Uo — e Bk 22 1 AR
R BAERERER

Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ

BT — 2B 2 ERAEER
RERREKER ZERETA
ARAIEFEBTEREAES - HZFED
RZTE—A"F=ZREBHEE-

HE_ZT—NFEFER-_ZT—HF T+
—A=+—HBLFE EMERKRX
EREREREZES -

GREBREZERERAE —T-HFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

19. Available-for-sale Financial Assets

9. AHHESHEE

2015 2014
—E-RF —E -4
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET R ARET T
Included in non-current assets FTAERBEE
Unlisted equity investments, at cost less FELETRAIRE - BAAMER
impairment losses A E 1R 63,453 15,435
Included in current assets FARBEE
Unlisted trust funds, at fair value FEETMETES EHAAE 20,000 20,000
Unlisted equity investments, at cost less EETMRARKRE - LA AR
impairment losses WEEE = 5,000
20,000 25,000
83,453 40,435

The directors determined that the fair value of the unlisted trust funds

as issued by financial institutions are not materially different from the

carrying amount as stated above. The unlisted equity investments are

stated at cost less impairment losses as these investments do not

have quoted market prices in an active market and the range of

reasonable fair value estimates are so significant that the directors of

the Company are of the opinion that its fair value cannot be measured

reliably.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

20. Bank Balances and Cash

20. RITHEBRE S

2015 2014
—E-HF —ET—F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

Cash at bank and on hand BTREFERS 115,612 67,477
Term deposits with banks FHISRITER 193,057 651,502
Structured term deposits with banks EBUERITERER 40,000 =
Bank balances and cash per the consolidated 4R & BA AR R A IR 1T

statement of financial position EH MR e 348,669 718,979
Term deposits with banks with original REBAREB=MEA

maturities exceeding 3 months ZEHRITER (193,057) (351,636)
Cash and cash equivalents per the FeRenEXRFHES

consolidated statement of cash flows RBEELZEEY 155,612 367,343

The Group’s major subsidiaries are based in the PRC and majority of
their transactions are denominated in RMB. Included in bank
balances and cash of the Group is RMB132,309,000 (2014:
RMB96,165,000) of bank balances denominated in Renminbi placed
with banks in the PRC. The conversion of RMB into foreign currencies
is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government. As of 31 December 2015 and
2014, other than the restriction from exchange control regulations,

there is no significant restriction on the Group.

As at 31 December 2015, structured term deposits are principal-
protected yield enhancement bank deposits which are fully withdrawn
upon the maturity which carries effective interest rate at 1.8% per
annum at the end of the reporting period and with original maturities

not exceeding three months (2014: nil).

AEEETZEHNHBRARBMRPE ' B
EXBHORBUAARETE AEED
RITHEB RIS BIET RN+ AR
TUAARKEFE 2 AR132,309,0007T
(ZZE—MF : AR¥96,165,0007T) A iR
THER - ARM N IRINE Z 2 BT
BEHAINEE TG RBENERE - B
—E-REERZZE—HWE+ZRAR=4+—
B - B X E SNE E FI &6 E R &SN - AR
SEVEBBTMERRS -

RZB-—HF+-A=+—H &HBML
EMFERASRHRE B RIRI 8% ER
MEFR - NTEHETEE=MEA (=
TE:E) RIAEASBURRZ
RAMWERIERRITFER
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

=+
21. Trade and Other Payables 2. EZ R HMWENKIE
2015 2014
—E-FF —E M
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5 AR®T R AR®BF T
Trade payables B ZEARE
To third parties ERNE=R 22,021 25,769
To an associate JE T — B & X A 258 20
(a) 22,279 25,789
Other payables H th fE 3 R IE
Receipts in advance T8 W R IE 1,291 428
Other payables and accrued charges HE i fEfRIBE R TEIREH 25,901 6,693
Other tax liabilities HHBRIE 3,100 3,103
Staff costs and welfare accruals Ta1R B TR A K& 4& 7 18,202 8,235
Deferred income related to B B BT 8 B & 89 IR TE A
government grants 763 B8E)
49,257 18,792
71,536 44,581
All amounts are short-term and hence the carrying values of trade FrBERBEAHAEH At - R=ZF—1
and other payables as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 were considered FR-_ZE—NF+_A=+—HZES
to be a reasonable approximation of its fair value. REMENRENREERRARARE
ZEBKHE -
(a) Trade payables (a) BEZEARIE
Trade payables primarily related to the purchase of services for B HEMHTEE ZEG AR T
server custody, outsourcing game development and the revenue T NBEEABERBESEAE
sharing of licensed and third-party operated PC games and BERETFEERE = FEEPC
which is payable to cooperated game developers according to BRENHEENRASKER -

respective cooperation agreements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

21. Trade and Other Payables (continued)

(a) Trade payables (Continued)

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on recognition date

21. EZ R HMENKE @

(a) B Z FEAFE @)

B EMNRIBRER B B RER

is as follows: ST
2015 2014
—®2-1% —TmE
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T ARBT T
0-30 days 0£30H 12,092 10,986
31-60 days 312 60H 4,452 10,043
61-90 days 61290H 2,783 1,440
91-180 days 912180 H 822 1,329
181-365 days 181%E365H 448 1,750
Over 1 year HBiE—F 1,682 241
22,279 25,789

22. Other Non-Current Receivable/Payable

22. H fb 3k R B B W R IR

£
FE 1% X I8

2015 2014
—E-EHF —E—HF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR AR T T

Non-current receivable 3E 7% Bh PE WL R IE
Current portion BOHEA &6 2 3,241 =
Non-current portion JEBNEAEB 29,895 =
33,136 —

Non-current payable I Eh FE S R IE
Current portion BV HA & 5> 3,241 -
Non-current portion FERNEREL 29,895 —
33,136 —
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZE = F

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

22. Other Non-Current Receivable/Payable

(Continued)

In 2015, the Group has acquired the non-current receivable and
payable through the acquisition of Peerless Group (Note 31). Other
non-current payable represents a contingent consideration payable to
a third party by Peerless and a subsidiary of bwin.party digital
entertainment plc (“bwin.party”) for the then acquisition of the WPT
brand in 2009 and subsequent buy-out in 2012 of the contingent
revenue share element. Subject to certain conditions, including
subsequent changes in legislation in the US, the maximum aggregate
contingent consideration payable by Peerless and bwin.party’'s
subsidiary amounted to US$6,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB42,208,000).

As at 31 December 2015, other non-current payable represents the
directors’ current best estimate of the amount payable which they
consider is likely to be paid within and after twelve months from the
reporting date, after the effects of discounting at the effective interest
rate of 10.3%. The directors of the Group consider that the fair values
are not materially different from their carrying amounts. As at 31
December 2015, there has been no change in the amount recognised
since its acquisition (except for unwinding of the discount and
exchange differences of approximately RMB1,330,000 and
RMB1,859,000 respectively) and the non-discounted book value for
the contingent consideration amounted to approximately
US$6,119,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB39,734,000).

Pursuant to the relevant share purchase agreement, the selling
shareholder of Peerless Group (the “Seller’] and bwin.party (the
“Seller’s Guarantor”, a company listed on the London Stock Exchange)
had contractually agreed to indemnify the Group against any loss and
undertake the repayment of all liabilities in connection with the
contingent consideration payable as detailed above. In this respect,
the Group has recognised an indemnification asset as other non-
current receivable at an amount equivalent to the fair value of the

indemnified liability.
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

23. Deferred Revenue 23. IR E WA
Deferred revenue represented service fees prepaid by the game BRI AR AN & B 84 2 B A 15 B3 R
players for the Group’s online games in the forms of prepaid game BN EE R EHEERERYSD
cards, Virtual Currencies and virtual goods, for which the related FABAMNOREE MAEERNRER
services had not been rendered at the reporting dates. By R IR AE R AR AS o
24. Deferred Taxation 24, 3 3E Bi 18
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is as BEERBEERTEERBAGD TN
follows: TS ¢
2015 2014
—B-EfF —T O
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR ARETT

Deferred tax assets RERIEE E (583) (104)
Deferred tax liabilities ELERBRE 10,637 —
10,054 (104)

The gross movement of deferred income tax account is as follows: BEWARIER 2 BZEWT
2015 2014
—E-RE —ET-F
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR®BTR ARETT

At the beginning of the year F 17 (104) (158)
Exchange differences ME N, = 716 —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (Note 31) Yo B BT I8 2 R) (PR 31) 12,961 —
Recognised in profit or loss Mgz R (3,514) 54
Effect on deferred tax balances at 1 January R-_Z—HAF— A —HEMRXEF)

2015 resulting from a change in tax rate BRREERIBAESRNTE (5) —
At the end of the year FR 10,054 (104)
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24. Deferred Taxation (continued) 24. iE 3E B 18 (4

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the
year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances
within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Deferred tax liabilities

RERNBELEHEEENEH R R HE
A—HBAEEERANNEREHE) W
T

EER AR E

Fair value
adjustment
on business
combination

EL =gt
AREFAE

RMB'000
ARTT
At 1 January 2014 and RZE—ME—HA—BRK

31 December 2014 “E-HmE+-A=+—H —
Exchange differences ME 3, = &R 716
Acquisition of subsidiaries W BE B B A ) 12,961
Recognised in profit or loss REHE PR (3,040)
At 31 December 2015 R=-—ZF-RF+=-HA=+—A8 10,637

Deferred tax assets EEMIEE E
Provision
for impairment
of receivables

P FhE

WERE

RMB'000

ARETT

At 1 January 2014 R-Z—ME—HF—H 158

Recognised in profit or loss RiEZPER (54)

At 31 December 2014 R-ZB-HE+-_A=+—H 104

Recognised in profit or loss M8 R 474
Effect on deferred tax balances at 1 January 2015 HREREPHUHR -_T—FHF—HF—BH

resulting from a change in tax rate EETIBAS & 5

At 31 December 2015 R=Z2-HF+=A=+—H 583
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24. Deferred Taxation (continued)

25

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2015, no deferred tax liability had been provided
for the PRC withholding tax that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of approximately RMB291,856,000 (2014: RMB169,229,000).
Such earnings are expected to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries to
operate and expand its business in the PRC and not to be remitted to
a foreign investor in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax loss carry-forward
to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable. As at 31 December 2015, the Group
has unrecognised tax losses of approximately RMB20,950,000 (2014:
nil) to carry forward against future taxable income. These tax losses
do not expire under current legislation except losses of approximately
RMB13,038,000 (2014: nil] that may be carried forward for 5 years

from the year of incurring the loss.

Share Capital

The capital as at 1 January 2014 represented the Group's share of
nominal value of the paid-in capital of the companies comprising the
Group after elimination of investments in subsidiaries.

With the completion of the Reorganization on 28 January 2014, the
capital as at 31 December 2014 represents the issued share capital of
the Company. The difference between the nominal value of the
Company’s shares and the then consolidated net assets of the
subsidiaries being acquired at the time of the Reorganization was
treated as capital contributions from the controlling shareholders and
included in other reserve. Details of the Reorganization are set out in

the Prospectus.

24,

25.

IE & B 18 ()

ELERIEE E @)

R_ZT—RAF+_A=1+—H8 TER
ARMTPBEBENRAORE FTEMNOAR
#291,856,000c( = F — M F: AR
169,229,000 7T ) FHR (IR E B I & & -
BB EHFHNERRREAEE
NMERENPEAZER WK R KK
T EEFINEIEE & -

EREENTHEFEERREERSERE
E HELNEEHERSTESBBER
WERHEFEBEHEERR R=2F—H
FH+-—A=+—"B XEELRRAE
BAEEREIERERIBRBANEERLY
A R 209500000 (=& — g & : )
BRELEMESHEE KRUKBELES
BrEEREERAFIBHEROARE
13,038,0007C (= ZF — MY 4F : ) 5) - 1R 4%
BRIER  ZEHBEEAEM -

R 2

RZZE-—NOF-—A-—BORASETEH
DERBEHRHERBNREREKRE
SEHNABNEHRANEE -

BR —_ZE—WmMFE-—A-_+t/\BxEKE
H-R-_E-—HFE+-_A=+—HOHK
AEARBEHETRA - ARBRNE
BEEREAKKBHEARNERNGES
BEFEZERREAEAERERR ZZ
B YAt AHRMER EAFBHIR
BIRER-

4 RERERERAT —E-EEEH 171



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

=
IR

BB ®wR M EE ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 = —

25. Share Capital (continued)

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

The movements in the share capital of the Company are as follows:

25. B 2 (a)

ARRRAZEEHMT

Equivalent
Number Nominal value nominal value
of shares of shares of shares
R#B#E ROEE ROWSEESR
Notes US$°000 RMB'000
B = FEr ARBT T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of the Company: KRB EBR -
At 1 January 2014 RZZ—ME—A—H 50,000 50
Share sub-division %@%ﬁ' (i) 999,950,000 —
Re-designation and reclassification RZZE—MF—A=+H
on 30 January 2014 i%ﬁ?ﬁi&i%ﬁ DHE (i) (85,714,284) (4)
Re-designation and reclassification RZZE—MEASA=1+H
on 30 June 2014 BEHEERETRSHE (vi) 176,400,000 9
Increase in authorised share capital A0 TE B A (vi) 8,909,314,284 445
At 31 December 2014 and 2015 RZE—NER-T—HF
+=—A=+—8 10,000,000,000 500
Non-redeemable convertible Series A K2 8] B] fE [E] AT B3 4R A K 5
Preferred Shares of the Company: B -
At 1 January 2014 RZZE—WMFE—-—A—H = =
Re-designation and reclassification RZZE-—MFE—A=+H
on 30 January 2014 ENMEEREHNHE (i) 85,714,284 4
Increase in authorised share capital A TE PR A (iii) 90,685,716 5
Re-designation and reclassification RZZE—MEARA=1+AH
on 30 June 2014 ENEEREHSE (vi) (176,400,000) [9)
At 31 December 2014 and 2015 RZE—NER=ZZT—HF
+=-A=+—8 — —
Issued and fully paid: ERTEHR
Ordinary shares: ZAAR
At 1 January 2014 R-Z—mE—F—8 10,000 10 61
Share sub-division &1 2 # i) 199,990,000 — =
Issuance of shares upon capitalisation R & AL B 1T1& TR
issue (iii) 211,600,000 10 65
Issuance of new shares in connection HARRRRMD ETHEITHRG
with the listing of the Company’s
shares (iv) 196,000,000 10 60
Conversion of Series A Preferred Shares #3A Z 51|48 5 B% v) 176,400,000 9 52
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—WNFE+=—A=+—H 784,000,000 39 238
Change in functional currency e EHEE - - 1
Repurchased shares cancelled X 85 0 B8 R £ [vii) (910,000 - -
Exercise of share option 171 BB R R (viii) 3,822,624 — 1
At 31 December 2015 R=ZZE—RFE+=-A=+—H 786,912,624 39 240
Non-redeemable convertible Series A T~ AJ f& [] A] B 1A A X 51| (B 5% % -
Preferred Shares:
1 January 2014 R-ZZE—MF—-A—H — = =
Issuance of shares on 31 January 2014 RZ-ZT—HWNF—/F=+—H
BT (il 85,714,284 4 2
Issuance of shares upon capitalisation R &AL B 1TE BTN
issue (i) 90,685,716 5 28
Conversion of Series A Preferred Shares A Z 51| & 5 i% (v) (176,400,000} (9) (52)
At 31 December 2014 and 2015 RZE—NMER-T—HF
+:H,+*E = _ _
At 31 December 2015 R=—ZFE—RF+=-A=+—H 786,912,624 39 240
At 31 December 2014 RZZE—WNFEF+=—A=+—H 784,000,000 39 238
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25. Share Capltal (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Share sub-division, reclassification and re-
designation of the share capital of the
Company

On 27 January 2014, the Board and shareholders of the
Company approved a share sub-division of the Company’s share
capital at a ratio of 1:20,000. As a result, the authorised share
capital became US$50,000 which was divided into 1,000,000,000
ordinary shares of par value of US$0.00005 each, while the
issued share capital became US$10,000 which was divided into
200,000,000 ordinary shares of par value of US$0.00005 each.

On 30 January 2014, the Board approved a re-designation and
re-classification of authorised share capital into 914,285,716
ordinary shares of par value of US$0.00005 each and 85,714,284
Series A non-redeemable convertible preferred shares of par
value of US$0.00005 each (“Series A Preferred Shares”). The
key terms of the Series A Preferred Shares are summarised in
the Prospectus and the Group’s annual financial statements for
the year ended 31 December 2014.

Issue of Series A Preferred Shares

On 31 January 2014, the Company entered into an agreement
("Subscription Agreement”) pursuant to which CMC Ace
Holdings Limited (“Investor 17] and KongZhong Corporation
(“Investor 2", collectively with Investor 1, the “Investors”) have
agreed to subscribe for 57,142,856 Series A Preferred Shares
and 28,571,428 Series A Preferred Shares, respectively, of par
value of US$0.00005 each at a price of US$0.57330058 per
share at an aggregate consideration of approximately
US$49,140,000 (equivalent to RMB300,000,000),
approximately US$4,000 (equivalent to RMB24,000) was credited
to share capital of the Company and the balance of
US$49,136,000 (equivalent to RMB299,976,000) was credited to
the share premium account of the Company. The issuance of

of which

Series A Preferred Shares was completed on 10 February 2014.

Share issuance expenses directly attributable to the issue of
Series A Preferred Shares amounting to RMB607,000 was
treated as a deduction against the share premium account

arising from the issuance.

—hAE+ZA=t—HLFE

(i)

(ii)

25. B% 7N @)

ARERABR DD
ENOBERENETE

RZFE—NMNFE—A=+LtH &2
RIEEE KR EHIEIR 20,000
Mt EDFARRBRA B L

5 E IR 2N &50,000E T D IF A
1,000,000,000 f% % B% T & 40.00005
ETMERARKR MEBITERAE
10,0002% 7T - % #F /200,000,000 f&
£ A% 1 {E /20.00005 3 7T &Y & 8 iR

RZZE—WHFE—A=+H EF
EHEBEERAEFEERE
oM A914,285 716 IR E R E A
0.000053E JT & & 8 A% 5 85,714,284
fi% 4 A% [ 18 /4 0.00005 3 JT HY A £ 5]
N A] B [0 ] 82 A 4B AR iR (AR B8
LI cARTNBEBRAEZ KR
MR EREEEAEEEHE =
ET—NWEF+A=+—BHLFE
ZFEEMBRE -

BHITARIEBER

R=ZT—MFEF—A=+—R8 &2
AT e ([REHRED - &t

CMC Ace Holdings Limited ([ #% & &
—DREFBEE(HREE =]
H14G 8 & — %%ﬁ%ﬁﬁé%naﬁ
Z 1R R B 8 5 2 0.573300583 T D

J R B857,142,856 1% & 28,571,428 %
£ B% ™ {& 4 0.000053 JT AR 7l
B R - BB 4 549,140,000
70 (#8 & 7 A R #5300,000,0007T)
HpH400ET(HERARE
24,00070) Bt AR R AR A - 4

#:49,136,000% Tt (4 & R AEM
299,976,0007T) B &t A AR A 7 AR 1
BER ARIELERZZTER

—MME-A+B%EK-

EERBTARINESRMELED
& 15 % 77 2 A R #607,000 7T 4%
BAEBTEEZRMERZN
/JEX A IE\ ©

GREBREZERERAE —T-HFFR
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25. Share Capltal (Continued)

(iii) Increase in authorised share capital of Series

(iv)

A Preferred Shares and Capitalisation Issue

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the shareholders passed
on 12 June 2014, the total authorised share capital of the
Company [(immediately prior to the Capitalisation Issue as
described below) was increased from US$50,000 to
approximately US$55,000 by the creation of an additional
90,685,716 Series A Preferred Shares of a par value of
US$0.00005 each.

On the same date, the shareholders have approved and the
Directors were authorised to capitalise an amount of
approximately US$15,000 (equivalent to RMB93,000) standing to
the credit of the share premium account to be applied in paying
211,600,000 ordinary shares of US$0.00005 each and
90,685,716 non-redeemable convertible Series A Preferred
Shares of US$0.00005 each to be allotted and distributed as
fully paid to shareholders whose names appeared on the

up in full

register of members of the Company immediately before
Listing, in the proportion to their then existing shareholdings in
the Company. The Capitalisation Issue was completed on 30
June 2014.

Issuance of new shares in connection with the
listing of the Company’s shares

On 30 June 2014, upon its Listing on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, the Company issued 196,000,000 new ordinary
shares at par value of US$0.00005 per share for cash
consideration of HK$4.25 each, and raised gross proceeds of
approximately HK$833,000,000 (equivalent to RMB661,207,000),
of which RMB60,000 was credited to share capital and the
balance of RMB661,1

account of the Company.

47,000 was credited to the share premium
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25. B 2 (a)

liii) BHTARFIEBERRER
31T
BER=F-MEXA+=RE

(iv)

BEBRREERER AR AIEN
32 52.90,685,716 % & A% [ 8.0.00005
ETLMARINEERR  KRFDAE
A (BEE T RE A CHETA)
1£50,000 3% 7T 3% % #9 55,000 3K 7T, ©

REBBH BRREHEEES
%%ﬁét/‘émtm%%ﬂ@ 15,000
EL(FHE R ARK93,0007T) * 5
AR EEEREMNIE  BARE
HHBERRREERIEGEEE
BRARR AR AERELLF)HE
4 2 #9211,600,000 A% iﬂxﬁfﬁﬁ
0.00005 3 JT /9 & 38 A% 1%.90,685,716
% % R% @ (& /0.000053 7T H) 7~ A
BRI ERARIELER  ZER
BEREBEZELWAERZHARF R
Rafte EAREBETERZZT—H
FRA=ZFTHZEK-

FAQARRMD EHEITH
% 17
R—ZFTE—mE~NA=Z+H »®
R ER EW & AR AR
5 % B 1) m {50.000053% T 3% 17
196,000,000 3T L@ - HE R (E
EER45BL WEBMBREA
48 %8 #833,000,0007% 7T (& 7 )\
R #661,20700070) " £ AR
60,000 7T AT AR - g T AR K
661,147,000 7C 57 A AR 2 8 2 IR 17 &
fEE -
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25. Share Capltal (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Issuance of new shares in connection with the
listing of the Company’s shares (Continued)

Share issuance expenses mainly include share underwriting
commission, lawyers’ fees, reporting accountant’s fee and
other related costs associated with the Listing. Incremental
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the new
shares amounting to RMB41,391,000 was treated as a deduction
against the share premium account arising from the issuance.

Conversion of Series A Preferred Shares

On 30 June 2014, upon the Listing of the Company on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, all the 176,400,000 Series A
Preferred Shares were automatically converted into ordinary
shares, on a one-for-one basis (the “Conversion”).

Change of authorised share capital of the
Company immediately after the completion of
the Conversion

Pursuant to the written resolutions of the directors and
shareholders passed on 12 June 2014, immediately after the
completion of the Conversion on 30 June 2014, 176,400,000
Series A Preferred Shares of a par value of US$0.00005 each in
the authorised share capital of the Company was reclassified
and re-designated into ordinary shares of a par value of
US$0.00005 and that the authorised share capital of the
Company was increased from US$55,000 to US$500,000 by the
creation of an additional 8,909,314,284 ordinary shares of a par
value of US$0.00005 each.

25. B 2 (a)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

FADT MG LS EITH
iz 17 (@)
BHBETHIETEBERN S H
Bs 2EE BHRSAMERAR
HETmABENEMBEKRA - B
HEBETHBRGOMEMOKRAR
B 41,391,000 R BEITEE 2
% 17 35 18 BR 2 00 FRIA o

BERARSEER

RZEBE-—HEFXA=+H &R
AIRBIXMEREME A
176,400,000 iRA R 71| 8 & R 2 —
—EEgHERSERBR(HE
#’]) -

R R 52 L 6 2 2 B R
2R A 2 B B

BEEEIBRER T —OFE X
A+ZBEBNEEMRAZR R
T—NFENA=1TH BEEHRT
& ARREEBRAFTSREE
0.00005 3 JT #J 176,400,000 B A Z 7|
BERCEFHBEREHIETA
& A% ™ {E0.00005%E 7T &) & & AL
i 38 38 58 Hh 18 3% & A% M 130.00005
2 JT H98,909,314,284 I & 3@ IE - A
A AR E M A B 55,0003k T N E
500,000 7T °
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25. Share Capltal (Continued)

(vii) Repurchase of shares

During the year ended 31 December 2014, the Company

repurchased its own ordinary shares on the Stock Exchange as

25. B 2 (a)

(vii) & 2 iR 3

HE-_Z—HNF+=_A=+—H
LEFE AR R ATE R X

follows: AR
Equivalent
Number Highest Lowest Aggregate aggregate
of shares price paid price paid consideration consideration
Month of repurchase repurchased per share per share paid paid
AR g BRES BRI EESR=E [EENE=E
BE A 4 # A MR E MRE KE REZE
HK$ HK$ HK$ 000 RMB'000
BT BT FHET ARBT T
December 2014 910,000 2.82 2.57 2,418 1,916

—Z-NE+_A

As at 31 December 2014, the 910,000 shares repurchased were
recognised as treasury shares and were cancelled on 19
January 2015.

(viii) Exercise of share options

During the year ended 31 December 2015, options were
exercised to subscribe for 3,822,624 ordinary shares of the
Company at a consideration of RMB3,985,000, of which
approximately RMB1,000 was credited to share capital and the
balance of RMB3,984,000 was credited to the share premium
account. As a result of the exercise of options, RMB3,808,000
has been transferred from the share option reserve to the share
premium account in accordance with the accounting policy set
out in Note 2.19.

26. Reserves

(a) Share premium

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds from
issuance of the shares of the Company over its par value, less
any dividends paid out of the share premium account and any

premium paid for the repurchase of shares of the Company.
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26. Reserves (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations for the
Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, it is required
to appropriate 10% of its annual net profit determined in
accordance with China Accounting Standards for Enterprises
issued by the Ministry of Finance of PRC, after offsetting any
prior years' losses, to the statutory reserve. When the balance
of such a reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the
respective company, any further appropriation is at the
discretion of shareholders. The statutory reserve can be used to
offset prior years’ losses, if any, and may be converted into
share capital by issuing new shares to shareholders in
proportion to their existing share holding or by increasing the
par value of the shares currently held by them, provided that
the remaining balance of the reserve after such an issue is not
less than 25% of registered capital. The statutory reserve is

non-distributable.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of share options
granted by the Company to employees recognised and is dealt

with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in Note 2.19.

Other reserve

Other reserve represent (i) capital reserve arises from capital
contribution by the controlling shareholders (including share-
based compensation expense arising from the 2014 Blink
Milestones Share Options under Note 27(a)); and (i) the
difference between the consideration and the carrying amount
of the net assets attributable to the additional and reduction of
interests in companies comprising the Group being acquired
from and disposed to non-controlling equity holders

respectively.

26. 15 8 )

(b)

(c)

(d)

EERE

BREBERBAERER  NEERTEH
MR HARR B QR AR
BAEGHRSERNRECES
FTERARE  EHRETWBEFE
EBE% BEFEFMNENI10%D
RELERHE BEXRHBEBRES
A A FEM A A H)50% - % R AT B 1B
REEME—THDER - ATEMHEE
AARBHBEFEEEE(EA)
B AT % A% 3R IR A 5 AR L A sk 4 hn
FERERNMOBEERBETH
B% F A% B 8 AR IR AN - M R R B 4
BREZSEBRTHRATLREME
A25% o EEREHE T DR ©

BRERE
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BEMNBREZAAE  BREN
A2 19BN SR BREETRE -

H fth 7 &
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27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions

() Shares awarded

to employees by
shareholders of Lianzhong in 2012 and the
2014 Replacement Share Options issued by
Blink Milestones

In 2012, Mr. Zhang Rongming and Mr. Li Jianhua have awarded
their 99.99% equity interest in Beijing Tongshengcheng
“2012 Awarded
Shares”) to certain employees of the Group (the “Participants”).

Investment Management Center (LLP] (the

Beijing Tongshengcheng Investment Management Center (LLP)
(“Tongshengcheng”) is a limited partnership in the PRC which
owned 10% equity interest in Lianzhong at the date of transfer.
On 20 February 2014,
Tongshengcheng ceased to hold shares of Lianzhong and an
agreement was entered between Blink Milestones,
Tongshengcheng, the existing Participants, Lianzhong and the
controlling shareholders that the 2012 Awarded Shares will be
cancelled and replaced by the 12,152,381 options granted by

as part of the Reorganization,

Blink Milestones to the remaining Participants on the same
“2014 Blink
Milestones Share Options”). The share options are valid for a
period of 10 years from 20 February 2014 to 19 February 2024
with an exercise price of RMB0.2625 per share (subject to

date with the same vesting conditions [the

adjustment) and are subject to a vesting scale in equal
proportions of 25% on every anniversary date of the date of
listing of the Company’s shares on any internationally
recognised stock exchange, starting from the first anniversary
date until the fourth, and for the Participants remaining an
employee of the Group until and on the relevant vesting dates.
Blink Milestones is an investment holding company and owned
12.43% equity interest in the Company at the date of grant. The
incremental fair value of the 2014 Blink Milestones Share
Options of approximately RMB?,706,000 will be included in the
measurement of share-based compensation expense from
February 2014 to the end of the vesting period, in addition to the
amount based on the grant date fair value of the 2012 Awarded
Shares.

The number of share options and exercise price of the 2014
Blink Milestones Share Options are subject to adjustment upon
certain events. Upon the completion of the Capitalisation Issue
as detailed in Note 25, the number of share options and
exercise price per share has been adjusted to 25,009,600
options in total, at an exercise price of RMB0.1276 per share,
respectively.
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27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions

() Shares awarded

(Continued)

to employees by
shareholders of Lianzhong in 2012 and the
2014 Replacement Share Options issued by
Blink Milestones (Continued)

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to repurchase
or settle the 2014 Blink Milestones Share Options in cash. The
2014 Blink Milestones Share Options entitle participants to
obtain existing issued shares in the Company held by Blink
Milestones and will not involve the Company issuing any new
the 2014 Blink Milestones Share Options were
accounted for as a share-based compensation transaction by

shares,

way of capital contribution from the shareholders. Movements
in the 2012 Awarded Shares and the 2014 Blink Milestones
Share Options during the years ended 31 December 2014 and
2015 are stated below.

Movements in the 2012 Awarded Shares are as follows:

27. AR R EROM £ X

Z (&

(a)

&)
RIEBE-——ZFBEIRRER
TEENRBRORR =

= — [ & Blink Milestones
BITHBEREER@®

REBTELZTESIHEETEMTUR
EHABBEBRBFE-_ZT—DTF
Blink Milestonesfig % # - — =& — M
£ Blink Milestones B fx #£ 1% 7 & &2
% J& 15 B Blink Milestones s A By &K
NAIRBEETHRG - BETS
REBETARRRMEMHFR - —F—H0
4 Blink Milestones & % 4 38 18 I
EEMA NI R BUR G & EM
E’]@NA“% CREBEZZT—HFER

T-—AFE+-_A=Z+—HLHF
B ZE——FREKMHE_T—
7Y 4E Blink Milestones B A% # #9 & &)
HA T o

—E-_FRBEPRMESHET

Nominal value of

2012 Awarded

Shares

—E—-——F

REROOEE

RMB’'000

ARBT T

1 January 2014 RZZE—m&E—HF—H 3,757

Forfeited during the year FRREK (92)

Cancelled and replaced during the year FAFHREER (3,665)
At 31 December 2014 and 2015 RZF—HFEFR_FT—HF

—A=+—8 -
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27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions 27. AR B E B VB £ 32

(Continued)
() Shares awarded to employees by (a)
shareholders of Lianzhong in 2012 and the

2014 Replacement Share Options issued by
Blink Milestones (cContinued)

Movements in the number of 2014 Blink Milestones Share
Options are as follows:

(%)
A\—_E-——FBIRER
FREEMNRBRMOD KRR

= — [ & Blink Milestones
BITHEREER@®

— Z — [ 4 Blink Milestones i % #
HEZEFHMT

Average

exercise price
in RMB per Number of
share option share options

EHBEKRE
FIYITEE BREHE

RMB

AR
At 1 January 2014 R-Z-—mE—-—H—H —
Granted during the year* FEREH* 0.1276 25,009,600
At 31 December 2014 RZB-—MFE+=_A=+—H 25,009,600
Exercised during the year FRITE 0.1276 (78,400)
Forfeited during the year FRRM (4,390,402)
At 31 December 2015 RZTE—RAF+=-_H=+—8H 20,540,798

Adjusted for Capitalisation Issue

For the 2014 Blink Milestones Share Options, the directors have
used the discounted cash flow method and market approach to
determine the underlying equity value of the Company and
adopted equity allocation method to determine the fair value of
the underlying share value of the Company and the key
assumption on valuation at the grant date includes the discount
rate of 20% and projections of future performance and have
used the Binomial Option-Pricing Model to determine the total
fair value of the options granted. The inputs into the model are

¥ AR BITIEL AE

# == — 0 F Blink Milestones i f%
EmMs EFEFERBRSRENR
ERMIE R EEEARNRQ R EBR
HEE BERBTERZIEEETE
ARGEEROEENARE R
FEAHEHEMENBERSEE
FE20% M ITIR R R E R REHEMNTE
Al WERAT ZHEAHAEEEER
ErTREERENAALE %K

as follows: ABAZERDOT :
20 February 2014
—E-WmE-HA=+H
Exercise price T1E(E RMBO0.2625
AR #0.26257T
Expected volatility 8 HA K & 50%
Expected life 8 HA A 2 Hf 10 years
104
Risk-free rate £ 7. b A X 4.6792%
Expected dividend yield TR B & —
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27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions

(Continued)

(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of

the Company in 2014

Pursuant to an unanimous written resolution of the Board on 7
March 2014, a share option scheme (‘Management Pre-IPO
Share Option Scheme”] and respective share options granted by
the Company on 20 February 2014 was adopted and ratified by
the Board. The Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme was
adopted for the purpose of providing participants an opportunity
to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and help
motivate such participants to optimise their performance and
efficiency, and also to help retain the participants for the
continual growth and development of the Group. The maximum
number of shares to be issued upon exercise of all outstanding
options granted and yet to be exercised under the Management
Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed 6%
of the issued share capital of the Company after an IPO, as
defined. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

During the year ended 31 December 2014, share options (in
aggregate to purchase 6% of the issued share capital of the
Company after an IPQ) were granted by the Company on 20
February 2014 to senior management of the Group with
estimated total fair value of approximately RMB52,870,000. The
exercise price of the share options granted is US$0.34398035
per share (subject to adjustment]. The share options are valid
for a period of 10 years from 20 February 2014 to 19 February
2024. Twenty five percent (25%) of options granted shall vest on
the first anniversary of the grant date, and the remaining
options granted shall vest on 36 equal monthly instalments with
the first instalment vesting upon the 13th monthly anniversary
of the grant date and each of the remaining instalments vesting
on each monthly anniversary of the 13th monthly anniversary of
the grant date, and for the participant continuing to be an
employee of the Group or director of the Company until and on
the relevant vesting dates. In addition, the share options are

only exercisable after the completion of an IPO.

27. LXHQ@Z%E@E’JM%B‘E

(b)

&)

AN EEE
NEYTI It

Bl . | |
»’u)ﬂi
N

=

BEEFEN _ZT—NE=A+
E—ﬁtﬂmiﬁﬁ%% BE=xg
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@Efﬂf+HWﬁmfﬁﬁ%
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EE#EnzEe  HADRABZ
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EELMNERESGTEBELRAA
AIREXRARABEERERITRA
B6%) mEt B ARBEHNRARKE
52,870,000 7T » & & [ #) B8 A% #E 17
# 18 A& & 1%0.343980353% JT (A F
HE) -EBREAE - —HNF=
AZ+HZ-_Z-_WmM&EF=-A+ A
HIETFRE® - EEHBRED
5% BRTHAHNE —FEFAH
BB B TEREMNERERNIS
BAREZASESHERB £ —#
SBEARTYBHNEIIEA
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27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions 27. U R AEB N M & X

(Continued) % (%)
(b) Management Pre-IP0O Share Option Scheme of b) —E—NEARATSEE
the Company in 2014 (Continued) BAXAAREBERNBRES
£l @)
On 30 June 2014, upon the completion of the Capitalisation RZZT—MNFEAA=1+H '  TXE
Issue and the Listing on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, AL BT RN R ER ETE -
the total number of share options granted equate to 50,042,553 BB &R ETEESR0.16714303
share options at an adjusted exercise price of US$0.16714303 EIREIMOERELHE B A
per share. 50,042,553 17 i AR #% o
Movements in the number of share options during the year are FAEREHBE 2EHWT :
as follows:
2015 —_E—HF
Weighted
Exercise  Outstanding Granted Exercised  Outstanding average share
price per asat during during asat price at
Exercisable period share 1 January the year theyear 31December Exercise date exercise date
R+=A RIEAS
SR W-A-H Er=F R 47 o0 R 7 15
T TEE  HERTE  FARE  ERTE HETHE TEAS &
Us$ HK$
EYH BT
Directors 20 February 2015 to
19 February 2024
s “Z-RF¥-f=-1HZ
—E-ME=A+AA
Employee 20 February 2015 to
19 February 2024
&S —E-Rf-A=-tAZE
“E_ME_ATAR

Weighted average exercise price per
share (US$)
SRMETHTREET)
— Equivalent to approximately
RMB per share
- BREEROARE

Weighted average remaining contractual
life of options outstanding
at 31 December 2015
RZE-—AF+-A=+—-AHK
TROBRENETHREAH
B

Number of options exercisable
at 31 December 2015
R=F—RAE+=-A=+—AA{
BREZA

Weighted average exercise price per
share of options excisable
at 31 December 2015 (US$)
RZZ-RF+-A=+—RAATHE
BRiEz BRNETETEE
(£7)
— Equivalent to approximately RMB
per share

“BRAEROARE
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27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions 27. U@ B E BN €

'l

(Continued) Z (&)
(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of (b) —E—NEAQNTEEE
the Company in 2014 (Continued) BRAHBREABRES
£ m)
2014 —=_mE
Weighted
Exercise  Outstanding Granted  Exercised  Outstanding average
price per as at during during as at share price at
Exercisable period share 1 January the year the year 31 December Exercise date exercise date
R+=A RITEE B
Bk ®N—-A—-H =+—H Z B An hE
T8 THEE HWAGTHE FARE FATE WATTE TEBEH FHE
us$ HK$
e BT
Directors 20 February 2015 to
19 February 2024 0.16714303 — 41,702,128 — 41,702,128
= “T-R¥-A=TH
“EopNF
—At+hA
Employee 20 February 2015 to
19 February 2024 0.16714303 — 8,340,425 - 8,340,425
&& “E-RF-A-+A
“TopF
—At+hA
— 50,042,553 - 50,042,553
Weighted average exercise
price per share (US$) — 0.16714303 —  0.16714303
BRMETHITEE(ET)
— Equivalent to approximately
RMB per share — 1.03 — 1.02
- SRIBERDARE
Weighted average remaining
contractual life of options
outstanding at 31 December 2014 9.1years
RZZ-—ME+-A=+—H
ia0 R 17 {52 B 8 PR R IR 39
e hEXE 9.16
None of the share options granted during the year ended 31 RBEE-_ZE—NWNE+=_A=+—
December 2014 were exercisable as at 31 December 2014. BIEFEREMNBERESER =

F-mE+ A=+ —RAHE-
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions

(Continued)

(b) Management Pre-IPO Share Option Scheme of
the Company in 2014 (Continued)

None of the share options granted were lapsed during the years
ended 31 December 2014 and 2015.

The directors have used the discounted cash flow method and
market approach to determine the underlying equity fair value
of the Company and adopted equity allocation method to
determine the fair value of the underlying share value of the
Company and the key assumption on valuation at the grant date
includes the discount rate of 20% and projections of future
performance. Based on the fair value of the underlying share
value of the Company, the directors have used the Binomial
Option-Pricing Model to determine the fair value of the options
granted. The inputs into the model were as follows:

27. AR R EROM £ X

(b)

FERNBEEE
?&’%Eﬂﬁﬂxfh

(Bt o | |

”Fﬂ)ﬂi

TS|
BE

pury

i

—OFER-_FT—AF
—ALFEHEER
Z B R

REZE T
— A=

FE + 3%
+~>-%+

EECERRERENBALD
%E£EE$ATWW%*”A
B BXRAEEIRZEZEEAR
W@%ﬁﬁ@mﬂﬁﬁ'ﬁﬁﬁa
HAERBENERBREE20%M
PFrIRE R B RKEENTER - R
ARRIHBERNDEENAAE &
FERA-_AAHEEBEEAMN
BEERLBRENRIAME - ZRRA
ZEABENT

20 February 2014
—E-MFE=-A=+H

Exercise price T1EE
Expected volatility T8 HA R B
Expected life T8 HA & R AR
Risk-free rate 2 3, b A X
Expected dividend yield T8 B R B 3K

US$0.34398035
0.34398035% JT
50%

10 years

104F

4.6792%
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions

(Continued)

(c)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014

Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed at the extraordinary
general meeting of the Company held on 19 November 2014, a
share option scheme was adopted by the Company and is valid
and effective for a period of ten years from 19 November 2014 (the
“2014 Share Option Scheme”).

The purpose of the 2014 Share Option Scheme is to provide
eligible participants with the opportunity to acquire proprietary
interests in the Company and to encourage participants to work
towards enhancing the value of the Company and its shares for
the benefit of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. All
directors, full-time employees and any other person who, in the
sole discretion of the Board, have contributed or will contribute
to the Group are eligible to participate in the 2014 Share Option
Scheme. Each grant of options to any director of the Company,
the chief executive officer or substantial shareholder of the
Company must first be approved by the independent non-

executive directors of the Company.

The maximum number of shares to be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under
the 2014 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 30% of

the issued share capital of the Company from time to time.

Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme or any other
share option schemes adopted by the Company must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on

the date of adoption (the "Option Scheme Mandate Limit").

27. AR R EROM £ X

(c)
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B4 0 18 16 e 3T )

BEBEARAR-_ZE—MFE+—A
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27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions

(Continued)

(c)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (Continued)

The Option Scheme Mandate Limit may be refreshed at any
time by obtaining approval of the shareholders of the Company
in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed
under the Listing Rules. However, the refreshed Option Scheme
Mandate Limit cannot exceed 10% of the total number of shares

of the Company in issue as at the date of such approval.

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total
number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon
the exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and unexercised options) under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme or any other share option schemes adopted by
the Company in any 12-month period must not exceed 1% of the

issued share capital of the Company.

The period within which the options must be exercised will be
specified by the Company at the time of grant. The options may
be exercised up to 25% for each year after the first anniversary

of the date of grant for four consecutive years.

At the time of grant of the options, the Company may specify a
minimum period for which an option must be held and/or any
minimum performance target(s) that must be achieved, before
the option can be exercised in whole or in part. The offer of a
grant of share options may be accepted within 20 business days
from the date of offer, the offer is delivered to that participant
and the amount payable on acceptance of options is RMB1.

The subscription price for the shares under the 2014 Share
Option Scheme shall be a price determined by the Board, but
not less than the greater of (i) the closing price of shares as
stated on the Stock Exchange on the date of the offer of grant; (ii)
the average closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the

shares.

No options may be granted under the 2014 Share Option

Scheme after the date of the tenth anniversary of its adoption.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions

(Continued)

(c)

Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (Continued)

No option was granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme
during the year ended 31 December 2014.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, 47,040,000 options
and 23,520,000 options were granted on 5 January 2015 and 9
July 2015 with estimated total fair values of approximately
RMB40,378,000 and RMB37,913,000 respectively. The exercise
price of the share options granted is HK$2.67 per share and
HK$4.402 per share for option lots of 47,040,000 options and
23,520,000 options respectively. The share options are valid for
a period of 10 years and subject to a vesting scale in equal
proportions of 25% on every anniversary date of the date of

grant, starting from the first anniversary date until the fourth.

The fair values were calculated using the Binomial Option
Pricing Model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

27. AR R EROM £ X

2 ()

(c)

—EF-ME+—AKRAQF
B 40 /9 B8 IR RE 5T 2 ()
REZE-T-—m&E+=-A=+—
AILEE BERE-_T—NEHE
RRAE ST B R AR

HEz-_Z—RF+-A=+—HL
FE ARBAN-_E—RE—FA
BR-—_ZE—AFtANBDRRYE
47,040,00013 K 23,520,00017 f& A% #
BH AR EBEINABOARKE
40,378,0007T & A R #37,913,0007T °
47,040,000 K 23,520,000 & % H
BREZITEED N ATR267E
TLRAL02FBTT - BIRER +F A X
B AREREEHAER (£ &
REAZFENEBEEB)R5%EHE
SR o

AnEER-_BAHNEEERN
FE ZBRAMBAENT :

5 January 2015 9 July 2015
—E-AF —E-5f

—AEAR +tAhA

Exercise price TE(E HK$2.67 HK$4.402
2,673 TT 44027 7T

Expected volatility TEHR K B) 45% 50%
Expected life T8 B A 2 Hf 10 years 10 years
104 104F

Risk-free rate 3 a7 =R 1.83% 1.77%

Expected dividend yield A HA AR B
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27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions

(Continued)
(c) Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company
in November 2014 (continued)

Movements in the number of share options during the year
ended 31 December 2015 are as follows:

27. AR AERHM S X

2 ()
(c) —=E—WmWE+—AKDF
1R A B B S 5T B om0

HE-_ZT—A&+=-A=+—8
LT FEERERBEHIT

2015 —E—RHEF
Exercise Outstanding Granted Forfeited Outstanding
price per as at during during as at
Exercisable period share 1 January the year theyear 31 December
R+=A
BR ®-A—H ET=F
THEH TREE 5 R AT 2 FARARH FRRK o R AT BE
HK$

BT

Directors 5 January 2016 to
4 January 2025

BE= —ZT-R¥—HAAHZE
—Z-AF—-AMWAE

Employees 5 January 2016 to
4 January 2025
B8 —E-RF-HABE
—E-_RF—AWA
9 July 2016 to
8 July 2025
—E-RELANBE
—E-RFEtANB

Weighted average exercise price per
share (HK$)
R FETEECET)
— Equivalent to approximately
RMB per share
— BRAEROARET

Weighted average remaining
contractual life of options
outstanding at 31 December 2015

R-ZZE—HF+_HAH=+—8
i) AR 17 {5 ) B s A 0 A <7 15
R & 4B B
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27. Share-Based Compensation Transactions 27. AR B E B VB £ 32

(Continued) Z (&)

(c) Share Option Scheme adopted by the Company (c) ZFE—NE+—ABKRQT
in November 2014 (Continued) PR AR Y B8 IR R 5T &) ()
None of the share options granted were lapsed or exercisable REBEEZE-_ZT—HF+_A=+—
during the year ended 31 December 2015 and at the end of the HIEFE #BMEERHZ2BEREX
reporting period. R ATATE

(d) The Group recognised a total expense of RMB47,915,000 (2014 (d) zeEREnERNABRZAA
RMB29,141,000) for the year in relation to the above share R¥47,915000c(ZFE—M4EF : A
awards or share options granted by the shareholders or the R #29,141,0007T) + bt J5 B3 A% 3R 3k
Company, and the share-based compensation expense were RABEEE k) EE) sk s
shown as a separate item on the face of the consolidated REERE MUROBERNE S
statement of comprehensive income. AXRGE2EWR=RAES

HE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

28. 25 2 T By B & AR

28. Statement of Financial Position of the

Company
2015 2014
—E-HF —TF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T ARBT T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interest in subsidiaries AT B A B RS 22,990 4,191
Intangible assets A E 425 =
Loan to a third party BTE=AZERK 32,140 —
55,555 4,191
Current assets RBEE
Other receivables At pE W sk IR 13,677 6,634
Amounts due from subsidiaries Al NGIE @) 328,288 661
Bank balances and cash RITHEREIR S 205,342 622,380
547,307 629,675
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables H th & < 518 1,601 986
Amounts due to subsidiaries R NGIE O 18,016 15,750
19,617 16,736
Net current assets RBEEFE 527,690 612,939
Total assets less current liabilities REERRBAE 583,245 617,130
EQUITY s
Share capital & A 240 238
Reserves (Note) fh (B aE) 583,005 616,892
Total equity ERAR 583,245 617,130
Yang Eric Qing Ng Kwok Leung Frank
BE HER
Director Director
- -
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GrA B S IR R M EE (48)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

28. Z< A T By B 78 AR R )

28. Statement of Financial Position of the
Compa NY (Continued)

Note: B

ARFAEEEBHMT

The movement of the Company’s reserves are as follows:

Share Translation  Share option Accumulated Total
premium reserve reserve losses reserves
B3R 8 BRERE BRERE E- 3 HBEEE
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTFT AR®FRT ARBFRT AR%FrT AR%®FR
Balance at 1 January 2014 RZZE—NMF-A—B2
iR = = = (1,358) (1,358)
Loss for the year FRER - - - (24,184) (24,184)
Currency translation differences ~ E¥BREZH - (3,417) - - (3,417)
Issuance of Series A Preferred BITARIIE LR
Shares (Note 25} (Bff 3 251(i)) 299,976 - - - 299,976
Capitalisation issue & A {847 (B4 =L 2500)
[Note 25(iii)) (93) — — — (93)
Issuance of new shares in HRARARGD L
connection with the listing BITHRD
of the Company's shares (P 3% 25(0v)
[Note 25(iv)] 661,147 — — — 661,147
Share issuance expenses R BT 8 B
(Notes 25(ii) & (iv]) (Fff £ 2513i) & (iv) (41,998) = = - (41,998)
Share-based compensation AR BEREE B <
[Note 27) (F3E27) — — 25,233 — 25,233
Share repurchased and not yet BEERTHEZBG
cancelled (Note 25(vii)) (P & 25vii)) (1,916) - = - (1,916)
Dividends paid (Note 8) BT S (T EE8) (296,498) - = - (296,498
Balance at 31 December 2014and —Z—WF+—-f=+—
1 January 2015 BRZZE—AF—A—
H#&# 620,618 (3,417) 25,233 (25,542) 616,892
Change in functional currency ML EHEEE) (3,414) 3,417 (110) 107 -
Loss for the year FRER — — - (31,850) (31,850)
Share-based compensation AR BEREE B <
(Note 27) (B EE27) = = 44,252 - 44,252
Exercise of share options 77 f5b B AR (P 53 25 (viii))
(Note 25(viii)) 7,792 - (3,808) = 3,984
Transfer upon forfeiture FA R Ui B iy
of share options - - (26) 26 -
Dividends paid (Note 8) BT S (M EE8) (50,273) — = — (50,273)
Balance at 31 December 2015 “EB-AF+ZA=+-—
B &t 574,723 - 65,541 (57,259) 583,005

As at 31 December 2015, the aggregate amount of reserves available
for distribution to equity holders of the Company was RMB517,464,000
(2014: RMB595,076,000).

MW-ZBE—FRE+-_A=1+—8 "Al#tH
RBYFARREZFEAEANBEERXAA
R¥517,4640000(ZF —MF : AR
595,076,0007T) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

29. Commitments 29. & 1&
(a) Capital commitments (a) BEAREIE
At the reporting date, the Group had the following capital RIMEBH XEEFNUTERK
commitments: ¥

2015 2014
—E-REF —E-E
RMB’000 RMB'000

AR¥ T AR®TT

Contracted but not provided for: EETAE R B
Expenditure in respect of acquisition FHRRBEREEZ YT
of intangible assets 128,804 46,835
Expenditure in respect of investments FHEREBERRIZ X
in associates 10,800 4,837
Expenditure in respect of investments FEBRERAHEESREEY
in available-for-sale financial assets 57 ot —_ 20,000
139,604 71,672
(b) Operating lease commitments (b) REHERIE
The Group leases its servers, lines, offices and various AEERBNAHELEHEE R
residential properties under non-cancellable operating lease EHEHRGS £ WAE
agreements. The leases have varying lease terms and renewal EETEYX -HEEETRER
rights. At the reporting date, the total future minimum lease B -RBEBE KNEER
payments payable by the Group under non-cancellable BEAARELEHENRKRKE
operating leases are as follows: HEBMNREBELT
2015 2014
S —T-EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARBT T ARET T
Within one year —F R 15,856 9,880
In the second to fifth year inclusive “HRE(BEEEERE) 22,036 10,767

37,892 20,647
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A ISR MR (&)

For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

30. Significant Related Party Transactions 0. EREHIRS

In addition to the transactions/information disclosed elsewhere in AT Eﬁi‘“qﬁ&%ﬁﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ&ggz
these consolidated financial statements, during the year, the Group S8R N FERANE B EE RS
had the following material transactions with related parties: THERRSWT :
Key management personnel remuneration FTEEEEAEMNS
Key management of the Group are members of the Board and senior KEBFrZEEERESENERSR
management. Included in employee benefit expenses are key EREE -WARBERIRICTEER
management personnel remuneration which includes the following BAEBMESETMOT :
expenses:
2015 2014
—E-AF —E-HmF
RMB’000 RMB000

AR¥ T AR®TT

Basic salaries and allowances HARFH & NERL 4,708 1,718
Discretionary bonus BB FE 4T 55 621
Retirement benefit scheme contributions RIKBFET I H R 180 116
Share-based compensation expense VARR 1 72 BT 60 B 28,287 25,233

33,230 27,688
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AR A B TS R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

31. Acquisition of Subsidiaries 31. WER KT B A 7]

(a)  On 25 June 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the issued share (a)
capital of Peerless and its subsidiaries at a total cash
consideration of US$35,940,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB222,541,000). The transaction was made as part of the
Group's strategy to expand its development and operation of
online card and board games outside PRC, in the US and
elsewhere.

The following summarises the consideration paid for Peerless
Group and the recognised amounts of assets acquired and

liabilities assumed at the acquisition date:

R—ZZE—HRE~NA-_+EHHBH &
& B B Peerless R A B AT 2
HERTRA BeRERLBA
35940000 L (HE RO AR K
22254100070)  ZRX ST AEHE
BEAERER K H b i 75 78
B ON AR AE RS 0E B B B % 0B SR B
B —Zp 5 e

LA 4% it Peerless & B 2 A (8 LA
REWRBEERMEAESERK
BEHZEREE

Fair value of net
identifiable assets
and liabilities

acquired
EWEAREEE
REBZARE
RMB'000
ARBF T
Property, plant and equipment M- BB &#&E 8,644
Intangible assets BICEE 147,111
Inventories TE 277
Trade and other receivables 2 5 & H fth f& W IR 2,933
Bank balances and cash RITEHR KBRS 9.167
Trade and other payables B 5 K& H b B~ A (14,696)
Deferred revenue iR 3T W 2 (9,467)
Other non-current payable (Note 22) H fth JE 7 B & A R IE (i 35 22) (29,947)
Deferred tax liabilities RIERIEA E (12,961)
Net identifiable assets acquired EEGA #BR A EFE 101,061
An indemnification asset (Note 22) mmEEE (aE22) 29,947
Goodwill Bk 91,533
222,541

Satisfied by: ERN P
Cash R& 222,541
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

31. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Goodwill arose in the above business combination as the cost of
combination included a control premium. In addition, the
consideration paid for the combination effectively included
amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies,
revenue growth, future market development and the assembled
workforce. These benefits are not recognised separately from
goodwill because they do not meet the recognition criteria for
identifiable intangible assets. The goodwill of RMB91,533,000
arising from the acquisition is attributable to the development
and operation of online card and board games, organising and
broadcasting online to offline mind-sports events, tournaments,
TV shows and contents outside PRC, primarily in the US and
Gibraltar.

None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes. The Group incurred transaction
costs of approximately RMB3,387,000 for this acquisition.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as

follows:

3. WEM B D T w

(a)

(%)

Tt EBEHELEZEBEREH
R BIEESEE o e
HEBRINZAREBERIEREMRE
Bt R E - WA G N - BIE W5
BFEMEEEIMGHEB 2SR -
ZEFm T EEEBESFER
THRETRER]HERE
ERRIZE -FHAZXIELEZR
BRI AEMKRTIERR - WEE
4z B AR 915330005t T M
REFEBINEBEAEEREM
BIRE)ABERECEMGEBIER -
HERERGLERTEHES B
£ -ERMHERFPBEEIGE o

B ZXEEZHETAMAE
HEHERE AEERZ KB
EHELZRIRANBARE
3,387,000 7T °

FRUBEZERSRZIONBT :

2015

—E-EF

RMB’000

AR T

Cash consideration paid EfIRERE 222,541

Less: Bank balances and cash acquired B ERESRTESREES (9,167)
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents included AARBEEEMEReRZEER

in the cash flows from investing activities ReFBEYW 2 REFE 213,374

The revenue and profit included in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income since 25 June 2015 contributed by the
Peerless Group was RMB77,723,000 and RMBZ20,625,000
respectively.

BE-_ZT—AF~A_t+HB#®E:
Peerless& BIFTEZ st ABRE 2 E
KRz WS REND B AAR
& 77,723,0007T & A R ¥ 20,625,000
T o
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

31. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

(a)

(b)

3. WEM B D T w

(Continued) (a) (&)
Had the combination taken place on 1 January 2015, the WeaHR_—_T—RAF—A—A81
revenue and profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December B O AEEREE T —HF+=
2015 would have been RMB830,216,000 and RMB142,048,000 A=+ —RBLFE 2z &as REF
respectively. These pro forma information are for illustrative 7 5l & AR #830,216,000T & A R
purposes only and are not necessarily an indication of revenue #142,048,0007C ° 5 E B RHE L1
and result of operation of the Group that actually would have BB TNeetEAWKER_Z—1F
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 January —A—BEKRASEETRISEK
2015, nor are they intended to be a projection of future results. wm Mom A Z IR IR BIER KRR
EE A -
During the year ended 31 December 2015, in addition to the b) H==—ZEZ—RF+=-_A=+—H
above acquisition of subsidiaries, the Group has also acquired WHFE - BB IBER B QR
100% equity interests in Guangzhou Zhongge Information AEFETKEBEMNP XEMEBE
Technology Co., Ltd. and Feilaer Fashion (Beijing) Technology ERATREBNAEMGER) R
Co., Ltd. for an aggregate consideration of RMB431,000. These AR A F00%KE & HKE
transactions were made as part of the Group's strategy to BARMEL310007T c ZERFH BN
expand its development and operation of online card and board SEEREAPEAZERLER
games in the PRC. IR R 2 RIS 2 &9 ©
The following summarises the consideration paid for these ATHARNKBEBERARZERA
companies and the recognised amounts of assets acquired and ERRENRE WEEE KAT&A
liabilities assumed at the acquisition date: FaEzERLE
Fair value of net
identifiable assets
and liabilities
acquired
2 Wi o Bl
EERAEE
A/ NI |
RMB'000
AR T T
Net identifiable assets acquired: BRI & E
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H fth & U 5 IE 231
Goodwill B 200
431
Satisfied by: XA
Cash e 431
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

3. WEM B D T w

31. Acquisition of Subsidiaries (continued)

(b)  [(Continued)

The directors assessed that the differences between fair values
and carrying amounts of the trade and other receivables are
insignificant. Goodwill arose in the above business combinations
as the cost of combination included a control premium. In
addition, the consideration paid for the combinations effectively
included amounts in relation to the benefit of expected
synergies, revenue growth, future market development and the
assembled workforce. These benefits are not recognised
separately from goodwill because they do not meet the
recognition criteria for identifiable intangible assets. The
goodwill of RMB200,000 arising from the acquisitions are
attributable to the development and operation of online card
and board games, organising and broadcasting online to offline
mind-sports events, tournaments, TV shows and contents in the
PRC. None of the goodwill arising on this acquisition is expected

to be deductible for tax purposes.

The business acquired did not make any significant contribution
to the revenue or profit of the Group for the period between the
acquisition date/beginning period date and 31 December 2015.

32. Financial Risk Management and Fair

Value Measurements

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of financial
instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in its investment
activities. The financial risks include market risk (including foreign
currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group's overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. Risk
management is carried out by the senior management of the Group

and approved by the Board.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s exposure in
respect of financial instruments or the manner in which it manages
and measures the risks.

b) (%)

EEBAESREMEBERIAZ
AREREEEZEELFTEK-
FAEXBEHEEZBERE U
A BREEGDEE -t A
HEARXNZREBEREFHR
1 B & - WASE D - HIE T 5
FREAEEBETINEHBE IS -
ZEMm I EEAEE D HER  TD
HREISY REZNARBNETLEE
BARE WBELZHEBARK
200,0007T © Jh R A B R 3 e
REERERER - AR RIENR
ERTENEY LERERHA
RABEL -BAZRHELEZE
BRI RENGRVERSE -

BWEBH SHERREHRE_Z
—HE+T-A=1T—BHHE Ak
BEBYEBHAEE 2 W sdon
MELEMERER -

NRYBEBEER QI ALE
Rl &

AEERBEEXRBRBERRELZDPE
RemTAmAZENERR - 8% ER
BEMSER(EENERR  FXE
aRERRR) FERBERBDESRE
B REBMNEEREREEKEK S ER
BAEEYHERANEBESNEZERS
R -RRERETHASBESREREE
MITURLE=TSHE

7N 55 [ Bt B 5 T AL R HE A R B 4 Bl sk B
EIEMGE R AR T I EE RS

#eh
= °
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 HZ T —AF+ A=+ —HLFE

32. Financial Risk Management and Fair RN.UBEBREERQIRE
Value Measurements (continued) STE @
(a) Categories of financial assets and liabilities a) eMEEHEEBSE
The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated statement RE B AR KR ETS R © 58
of financial position relate to the following categories of TIHsmEEHRSRABESER
financial assets and financial liabilities. -
2015 2014
—ZE-EF —MF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE TR ARBF T
Financial assets LREE
Loans and receivables B 5% pE W kI8
Loans to a third party BTE=ZAZERK 42,990 =
Other non-current receivable H b FE i B FE W SR IR 33,136 -
Trade and other receivables B 5 & H i fE W SKIE 209,133 117,961
Bank balances and cash WITHEHBERE 348,669 718,979
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEEeREE 83,453 40,435
717,381 877,375
Financial liabilities TRBE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REHKARTNENEREE
Trade and other payables B 5 RE A ENFRIA 70,245 43,820
Other non-current payable H b FE R B FE AT FRIA 33,136 =
103,381 43,820
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

32. Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

Foreign currency risk

The Group's subsidiaries mainly operate in the PRC and in US
and majority of the transactions are settled in RMB or USD,
being the functional currency of the group entities to which the
transactions relate. Foreign currency risk arises when future
commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities
are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currency. As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group did not

have significant foreign currency risk from its operations.

The Group does not hedge its foreign currency risk. However,
management monitors the foreign currency exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure should

the need arise.

Interest rate risk

Other than the interest-bearing bank deposits, the Group has
no other significant interest-bearing assets bearing variable
rates. The directors of the Company do not anticipate there is
any significant impact to these interest-bearing assets resulted
from the changes in interest rates, because the interest rates
of bank balances are not expected to change significantly.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk in relation to the Group's
investment in unlisted trust funds which are carried at fair
value. The sensitivity analysis is determined based on the
exposure to price risk of the unlisted trust funds held by the
Group at the end of each reporting date. If the fair value of the
respective instrument held by the Group had been 5% higher/
lower, the revaluation reserve would have been increased/
decreased by RMB1,000,000 (2014: RMB1,000,000) respectively,
and no change in post-tax profit would have been expected for
the year.

The Group is not exposed to price risk for the Group’s equity
investments that do not have a quoted market price in an active
market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they
are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at
the end of reporting date subsequent to initial recognition.

NUBEABEERQIAE

¢

al B (#)

(b) HMEE /R P

(c)

AEBZMBARETEZNFE R
XEKE  BERBIRHIUAR
BMETHEE ARBRETAX
SERZEEERBNNERSE -5
ERERBEKEANLIFREERINESR
ENEBESTENARBERS R
REREERAB -R-_FT—41F
ER—F-—MFE+-_A=+—HB &
SEEXBAESAIMNERR -

AEBIX RGP EIERR - A
m EEEBRTEZABIMNER
B WRNBFERZSBLHHTEKRK
SNEE L

A

BEt B BT RSN AR
WERBEE ARAEEEY
FRBHTEHT 2 EEBRE
AEAYE RERLEMBITES
SLIESES S Y PN-L TR

(d) E4%E k2

REBAELURA A EENIE
FHEAESRENERER - &
RESMDEASEMRBIELT
EEEERNEREBYPAZINE
1% 2\ B T 8 JE o W 2N 2K [ P 5 4H B8
TANRAEEM B 5% - A=
HREERFARBE I D ARE
1,000,000 (ZZT—MFE: AR
1,000,0007T) + ¥ BR B 1& F B T~ =
fegng-2-

ZANE LT N S T N =
EERER RN EILERE
BTGz ER  BEERRBETER
FHEE - RARER VIR
% LASRE B HIE AR AR () 2 &
AR EREMmAE -

GREBREZERERAE —T-HFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

32. Financial Risk Management and Fair NRYBEBEERQIALE
=
Value Measurements (continued) ol B )
(e) Credit risk (e) EER
The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its cash and REBEMEERBREIZHENER
deposits, trade and other receivables and loans to a third party. S RER - ARE H R H &Y
18 o
The carrying amounts of each class of the financial assets as K 2@ F e R A
summarised in Note 32(a) above represent the Group's ENEAEAASEEHcRE
maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial assets. EMRENGAEERK - BERE
To manage this risk arising from cash and deposits, the Group REBEREFRER  KEREE
only transacts with state-owned financial institutions and HEEeREBEREREERTINY
reputable commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality ¥RT(BHAPR EBEREED
financial institutions in the PRC, Hong Kong and the US. There BEEEZSRBB)ETRS -
has been no recent history of default in relation to these ZEoRRBIL BT HER T

financial institutions.

Trade receivables at the end of the year were due from RERNEZFEWKIEHY K B H
distribution channels and payment vendors in cooperation with AEBASENDEREE R I AH#
the Group. If the strategic relationship with the distribution - mESEREERINHER
channels and payment vendors is terminated or scaled-back; or A B RS B R 4R 1 SR B IR s
if the distribution channels and payment vendors alter the co- DHEBRINEEHELRE E
operative arrangements; or if they experience financial ZHE 5 B M1 R A AN £ E S B
difficulties in paying the Group, the Group’'s trade receivables HETERE  BIAEEE 5 EK
might be adversely affected in terms of recoverability. FRIE ) ] Y [ 1 A BE RS &2
2 o

To manage this risk, the Group maintains frequent EEEEBARK  NEBESHER
communications with the distribution channels and payment BRI NEHEERREBRZHBE L
vendors to ensure the effective credit control. In view of the BREROEELES - ERED
history of cooperation with the distribution channels and EBERXNHERNBESENR
payment vendors and the sound collection history of receivables REENNREERGT AAFE
due from them, the directors of the Company believe that the EHE AEERERSHEREENRS
credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding trade receivable NHERMRE S EWRIBLE
balances due from the distribution channels and payment HEHEERBRIE -

vendors is low.

For other receivables, management makes periodic collective BHEHMEKWZREMNS  BEERE
assessments as well as individual assessment on the BEhEELE R ATEERTEAMm
recoverability of other receivables based on historical JFE U7 5% T8 A AT Yz [ M E HA E
settlement records and past experience. The directors of the R G RER T - A AREER
Company believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in =N S E T N EI = o= o 3T
the Group’s outstanding balance of other receivables. HEBRTEEREZERR -

For the loans to a third party, management makes periodic RETE=ZFAZEXNE  ERE
individual assessment on the recoverability of the amounts and RSB REFEREED
follow up on an ongoing basis. The loans were secured by FHTAREERNG 2EEX
unlisted equity interest in a company incorporated in the PRC HAEFBHEGFMAZH AR ZIE E
that have a sound credit rating. The directors of the Company THRAER ARTAEFARL K
believe that there is no material credit risk inherent in the EBEETFE=ZFZHAEEZE
Group's outstanding balance of the loans to a third party. REESRTEERNEERR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

32. Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements (continued)

=g

(]
=

i

EERAIRE

(f) Liquidity risk (f) REBEEER
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining EREARDECRREESE RS
sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Due to the dynamic nature BEaxmReBeEEW-ARNA
of the underlying business, the Group aims to maintain flexibility BAEBHBRENEE  AEERALE
in funding by maintaining adequate cash and cash equivalents. BERABRSEBESEEBEYDIASESE
BEemEEMN-
Analysed below is the Group’s remaining contractual maturities —_ET—HF+-_A=+—HBHH®%
for its financial liabilities as at 31 December 2015. When the MEBEBERTITANIBBEZoMTM
creditor has a choice of when the liability is settled, the liability T EEHEATEEEHR&EENRE
is included on the basis of the earliest date on when the Group o R EIEIEAE B A B R R
can be required to pay. Where the settlement of the liability is in ZE&RFRHSE - BEBELADH
instalments, each instalment is allocated to the earliest period FREE  FHH OB E A E FH &
in which the Group is committed to pay. RN P = =z
The contractual maturity analysis below is based on the BEcHEBEZARBEBREREERE
undiscounted cash flows of the financial liabilities: MEHBNEBELTIT :
Total
Within Over 1year  contractual
1year or but within undiscounted Carrying
on demand 5 years amount amount
—FRH —F£7 EHRREL
RER EFR BReELERE SR B
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARETRT AR®TRT ARBTT
At 31 December 2015 R-ZE-&F
+t=H=+-—H
Trade and other payables B 5 REAMER
IR 70,245 —_ 70,245 70,245
Other non-current payable  H b 3E 7 8h f&
IR 3,574 36,160 39,734 33,136
At 31 December 2014 R=Z—MF
+=—HA=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 &k H b fE 1
R 43,820 - 43,820 43,820
Other non-current payable  H b 3E 7 8h f&
RIE = = = =
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32. Financial Risk Management and Fair
Value Measurements (continued)

(g) Fair value measurements

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities
measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of
financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy.
The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three
levels based on the relative reliability of significant inputs used
in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and

liabilities. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

Level 1:  quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for

identical assets and liabilities;

Level 2:  inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.

derived from prices); and

Level 3:  inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on

observable market data (unobservable inputs).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial
asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based on the
lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value

measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the
consolidated statement of financial position are grouped into
the fair value hierarchy as follows:

RNYEAREERAAME

5T = )

(9)

DNREFTE

TERBBEAARBERI RIS M
BRAEXRFERARBFENSH
BERBE ZELABEARGTZ
ZEeMEERBBEZARER
BERHEABNHEE UL
BERBESAB=MLR - 2 hE
EBHRIT :

F-ERRBREERBERER
SR RE CRERE):

F_ERBFE QA ANRE
Sy BEEXABAER
EAER) KHEE(A
BERUTE)EENE A
2iE R

FE-EA&CAUFERABEM G
BONAATERG AR
BIWEEXABBENE
ABUE

REHAAEFEEEATEN
WAENSEEREAAERER
HEREEXSRABEEMMN

~
THE e

HRAEMBERARTRAAEFNE
MEREERABHES /SN TA
RERER:

2015 2014
—E-FF —E-WEF
Level 2 Level 2
E-ER BE_EBR
RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTR AR®TT

Assets BE
Available-for-sale financial assets AHEESLREE
Unlisted trust funds ELmiEEES

20,000 20,000
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32. Financial Risk Management and Fair NRYKEBEEREAAE
Value Measurements (continued) T2 @)
(g) Fair value measurements (Continued) () AAEFE@
During the year ended 31 December 2015, there were no REBEE-_ZE—RAF+_A=1+—
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out BIEFE F—EREF_ERZ
of Level 3 (2014: nil). MY J\EE TEREREZ-ER
(ZZ—F: |\
The fair value of unlisted trust funds is determined by reference FELETTEETEENLAARLBEIESR
to the net asset value of the underlying investment in the equity ERNRERECEBRENEEF
fund. B i EE °
33. Capital Management B.EXEHE
The objectives of the Group when managing capital are to safeguard AEBNEAEEBZARERAEEMN
the ability of the Group in continuing as a going concern in order to FELEE N BARNBRER SEM
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders BaFaA ARBHZ THERFKEER
and to maintain an optimal capital structure to enhance shareholders’ EENRARREREEME-

value in the long term.

The Group monitors capital by regularly reviewing the capital AEEBBTFTHERTERAEBUER
structure. As part of this review, the directors of the Company BR - VEEBZBITH—HD KA aﬁ
consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with the issued EEFRECRARABHUEBHTRANR
share capital. The Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to o REBAAEABREENGKRES
shareholders, issue new shares, repurchase the Company’'s shares B BTHRBRMD BEARQRRKRGDKE
or sell assets to reduce debts. EEERBIDETR -
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For the year ended 31 December 2015 B ZE T —AF +—A=1T—HIEFE

34. Subsequent Events

Save as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial

statements, the following significant events took place subsequent to
31 December 2015:

(a)

(b)

Share options granted in 2016

On 8 January 2016, 7,840,000 options were granted by the
Company to certain directors of the Company under the 2014
Share Option Scheme with estimated total fair value of
approximately RMB16,772,000. The exercise price of the share
options granted is HK$5.506 per share. The share options are
valid for a period of 10 years and subject to a vesting scale in
equal proportions of 25% on every anniversary date of the date
of grant, starting from the first anniversary date until the fourth.

Change in controlling shareholders

Following to the completion of the share transfer transaction
entered between the Controlling Shareholders and an
independent third party, the Controlling Shareholders ceased to
have control over the Company with effect from 5 February
2016. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 5 February 2016.

Ourgame International Holdings Limited Annual Report 2015

4R EIH

BN A ABBRE R e B R B
S R=F-BE+-A=t-AEE
EMBREHEMT :

(a) R=EZ—ARFREBRE

RZZT—XR"F—ANB  AQA
BE-_ZT—OFERETERA
A A% 0B B 7 117,840,000 B8
B EAAREEHENOARE
16,772,0007T © FT & B8 A& #E 17 (£ (&
BERLSLS06E T BRENAE X
HE+FE TEREAHPHNE—F
BEFBEBZENEAFASFIZMA
ERB%HEPISERE -

(b) ZERBRREEH
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BTE—XRNE-_RARBZAE-



Definitions

“Articles of Association”
[ =24 ER)]

“Board”
=

“China” or "PRC"

[ E

“Company”, or “our Company”,

or “the Company”

[AR7]]

“Concert Party Agreement”

[—HAITEN T k)

“Contractual Arrangements”

[BHR B

“Controlling Shareholders”

[ AR |

“Corporate Governance Code”

or “Code”
[{EER-FRI sk I=F A

“Director(s)”

=

“Employee Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”
[(EEEXRRFEE
Al B8 PR i T 2

the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time to time)
RARIEBERMAE (CTRIEET)

the Board of Directors of the Company

ARAMESRE

the People’s Republic of China, except where the context requires otherwise, excluding
Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan

FEARKNE  BIEXESAAE BATREES RPIRAR

Ourgame International Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
on 4 December 2013
BRERERBRAR —ZER - T—=F+ - ANBERSHESTMRIH QTR

the agreement entered into among Mr. Zhang, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen, Mr. Li Jianhua, Ms. Long
and Beijing Tongshengcheng Investment Management Center (LLP) on 22 February 2014
pursuant to which Mr. Zhang, Mr. Liu, Mr. Shen, and Ms. Long undertook to vote
unanimously for any resolution proposed at board and shareholders meetings of our
Company and Lianzhong

RAEL AL BELE FTEEELE BAIRUERRAERXKREEEFRL(ARA
PRZF-—MF_A-_+-_HFI UM Bt REL BRE BREREX
ITHAE - BREERRARARBIAEZERBERAE LIERENEMRER

a series of contractual arrangements entered into on 28 January 2014 by, among others,
the WFOE, the PRC Operating Entities and their respective shareholders, details of which
are described in the section headed “Contractual Arrangements” in the Prospectus
SIEBELE PHLEERBERERERRANR T —NF-—A=-FT N\ATIN—
RINAHNRE  FRERBRERIGOLH]—&

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules and means Mr. Zhang, Mr. Liu, Mr.
Shen and Ms. Long, who exercise and have exercised their control directly or indirectly
through their respective wholly owned offshore investment holding companies, namely
Elite Vessels Limited, Sonic Force Limited, Blink Milestones Limited, Proper Macrocosm
Limited and Golden Liberator Limited

BErmRAmE T BE BREE it BEERERIBEARESESR
B HNE & IR A B - BIElite Vessels Limited * Sonic Force Limited * Blink Milestones
Limited * Prosper Macrocosm Limited } Golden Liberator Limited B # sk M E 1T F =
il 4

the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report set out in Appendix 14
of the Listing Rules

EARAMER LB EEERTRIREEERRS

the director(s) of our Company

ARRES
the pre-IPO share option scheme granted to certain employees of the Group

BYAEEETRENBRAMEERBRES

sRERERERAT —E-EEE8 (5
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“Group”, “our Group”,

“the Group”, “we", “us” or
“our”
[ =B s3]

“"HK" or "Hong Kong”
(&)

“Hong Kong dollar” or "HK$”
(%7l

“Stock Exchange”
[ gk 22 Py |

“IFRS”
[ B F% B 7 S &5 2R A
“Lianzhong” or Beijing

Lianzhong

[T 32 1 5 [ 46 7B 2R
“Listing Date”

[ F7 A HA

“Listing Rules

[ B8 8l

“Main Board”

[ER]

“Management Pre-IPO Share
Option Scheme”

[EREBERAHESH
BBR RS2

“Model Code”
[1ZE4E=F R

“Mr. Liu”
[ 5 4]

the Company, its subsidiaries and its PRC Operating Entities from time to time

ARF EMBRATAREFEFEEEES

[

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC
HEE BT R

Hong Kong dollar, the lawful currency of Hong Kong

B BEEEER

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
ERBMARZMERAR

International Financial Reporting Standards, as issued from time to time by the
International Accounting Standards Board

B S ERIEEE TR RMAMBEREBREER

Beijing Lianzhong Co., Ltd. , a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC on 23

March 1998
IERBREBEERODBERAT  —KBEFBEER-—ANNE=ZA=+=AF
fift B 32 B9 R A

30 June 2014, the date of Usting of the Company on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
ZE-—MFEARA=TH ANARRERMERLETA

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

EEBMERIMBRARES LR (B IRER BRI AEMT A ER)

the stock exchange (excluding the option market] operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operates in parallel with the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock
Exchange

B2 g BB SRS M (T

BERETIS)  BILN P AR & 1TEME

the pre-IPO share option scheme granted to certain management members of the Group

BYAEEETERAEBNERAMESABRER S

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules
EHRAMEIOMEN LT BETAETETESRZNELETH

Liu Jiang, a non-executive Director and one of the Controlling Shareholders

BT EMTTEERIERERRZ —
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Bx(E)

“Mr. Shen”
[R5 4

“Mr. Zhang”
[oR 5 4 |

“Ms. Long”
[Bert]

“Prospectus”

(TR ERE]

“Qualification Requirement”

“PRC Operating Entity and its
subsidiaries” or “ PRC
Operating Entities”

R EERRENE
AR PELEER]

“"RMB” or "Renminbi”
[ARME

"SFO”
(38 75 & 8 & {5k 1 ]

“2014 Share Option Scheme”
[T - MFBEREE

“Shareholder(s)”
['A% 2R |

"Shares”

[Btn ]

"US$" or "USD"
=Sy

Shen Dongri, one of the Controlling Shareholders

BREERRRZ—

Zhang Rongming, a non-executive Director and one of the Controlling Shareholders

WK EMTEERIERERRZ —

Long Qi, one of the Controlling Shareholders
BT ERRRZ—

the prospectus of the Company dated 18 June 2014
ARARHBPA-ZE-—MFEAATN\BZHEEEIR

the requirement that a foreign investor who invests in a valued-added communications
business in the PRC must demonstrate a good track record period and prior experience in
providing value-added telecommunications outside the PRC prior to acquiring an equity
interests in any value-added telecommunications services business in the PRC
KREPHEEEAMEHRBIREERUBECATEEEECREEBRAANALRB
REFFHETHEERIEHEBIIMNEEEFAFLEELBIEN

Lianzhong and its subsidiaries, i.e. Shanghai Yaozhong Culture Broadcast Co. Ltd.,
Shanghai Lianzhong Garden Computer Technology Co., Ltd., Lianzhong International
Company Limited and Nanjing Shouyou Interactive Network Co., Ltd., the financial results
of which have been consolidated and accounted for as a subsidiary of our Company by
virtue of the Contractual Arrangements

R REWMBLAR DEEBERREHEREREELA  LEBIREEME
MEREERAR HMRERERARLEREEIDREERAR  HYBEED
BRIEBEENRHERRRRIMERRGZEE AR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of China

ARE REREEER

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
BREP BN EESHLHE GO

the share option scheme of the Company approved and adopted on 19 November 2014

RZE—MF+— A+ BB ERIRH 2 AR R B RE S

holder(s) of the Share(s)
EGESE=WN

ordinary share(s) in the share capital of the Company with a par value of US$0.00005 each
A B R 7S o & & T {545 0.00005 38 7T &) E AR

United States dollar, the lawful currency of the United States

£ XEETEE

GREBREZERERAE —T-AFFR
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"ARPPU"
(B S AR A
“MAUs”

(5 AERAF)
“MPUs”

(5 ANERS]
po-

rpc

Ecl

monthly average revenue per paying user, calculated by dividing the average monthly revenue
during a certain period by the MPUs during the same period

NERFAVRA REETHHENFEISARERURBEANERPFHE

monthly active users, which is the number of players, as identified by unique account IDs,
who entered and played a particular game at least once in the relevant calendar month;
repeat entries by the same player account in the same month are counted once only; a player
who entered and played two different games in the same month is counted as one MAU for
each game

GRAERBP AMBEAEBYRFTNMRHBE  EXHEBMEAZL —RBEILZ2E K
FEBE: AI—ORERRA-ANEESEDEHA R —EAnNKXNRAAZEY
SERMRTRABEBAGFASREBN —ZERAERAP

monthly paying users, which is the number of paying players in the relevant calendar month

SANERP REBEANNENZRZKA

personal computer

18 A E
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